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Dear Ladies and Gentlemen,

Macroeconomic indicators in 2021 were extremely favourable 
for Slovenia, despite the challenges associated with the pan-
demic. As a result, economic growth in 2021 was at enviably 
high levels compared to previous years. According to the Bank 
of Slovenia, it was 6.7%. In particular, higher domestic demand 
and strong export activity were the main drivers of the strong 
economic growth. Exports thus remain an important driver of 
economic activity in Slovenia and present further opportuni-
ties for Slovenian companies in terms of global repositioning 
of supply chains. The global market is facing challenges in the 
supply of certain products and components, as well as energy 
products, which is reflected, among other things, in the rising 
inflation rate. Last year was also marked by high employability 
in the labour market and an even more intense competition 
for talent among employers, as well as the investment activity 
of companies and the government. The ability of Slovenian 
companies to adapt and respond quickly to the challenges 
and opportunities associated with the EU Recovery and Re-
silience Programme, as well as those arising from the recent 
geopolitical events in Ukraine, will in many ways shape the 
economic picture in the period ahead.

The changed economic environment in Slovenia and the 
particularly high price competitiveness in the financial sector 
also had a significant impact on our profit and loss. Due to 
the declining loan portfolio and falling interest margin, our 
net interest income declined. We almost compensated for this 
decline by growing our non-interest income, which has been 
following an upward trend for quite some time now. This refle-
cted positively on the share of non-interest income in our total 
operating revenue, which grew by 10 percentage points, from 
30% to 40%.

The bank had been facing a downward trend in lending volu-
mes since mid-2019. Despite many challenges, in the last qu-
arter of 2021, with a clear focus on individual client segments 
and sub-segments, as well as proactive, structured and team-
-oriented work, we managed to reverse the downward trend 
in the loan portfolio in all business segments.

Last year, we continued our activities to improve the bank's 
liquidity structure. This resulted in a further slight reduction 
(EUR 66 million) of the bank's overall deposit volumes. In line 
with the bank's strategy, we continued growing retail deposits 
(up by EUR 99 million) and reducing deposits of the SME and 
corporate sector (down by almost EUR 165 million), thus im-

proving the most important liquidity ratio, LCR, from 188% (the 
average in 2020) to 195% (the average in 2021).

Throughout the year, we monitored our costs. Despite rising 
costs of materials and services as well as labour costs, the la-
tter being due to the persistent shortage of skilled workers, the 
bank managed to keep costs at manageable levels.

As regards costs of risks, the situation changed considerably in 
2021. Non-performing loans decreased by EUR 18 million (from 
EUR 71 million at the end of 2020 to EUR 53 million at the end of 
2021). Also impairments of the so-called stage 3 loans did not 
increase significantly. Coverage of non-performing loans with 
impairments thus remained at 50%.

At 18.7% at the end of 2021, our capital adequacy represented 
an appropriate foundation for our future business and a shi-
eld against the expected future negative impacts.

Given all this, the bank made a record-high profit of EUR 12.6 
million (EUR 10.3 million after tax) in 2021.

Changes have become a part of our everyday life, requiring 
continuous development, learning, innovation and courage, 
as well the involvement and commitment of all stakeholders 
in the pursuit of our objectives. We introduced a number of 
innovations last year that make our business more efficient 
and our service more user-friendly, accessible and faster. We 
are proud of our “Digital Onboarding” process for clients with 
transaction and saving accounts. We also introduced digital 
identity solutions. We are one of the first banks in the country to 
have already opened several transaction accounts in this way. 
We also introduced automated teller machines and comple-
ted the process of replacing ATMs in our branches.

Clients in the SME segment can now obtain funds within a 
couple of days thanks to the newly-implemented “Fast Track 
Approval” process. At the same time, together with an expe-
rienced external consultant, we defined the optimisation of 
the entire credit process in the corporate segment – from start 
to end. Once the optimisation is successfully completed, we 
will be able to run the credit process in a paperless and even 
more efficient way, to the satisfaction of both our clients and 
employees.

In 2021, we launched the innovative “Ide@l” Mastercard Bu-
siness”, and we also started using the new “Trade Finance 
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Platform”. This will be an excellent starting point for even more 
user-friendly, digitalised operations, which in turn will allow us 
all to conclude and process more new, solid transactions.

In line with global trends that focus on environmental protecti-
on, we launched the ESG initiative. We were among the first 
in Slovenia to introduce the so-called TOP Green Credit. We 
promote blood donation among the employees, and encou-
rage all to set an example acting in the greenest, most digital, 
inclusive and sustainable way possible.

Accelerating the development and integrating the changes, 
we achieved quite some outstanding results in 2021. We are the 
bank with the most attractive transaction account, Direct acco-
unt, in the country. This is according to a survey conducted by 
Slovenia’s central bank, Bank of Slovenia. In a survey condu-
cted by the Moje Finance magazine, we ranked first among 14 
banks and savings banks in Slovenia in the consumer credits 
category. Of particular note are the enviable results in the sale 
of insurance products and funds, which were among the best 
in our history.

The bank continuously monitors the net promoter score, whi-
ch measures our clients’ experience with us. At year-end, it 
stood at an exceptional level of 66, which means that as much 
as 66% of the respondents who have our bank as their main 
bank recommend our services to others. This means that we 
have 66% of ambassadors among our clients who recognise 
our efforts, expertise and understanding of their needs. This 
indicator has been growing all year round and we can boast 
that we are among the best in the market.

Our visibility, too, increased in the last quarter due to our solid 
performance, as well as an appropriate marketing image 

and sponsorship activities. Last year, the bank continued its 
strategic sponsorship of Nordic disciplines, which include ski 
jumping, cross-country skiing and a combination of the two.

We also made remarkable steps in the regulatory area, despi-
te certain challenges in composing the team. With immense 
effort and professional cooperation at the level of the whole 
bank, we managed to close several regulatory projects and 
to upgrade the internal control system perfectly, in line with all 
regulatory recommendations.

All the bank's achievements and development breakthroughs 
in the previous year have been put into a completely new per-
spective overnight with the recent events related to geopolitical 
instability and the war in Ukraine. In the end of February 2022, 
in a matter of days, a previously completely unthinkable sce-
nario unfolded for the rescue of the Bank and, consequently, 
our clients and employees. We can look back with satisfaction 
and pride and see that with immense professionalism, enthu-
siasm, courage and an unwavering belief in a common goal, 
working together with the new owner, NLB d.d., and repre-
sentatives of regulators at all levels, we have created the best 
possible solution for our clients and employees. In a few days, 
we worked together to get the bank back up and running, 
enthusiastically focusing on our clients' needs and solutions 
for them. Following the change in ownership of the Bank, on 
11 April 2022, with the resolution of General Meeting of Share-
holders, the Bank was renamed to N Banka d.d., Ljubljana. 
My sincere thanks to all those involved in these processes, in 
addition to those already mentioned also to all our employees 
and clients who have really shown us understanding, support 
and trust during this period. Together, we have proven that we 
are up to the challenge.

BURDAKOVA Elena

Management Board of N Banka d.d.

Heribert Fernau Elena Burdakova Jana Benčina Henigman
Member  Member   ChairpersonBENČINA HENIGMAN Jana
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Bank in numbers 2017–2021

2021

TOTAL ASSESTS
 million EUR

2020 2021

AMOUNTS OWED TO CUSTOMERS
 million EUR

2020 2021

LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
 million EUR

2020 2021

OPERATING INCOME
 million EUR

2020 2021

OPERATING EXPENSES
 million EUR

2020 2021

TOTAL PROFIT BEFORE TAX
 million EUR

2018 20192017

2018 20192017

2018 20192017 2018 2019

2018 20192017

20202018 2019

29,2 29,0
29,8

23,6

27,9

12,8

1,1

12,6

3,6

10,0

47,3

43,2 43,2

41,3
42,0

1,318

1,202

1,154

1,283
1,311

1,368
1,340

1,274

1,212

1,271

1,839

1,721

1,871

1,7481,741

2017

2017



N Banka d. d.  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2021 7

Supervisory board 
Chairperson: 
Sonja Sarközi (Sberbank Europe AG, Dunaj),  
member since 13 November 2017, Chairperson since 12 
June 2019 (prolongation of mandate for additional four 
years on Shareholder Meeting on 19 October 2021)

Deputy Chairperson: 
Kornel Halmos (Sberbank Europe AG, Dunaj),  
member since 13 November 2017, Deputy Chairperson 
since 12 June 2019 (prolongation of mandate for additional 
four years on Shareholder Meeting on 19 October 2021)

Members: 
Sanjin Bogdan (Sberbank Europe AG, Dunaj),  
since 13 November 2017 (prolongation of mandate for additi-
onal four years on Shareholder Meeting on 19 October 2021)
Nataša Pukl (independent member),  
since 15 November 2018
Petar Grujić (Sberbank Europe AG, Vienna),  
since 29 January 2021
Holger Steinborn (Sberbank Europe AG, Vienna),  
since 29 January 2021 

* Supervisory Board member, Jozefina Trnavska, 
resigned as of 1 January 2021. 

* As at 31 December 2021, there were 6 members in 
Supervisory Board (one year before, as at 31 December 
2020, Supervisory Board had 5 members).

Audit committee  
(in this composition since 3 February 2021)
Kornel Halmos, Chairperson
Holger Steinborn, Deputy Chairperson
Nataša Pukl, Member

Risk committee  
(in this composition since 3 February 2021)
Sanjin Bogdan, Chairperson
Sonja Sarközi, Deputy Chairperson
Nataša Pukl, Member
Petar Grujić, Member

Governing bodies as of 31 December 2021

Management board
Jana Benčina Henigman, Chairperson
Elena Burdakova, Member  
Damijan Dolinar, Member (mandate till 31 December 2021)

* Aleš Zajc, Deputy Chairperson (mandate till 30  
September 2021)

* Heribert Fernau, Candidate for Management Board 
(Supervisory Board's resolution, dated 17 December 
2021: appointed as member of the Management Board 
for the period from 1 January 2022 until 1 January 2025 
under suspensive condition that arises when he receives 
authorisation by the Bank of Slovenia/ECB to perform the 
function as a member of the bank's Management Board. 
Heribert Fernau has received the respective BoS/ECB 
authorisation on 15 March 2022). 

Events after 31 december 2021
 • On 11 April 2022, the General Meeting of Shareholders 

of the Bank acknowledged the termination of office of 
five members of the Supervisory Board, namely of Sonja 
Sarközi, Kornel Halmos, Sanjin Bogdan, Holger Steinborn 
and Petar Grujić as of 11 April 2022.

• On 11 April 2022, the General Meeting of Shareholders 
appointed 5 new members of the Supervisory Board, 
namely Andrej Lasič, Uršula Kovačič Košak, Igor Zalar, 
Vesna Vodopivec and Damir Kuder, for a term of four ye-
ars, subject to the condition of obtaining the authorisation 
to perform the function of a member of the Supervisory  
Board.

• At the Constitutive Session of Supervisory Board on 11 April 
2022, the members of the Supervisory Board elected An-
drej Lasič as a Chairperson of the Supervisory Board and 
Uršula Kovačič Košak as a Deputy Chairperson.
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SUPERVISORY
BOARD MANAGEMENT BOARD

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Crisis Management
Team

The N Banka Group comprises N Banka d.d. (formerly Sber-
bank banka d.d.) and its 100% owned subsidiary Privatin-
vest d.o.o., Ljubljana, which has its head office at the same 
address as the bank. As at year-end 2021, the subsidiary’s 
balance sheet total was EUR 1,687,024.38 , which represen-
ted less than 1% (precisely 0.1%) of the bank's balance sheet 
total. 

The value of this equity investment was EUR 292,268.17 as 
at 31 December 2021. The main activity of Privatinvest d.o.o. 
is acting as real estate agency/intermediary (activity code 
68.310). The company's directors are Miha Hiršl and Zala 
Koležnik Cepec. Due to its insignificance for the financial 
position of the N Banka Group, Privatinvest d.o.o was exclu-
ded from consolidation in accordance with Article 56 of the 
Companies Act (ZGD-1). The Bank of Slovenia was informed 

of its exclusion from consolidation in accordance with Ar-
ticle 7 of the “Regulation on the supervision of banks and 
savings banks on a consolidated basis”.

The bank also met the IAS 27 requirements regarding the 
exception from consolidation.

On the basis of Article 545 and Article 546 of the Compani-
es Act, the company's management prepared a report on 
relations with the parent company and other subsidiaries 
in the Group, in which it found that N Banka d.d., based on 
the circumstances known to it at that time, did not enter into 
such transactions with the parent company and its affiliates 
or taken or omitted other actions at their initiative in 2021 
that would be to its detriment or result in it suffering a loss
.

N Banka Group
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Chairwoman of the 
Management Board

Member of the 
Management Board 

Member of the 
Management Board MANAGING

BOARD

Supervisory
board

Chairwoman of the Management Board 

LEGEND:

Member of the Management Board 

Staff Unit

Forum/Commitee

Department (B-1)

Department (B-2)

Dislocated OU's (Branches, Agencies)

Division

Group within an OU, in which common 
tasks and responsibilities are completed

OU001
Board Secretariate

OU035
ALM

OU081
Facility 

Management

OU020
Corporate Division

OU024OU003
Human Resources

OU008
Legal Office

OU002
Internal Audit

OU030
Investment Banking  & 

Global Markets

OU011
Products

OU012
Partnership & 

Bancassurance

OU014
Distribution/Branch 

Network

OU096
Marketing

OU013
Digital Banking

OU031
GM Trading

OU940
Large & 

Regular Corporate

OU930
SME Ljubljana 1

OU931
SME Ljubljana 2

OU932
SME Štajerska

OU933
SME Primorska

OU034
Credit Analysis

OU029

SME

OU027

OU032
GM Sales

OU
Business Analyst 

OU046 OU039
Corporate / SME

OU072

OU038
Micro

OU037
Retail

OU057
Information Security

OU058
Personal data 

protection

OU059
Core Compliance

OU066
Forced 

payments

OU080
IT

OU006
Finance Division

OU060
Banking Operations

OU036
GCP Monitoring

OU043
Restructuring/ 

Pre-Workout

OU004
Work-out

OU045

OU048
Risk Controlling

OU084
Lean & Organization

OU055
Compliance

OU041
Risk Management

OU061
Loan Administration

OU044
Restructuring & 

Workout & Collection 

OU069
Contact Centre

OU653

OU100
Celje

OU151
Šentjur

OU161
Tepanje

OU200
Lj. Miklošičeva

OU300
Koper

OU350
Lj. Dvorni trg

OU400
Kranj

OU450
Lj. Vič

OU500
Lj. Dunajska

OU550
Šentjernej

OU600
Maribor

OU800
Lj. Šiška

Corporate & Trade 
Finance

Center for the 
financing of micro 
entrepreneurship

IRM Retail & MICRO 
Loan Administration

OU074
Corporate & RWO 

Loan Administration

OU073
SME Loan 

Administration

OU077
Trade finance & 

Documentary 
Business

OU075
Collateral 

OU076
Archiving of loan 
documentation

OU056
AML

OU049
Operational Risk

OU047
Corporate & Retail

Credit Risk 

Collections

OU050
Market

& Liquidity RiskOU023

IT Operations & 
Infrastructure

OU082

IT Business
Solutions

OU083

IT Development
OU097

Controlling 
OU005

Reporting
OU017

Accounting
OU007

Transaction 
Services

OU022

Payment 
transactions

OU063

Cards Operations
OU065

OU021

Trade Finance & 
Financial 

Institutions

Sales Support 

Sales Support & 
Product 

Development

OU062
Global Markets 

Operations

ALCO Commitee

RICO Commitee

LIKO Commitee

Cost Management 
Comittee (CMP)

Project Portfolio
 Commitee - PPC

Process Management
 Commitee - PMC

Operational Risk 
Committee

SECURITY  Forum

CRISIS Management 
Team

DACSI Commitee

CREDIT  Commitee

Valid from: 1. 10. 2021

Annotation:
Internal Audit is only organisationally (administratively) subordinated to the CEO and functionally reports directly to the Audit committee / Supervi-
sory Board / Management Board.

Risk Controlling is only organisationally (administratively) subordinated to the Member of the Management Board and reports to the Risk Committee 
/ Supervisory Board / Management Board.

Compliance, which also includes the functions of AML, Personal data protection, Information security & Core Compliance is only organisationally 
(administratively) subordinated to the Member of the Management Board, and reports:
• Head of Compliance to the Audit committee / Supervisory Board / Management Board, 
• AML (AML officer) to the entire Management Board, 
• Information Security Officer (CISO) to the entire Management Board / Supervisory Board, 
• Personal data protection Officer (DPO) to the entire Management Board.
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GDP growth forecasts for the euro area remain relatively 
high but are accompanied by great uncertainty related 
to high commodity prices, supply chain disruptions and 
a renewed deterioration in the epidemiological situation. 
The average quarterly value of the economic sentiment and 
confidence indicators (ESI, PMI) remained high in the last 
quarter of 2021 but declined notably compared to the previ-
ous quarter, indicating a slowdown in economic growth in 
the euro area during this period. Given the deterioration in 
the epidemiological situation, activity growth slowed, par-
ticularly in the services sector, and ongoing supply chain 
disruptions are increasingly hampering the manufacturing 
sector, especially the automotive industry. High commodity 
and energy prices are having a significant impact on rising 
inflation in the euro area, which stood at 5% year-on-year 
in December. In December, the ECB maintained a relatively 
high GDP growth forecast in the euro area for this year and 
next (4.2% and 2.9% respectively), and growth continues 
to be driven mainly by private consumption. The ECB also 
expects inflation to remain high by the middle of this year 
and to fall to 2% year-on-year by the end of the year (so-
urce: Slovenian Economic Mirror, No. 1 / Vol. XXVIII / 2022). 

In Slovenia, most economic indicators suggest that the 
relatively favourable trends in the export-oriented part of 
the economy and in domestic consumption continued in 
the last quarter of last year; the worsening of the epide-
mic situation has had a particular impact on confidence 
indicators in service activities. Manufacturing production 
increased significantly in November after stagnating in 
October. After several months of notable monthly fluctua-
tions, foreign trade in goods also increased in October and 
November. The relatively favourable trend in trade and 
tourism-related activities continued in October, and, accor-
ding to data on fiscal certification of invoices, turnover in 
December was also slightly higher than in the same periods 
of 2019 and 2020. Activity in construction, which has fluctu-
ated widely across segments in recent months, fell sharply 
in October. After several months of growth, turnover in mar-
ket services declined on the previous month, especially in 
professional and technical activities, and growth in foreign 
trade in services also came to a halt. Due to the low base 
in 2020, activity in most sectors was significantly higher 
year-on-year at the beginning of the last quarter and was 
above pre-epidemic levels. Tourism-related activities and 
construction in particular still lag well behind these levels. 
Uncertainty related to the deterioration in the epidemiolo-
gical situation affected overall confidence in the economy, 

especially at the beginning of the last quarter, and in the 
services sector until the end of the year. After a decline in 
October, sentiment in the export-oriented part of the eco-
nomy improved towards the end of the year, but it remained 
lower on average than in the previous quarter. Like in the 
export-oriented part of the economy, sentiment also impro-
ved in trade, among consumers and in construction by the 
end of last year, but it deteriorated in service activities (so-
urce: Slovenian Economic Mirror, No. 1 / Vol. XXVIII / 2022). 

Labour market conditions were favourable in the last qu-
arter of last year. Employment, which reached its highest 
level since measurements began, continued to rise in Octo-
ber. The highest year-on-year increases were recorded in 
accommodation and food service activities and in constru-
ction, which, given the low unemployment and the shortage 
of sufficiently skilled workers, was largely due to the hiring 
of foreign workers. At the end of last year, 65,969 people 
were unemployed. This is significantly lower than in the 
same periods of 2020 and 2019 (24.4% and 12.4% lower re-
spectively) and the lowest level since November 2008. Given 
the high demand for labour, which is also reflected in the 
high vacancy rate, the number of long-term unemployed 
also fell last year, though it is still slightly higher than before 
the epidemic. Wage growth had slowed year-on-year from 
the middle of last year to October, mainly as a result of the 
cessation of certain epidemic-related bonus payments in 
the public sector. Growth in average gross wages in the 
private sector remained high in October. This was mainly 
due to the increase in the minimum wage at the beginning 
of the year, but also to the return to employment of workers 
who had participated in job-retention measures and labour 
shortages in some sectors ( source: Slovenian Economic 
Mirror, No. 1 / Vol. XXVIII / 2022). 

Inflation increased further to 4.9% in December. Year-
-on-year inflation continues to be driven mainly by prices 
of energy, durable and semi-durable non-energy industrial 
goods, and food. The higher growth of prices is related to 
high commodity and energy prices on world markets and 
supply chain problems, which increasingly spill over into 
domestic consumer prices through import prices and Slo-
venian industrial producer prices (source: Slovenian Econo-
mic Mirror, No. 1 / Vol. XXVIII / 2022). 

The general government deficit was lower in the first 11 
months of 2021 than in the same period of 2020; according 
to preliminary data, it increased in December 2021. PThe 

General business  
environment in 2021
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deficit of the consolidated general government budgetary 
accounts amounted to EUR 2.2 billion in the first 11 months 
of last year and was EUR 0.3 billion lower than in the same 
period of 2020, which reflects the high growth in revenues 
and the lower growth in expenditure. Revenue growth was 
the result of a rebound in economic activity, especially do-
mestic spending, and more favourable labour market con-
ditions. This mainly affected the growth of tax revenues and 
revenues from social contributions, but also the growth of 
some non-tax revenues related to one-off revenues and re-
venues from EU funds. As a number of measures to mitigate 
the impact of the COVID-19 epidemic expired, expenditure 

2016 2019 2020 2021 2022 202320152014

1,7

0,5

1,8

1,4

-1,1

2,5

1,9 2,0

0,2
-0,4

20182017

Inflation  in %

Source: Slovenian Economic Mirror (Ekonomsko ogledalo) no. 1 / Vol. XXVIII / 2022

growth slowed in the second half of last year. According to 
the preliminary data, the deficit of the state budget, which 
accounts for the largest part of the consolidated balance 
sheet, rose sharply in December 2021, amounting to EUR 
3.1 billion in 2021, but was lower than predicted when the 
budget documents were prepared for 2022 and 2023 (EUR 
3.9 billion), as expected. Slovenia’s net budgetary position 
against the EU budget was positive in the first 11 months of 
last year, and the growth of revenues from the EU budget 
increased in November (source: Slovenian Economic Mir-
ror, No. 1 / Vol. XXVIII / 2022 pages 3,4).
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According to Slovenia’s Institute of macroeconomic analysis 
and development, its winter forecast of economic trends 
2022, economic growth is expected to be 4.7% in 2022 and 
3.3% in 2023, the unemployment rate is expected to be just 
above 4%, inflation is expected to be at the level of just be-
low 2%, and the situation in the banking sector is expected 
to be challenging (source: Slovenian Economic Mirror, No. 1 
/ Vol. XXVIII / 2022, page 27) .

The forecast is crucially affected by the speed of coronavi-
rus containment and government measures, where gradual 
loosening of the measures is expected. The period of low 
interest rates, a negative Euribor, excess liquidity and cer-
tain precautionary measures applying to investments will 
continue, and the strategy of the corporate division accor-
dingly remains unchanged and will be adjusted to market 
conditions as necessary. The key guideline of the strategy is 
to be known as an active bank in the segment of small and 
medium-sized enterprises, and we will definitely increase 
our presence in the regional factoring business. 

A significant impact can also be expected from the so -cal-
led Swiss franc law, should it be approved.

In 2022, the bank does not plan to increase its market share 
in the large corporate segment, and will rather focus on 
partnerships with the existing customers, supporting them 
in sound investment projects and taking care that their 
experience with the bank continues improving.  

CORPORATE SEGMENT
The year 2022 will be full of challenges and opportunities. 
It will be really interesting to monitor changes in energy 
prices, which already affected the world economy in the 
last quarter of 2021. The first half of 2022 will bring some 
challenges, and it is estimated that the economic situation 
will begin to improve in the second half (normalisation of 
supply chains). As we are facing high growth of prices for 
goods and services, which leads to a higher inflation at the 
global level, we estimate that interest rates will also start to 
rise in 2022. 

In 2022, the bank will actively pursue its goals, which are:

• active financing by means of working capital loans for all 
types of companies, 

• increased financing in the project financing segment, 

• implementing a new software to upgrade the factoring 
activity, thus improving customers' liquidity and experience, 

• continued active financing in the market through the Slo-
venian Enterprise Fund and through the products 'fund of 
funds' and 'global loans' in cooperation with the SID Bank, 

• financing of foreign trade, above all of with the Com-
monwealth of Independent States (CIS), backed by the 
SID Bank and its insurance against risks, and increased 
documentary operations activity (guarantees and letters 
of credit.

RETAIL SEGMENT 
In 2022, the retail segment will remain the cornerstone of the 
bank’s business. The existing network of 12 branches in Lju-
bljana, Maribor, Koper, Kranj, Celje, Šentjur, Šentjernej and 
Tepanje, together with the microfinancing centre in Ljublja-
na, will remain the main sales channel. Access to the range 
of banking products and services and customer support is 
also provided by our own contact centre, which is available 
to customers from Monday to Friday from 8:00 to 19:30. The 
number of external partners is increasing from year to year, 
and digital sales channels are gaining importance.

The year 2022 will still be marked by the Covid-19 virus, whi-
ch will have a significant impact on the bank's established 
operations. This is one of the reasons why customers main-
tain the level of use of online and mobile banking and digital 
channels. Due to the larger volume of online purchases, the 
volume of card business also remains increased. The bank 
will continue improving its remote banking services so as 
to have customers visit its branches only for more complex 
consulting services. 

The bank is on the right track, which is also proven by the 
excellent results of the customer satisfaction survey. The net 
promoter score (NPS) relating to the bank as customers’ 
main bank was 61 in Q3 2021, up 41 points compared to Q1 
2021. Among all banks in Slovenia, this was the second -best 
result and also well above the average of competitor banks 
in Slovenia (data source: NPS survey, data collection accor-
ding to the CAWI method, time September 2021).

In 2022, the bank will focus even more on lending to micro 
companies, and continue its cooperation with certain exter-
nal financial intermediaries, its partners in tenders of the 
Slovenian Enterprise Fund. The division will be promoting 
investment financing in cooperation with the SID Bank – its 
fund of funds. In order to achieve the set goals, the bank 
will ensure that the consumer and housing loans segment 

Strategy in 2022 
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remains competitive at all times. To this end, it will offer hou-
sing loans with a fixed interest rate and a repayment period 
of over 10 years.

As regards sources of financing, the bank will follow the 
objective in 2022 of increasing of the source of private indi-
viduals in order to maintain its share in the structure of all 
bank liabilities.

Bancassurance and intermediation in payments into inve-
stment funds remain important segments of retail operati-
ons. The bank will continue taking care of its customers with 
an expanded range of products and offer them life, unit-lin-
ked and non-life insurance. Customers will also be able to 
make payments into investment funds. The bank provides 
these services in cooperation with external partners.

The bank will continue pursuing high standards of opera-
tions security in 2022, which includes educating customers 
on the safe use of the Internet and digital payment systems, 
thus reducing the chances of users becoming victims of 
fraud.

To achieve the above-stated demanding objectives, the 
bank will also conduct innovative and effective marketing 
activities and will run professional and motivational work-
shops for the retail division employees. 

In 2022, the bank will continue pursuing the objective of 
transformation from traditional to sustainable operations. 
The bank will continue with the implementation of the 
ESG initiative, which deals with environmental, social and 
corporate governance issues, focusing on an even more 
responsible environmental behaviour

ASSET AND LIABILITY MANAGEMENT
In 2021, we continued with the policy of asset and liability 
optimisation, with a particular focus on the reducing of 
depositor and maturity concentration, and increasing the 
share of deposits of private individuals. The volume of de-
posits decreased due to a weaker demand for loans. The 
loan-to-deposit ratio (LDR) remained at a level similar to 
that in 2020, increasing slightly from 90% to 91%. Due to im-
proved deposit structure, the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) 
increased significantly to above 200%, to stand at 178% 
at year -end following repayment of subordinated debt of 
EUR 52 million.

The structure of deposits was adjusted by means of our 
pricing policy to ensure asset and liability matching (we 
increased retail deposits, reduced bank funding and slightly 
increased central bank funding). 

RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk management is a mix of measures ensuring the iden-
tification, assessment and aggregation of all material risks, 
as well as of the monitoring, limiting and controlling of the 
accepted risk volumes, the planning of risk levels, and the 
implementing of risk mitigation actions to keep the accep-
ted risk volumes within the established external and internal 
limits in the course of implementation of the business stra-
tegy.

The objective of risk management is to ensure that all ma-
terial risks assumed in the context of current and expected 
business activities are recognised at an early stage and 
effectively managed in order to ensure an adequate risk-
-adjusted return.

The bank has defined a risk management strategy that 
aims at setting up prudent management of all risks relevant 
to the bank’s business model. It describes the key principles 
for ensuring the consistency of capital and liquidity adequ-
acy, as well as the adequacy of protection by means of a 
complete integration of risk management into business 
activities and strategic planning across the organisation, 
and a business development that is consistent with the de-
fined risk appetite. 
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N Banka d.d. (formerly Sberbank banka d.d.) has an autho-
risation to perform banking services pursuant to Article 5 of 
the Banking Act (Official Gazette of the Republic of Slovenia, 
no. 92/21 and 123/21 - ZBNIP; hereinafter ZBan-3). Banking 
services are the acceptance of deposits and other repaya-
ble funds from the public, and the granting of credits for its 
own account.

The bank has an authorisation to perform mutually recogni-
sed and additional financial services.

The bank may perform the following mutually recognised 
financial services pursuant to Article 5 of ZBan-3: 
1. acceptance of deposits and other repayable funds; 
2. granting of credits, including: 

— consumer credits,
— mortgage credits,
— factoring (with or without recourse),
— financing of commercial transactions, including forfe-

iting; 
4. payment services; 
5. issuance and management of other payment instru-

ments (i.e. travellers' cheques and bankers' drafts) in the 
part in which this service is not included in the service of 
the previous point; 

6. issuance of guarantees and other commitments; 
7. trading for own account or for the account of customers in: 

— foreign exchange, including currency exchange tran-
sactions, 

— exchange and interest-rate instruments; 
 trading for own account in: 

— money market instruments, 
— transferable securities; 

 
The bank may perform the following additional financial 
services pursuant to Article 6 of ZBan-3: 
• insurance brokerage in accordance with the law gover-

ning the insurance business;
• marketing of investment funds and sale of investment 

coupons or shares in investment funds,
• brokerage of financial leasing. 

Loans
In 2021, the bank reached an important milestone in len-
ding activities, as it strengthened its lending activities and 
achieved all the objectives within all corporate segments. A 
significant increase in loan volume occurred in the last qu-
arter of the year, when we managed to place over EUR 100 
million of loans with final beneficiaries. Given the positive 
turnaround, the bank further strengthened cooperation and 
relationships with our existing and new business partners, 
supporting them with a comprehensive range of banking 
products and services. The corporate division achieved its 
goals in the segment of small and medium-sized enterpri-
ses (SMEs), large enterprises (CIBs), focusing in particular 
on trade financing (factoring) and project financing.

In 2021, loans in the retail segment fell by EUR 26 million or 
6%. This is explained with the imposed macro-prudential 
restrictions, which hit the most consumer lending, particu-
larly the part concluded through credit intermediaries. The 
bank was not able to compete with non-banking providers 
of consumer loans who were not subject to said restrictions. 
The Covid-19 pandemic also resulted in a much weaker 
demand for consumer loans in 2021. All this meant that our 
loan portfolio, its size reflecting the high inflow of new loans 
in recent years, was being repaid faster than the bank was 
able to conclude new business. In the housing loan segment, 
the main obstacle was not having in our offer fixed interest 
rate loans with a repayment period longer than 10 years. 

As regards loans to micro legal entities, which fall in the re-
tail segment, they fell by EUR 0.5 million. In the table below, 
loans to micro legal entities are included in the “Companies” 
category.

Loans to banks decreased by EUR 17 million, as the bank 
had less short-term deposits placed with banks than it had 
at year-end 2020.

Core business
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thousand EUR

Loans by customer type (net) 31 Dec 2020 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2021 Structure (%) Index

Banks 21,471 2 -16,744 4,727 1 22

Companies 755,413 61 -23,168 732,245 63 97

Households 446,687 37 -26,359 420,328 36 94

Total loans 1,223,571 100 -66,272 1,157,299 100 95

Loans by maturity (net)

Short-term 75,530 6 36,370 111,900 10 148

Long-term 1,148,041 94 -102,642 1,045,399 90 91

Total loans 1,223,571 100 -66,272 1,157,299 100 95

Loans by currency (net)

EUR 1,198,771 98 -63,049 1,135,722 98 95

Foreign currencies 24,800 2 -3,222 21,578 2 87

Total loans 1,223,571 100 -66,272 1,157,299 100 95

As regards loan maturity, long-term loans still prevailed 
and represented 90% of loans. Short-term loans increased 
by 48% to EUR 112 million. The share of short-term loans as 
proportion of total loans increased by 4 percentage points, 
while the share of long-term loans decreased by 4 percen-
tage points.

Euro-denominated loans decreased by 5% to EUR 1,136 
million. Loans in foreign currencies decreased by 13%. 
Euro-denominated loans account for the largest portion 
(98%) of the bank’s loan portfolio, followed by foreign cur-
rency-denominated loans (2%). Ever since the onset of the 
financial crisis in September 2008, the bank has not offered 
loans in Swiss francs.

LOANS (STRUCTURE IN %)

Loans to banks

Loans to companies

Loans to households

61

37

2020

2

63

36

2021

15

60

2019

35
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Deposits
Deposits from non-banks and banks represent the 
most important source of financing available to the 
bank. Deposits as at year-end 2021 amounted to EUR 
1,501 million, down 5% from a year ago. As regards 
deposit currency, 99% were euro-denominated, and 
the remaining 1% were foreign currency-denomina-
ted.

As regards deposit maturity, 33% were long-term 
(mainly placed by banks), and the remaining 67% 
were short-term. Deposits are shown in the statement 
of financial position within financial liabilities me-
asured at amortised cost (excluding other financial 
liabilities).

Deposits from banks decreased by 5% to represent 
15% of the total deposits collected by the bank.

thousand EUR

Deposits by customer type 31 Dec 2020 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2021 Structure (%) Index

Banks 239,216 15 -11,990 227,226 15 95

Companies 855,798 54 -165,101 690,698 46 81

Households 484,223 31 99,004 583,227 39 120

Total deposits 1,579,238 100 -78,087 1,501,151 100 95

Deposits by maturity

Short-term 1,065,379 67 -60,409 1,004,971 67 94

Long-term 513,858 33 -17,678 496,180 33 97

Total deposits 1,579,238 100 -78,087 1,501,151 100 95

Deposits by currency

EUR 1,562,943 99 -83,694 1,479,249 99 95

Other 16,295 1 5,607 21,901 1 134

Total deposits 1,579,238 100 -78,087 1,501,151 100 95

An important source of funding are also long-term loans 
from banks, which stood at EUR 190,617 thousand at year-
-end 2021, of which EUR 93,000 thousand were TLTROs 
(2020: EUR 216,974 thousand, of which EUR 93,000 thousand 
were TLTROs).

In 2021, the bank successfully pursued and followed the 
objective of deposit collection in the corporate segment, and 
achieved the expected results. Due to the excess liquidity in 
the banking system, the period of low or even zero deposit 
interest rates continued in 2021. Accordingly, banks further 
reduced the thresholds applying to excess liquidity in transa-
ction accounts, above which they charge fees.

Household deposits grew by EUR 99 million, up 20% com-

pared to the previous year. This is due to the very attractive 
transaction and saving accounts and automatic rollover 
deposits. The results are consistent with the strategic goal of 
growth of household deposits, particularly term deposits. The 
overall growth of this segment, which exceeded the market 
average significantly, proves that our customers still put trust 
in our financial stability and safety.

In the sub-segment of micro companies, deposits fell by al-
most EUR 5 million. In the chart below, these are included in 
the “Companies” category.

The bank had EUR 583 million of household deposits at ye-
ar-end 2021.
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Debt securities 
In 2021, the portfolio of long-term debt securities decreased 
by 39% to EUR 57.5 million. This was in line with the bank’s 
policy. Investments in short-term securities (treasury bills) 
increased by 100%, but the absolute amount remained re-

DEPOSITS (STRUCTURE IN %)

15

54
2020

31

15

46

2021

39

15

59
2019

26 Deposits to banks

Deposits to companies

Deposits to households

latively low. The bank significantly reduced its investments 
in long-term securities, as it wants to keep the interest rate 
risk low in an environment of record -low interest rates, whi-
ch have great potential for rising in the not -too -distant fu-
ture. The bank also used the excess liquidity in part to repay 
long-term debt (subordinated debt in the amount of EUR 52 
million and early repayment of other long-term debt).

thousand EUR

31  Dec 2020 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2021 Structure (%) Index

Debt securities measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 94,505 100 -36,979 57,526 81 61

Long-term securities 84,504 89 -46,980 37,524 53 44

 - Government bonds, domestic and 
foreign 84,504 89 -46,980 37,524 53 44

Short-term securities 10,001 11 10,001 20,002 28 200

 - Government bonds and treasury bills 10,001 11 10,001 20,002 28 200

Debt securities measured at  
amortised cost 0 0 13,445 13,445 19 0

Long-term securities by non-financial 
companies 0 0 13,445 13,445 19 0

Total investments in securities 94,505 100 -23,534 70,971 100 75
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Payment transactions 
In 2021, the bank processed domestic and international 
payments mainly by using trans-European payment 
systems such as SEPA and TARGET2. The bank also relies on 
its own correspondent network consisting of 11 nostro acco-
unts that we maintain with foreign banks (4 multi-currency 
accounts) and 7 loro accounts that foreign banks maintain 
with us. We act as intermediary bank for two merchants, 
processing UPO QR payment orders for them. 

In 2021, the bank processed 11,9 million domestic payment 
transactions in the total volume of EUR 20.9  billion, and 707 

thousand international payment transactions in the total 
volume of EUR 5.8 billion.

The number and amount of domestic payment transactions 
increased by 8.87% and by 14.89% respectively. The number 
and amount of foreign payment transactions increased by 
12.94% and 5.5% respectively.

As much as 99.61% of all domestic payment transactions 
and 94.0% of all international payment transactions were 
processed through electronic channels.

Structure of domestic payment transactions:

          million EUR

DPT 2020 structure (%) change 2021 structure (%)

incoming 9,069 49.88 + 1,617 10,686 51.16

outgoing 9,113 50.12 + 1,090 10,203 48.84

 

Total 18,182 100 + 2,707 20,889 100

Structure of international payment transactions:
          million EUR

IPT 2020 structure (%) change 2021 structure (%)

incoming 4,352 78.61 - 214 4,138 70.48

outgoing 1,184 21.39 + 519 1,703 29.16

   

Total 5,536 100 + 305 5,841 100
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Bancassurance and  
investment products
In 2021, our revenues from bancassurance and investment 
products were the highest ever, despite the aggravated 
situation due to the covid-19 pandemic. 
In absolute terms, revenues from the collective life insurance 
product were the highest, which we offer to our loan takers 
in cooperation with the insurer Generali zavarovalnica d. d. 
In relative terms, revenues from investment fund sales incre-
ased the most, which is in line with our objectives and plans.

In 2022, we plan to continue with intensive training of sa-
les advisors to further increase the quality of service and 
ensure that we achieve the objectives for this year. 

Derivative financial  
instruments
In 2021, the bank provided services related to currency and 
interest rate derivatives to banks and companies. The latter 
are aware of the roles that derivatives play in reducing risk. 
As a rule, the bank provides services related to derivatives 
only to first-class clients, and only within pre-approved li-
mits.

The majority of derivative transactions are back-to-back 
hedged, both in the domestic and international inter-bank 
markets. The remaining ones expose the bank to market 
risk, which is monitored on a daily basis against the app-
roved limits.

In 2021, the volume of transactions with currency and in-
terest rate derivatives fell. as financial markets volatility 
decreased due to the ECB’s monetary policy
 monetarne politike ECB.
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At year-end 2021, the bank’s balance sheet total amounted 
to EUR 1,721 million, down EUR 119 million or 6% from the 
previous year. 

 

The movement of total assets in the past three years can be 
seen from the following graph:

Statement of financial  
position

Structure of assets
The table below shows the bank’s assets as at 31 December:  

thousand EUR

Assets 31 Dec 2020 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2021 Structure (%) Index

Cash, cash balances at central banks and 
other demand deposits at banks 478,693 26 -22,541 456,153 27 95

Financial assets held for trading 6,636 0 -3,175 3,461 0 52

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily 
at fair value through profit or loss 3,494 0 -3,022 472 0 14

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 111,000 6 -37,119 73,881 4 67

Financial assets measured at amortised 
cost 1,222,340 66 -50,397 1,171,942 68 96

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
joint ventures 423 0 -131 292 0 69

Tangible assets 12,557 1 -913 11,644 1 93

Intangible assets 1,619 0 -129 1,490 0 92

Tax assets 1,888 0 -1,443 446 0 24

Other assets 546 0 230 776 0 142

TOTAL ASSETS 1,839,196 100 -118,639 1,720,557 100 94

2021
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Financial assets measured at amortised cost, i.e. loans to 
banks and non-banks, accounted for 68% of total assets, 
down EUR 50 million or 4% compared to year-end 2020.

Cash and cash balances at central banks decreased by 
EUR 23 million to EUR 456 million at year-end 2021 and 
represented 27% of total assets.

thousand EUR

Liabilities and equity 31 Dec 2020 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2021 Structure (%) Index

Financial liabilities held for trading 6,107 0 -2,548 3,559 0 58

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1,643,372 89 -127,878 1,515,496 88 92

Provisions 4,061 0 -484 3,577 0 88

Tax liabilities 57 0 2,059 2,116 0 0

Other liabilities 1,140 0 -13 1,127 0 99

Subscribed capital 133,140 7 0 133,140 8 100

Capital reserves 27,248 1 0 27,248 2 100

Accumulated other comprehensive income 389 0 -34 355 0 91

Reserves from profit 6 0 0 6 0 100

Retained earnings 22,711 1 965 23,676 1 104

Profit or loss for the year 965 0 9,292 10,257 1 1,063

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,839,196 100 -118,639 1,720,557 100 94

Structure of liabilities and equity

Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income decreased by EUR 37 million and 
amounted to EUR 74 million at year-end 2021.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost, which represent the 
largest portion of liabilities, decreased by EUR 128 million 
compared to year-end 2020. This is mainly explained by the 
decrease in deposits placed by non-banks.

Financial liabilities held for trading decreased by 42% or 
EUR 2.6 million. This is mainly explained with changes in the 
derivatives portfolio: the number of transactions, and no-
minal and market values, which depend on client’s needs.

The table below shows the bank’s liabilities as at 31 December:

Provisions decreased by 12% or EUR 484 thousand, which 
is mainly explained with the decrease in provisions for off-
-balance sheet liabilities.

Other liabilities decreased by 1% compared to a year before.
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Off-balance sheet items
The amount of off-balance sheet items involving the bank's 
contingent and assumed liabilities decreased by EUR 68 
million to EUR 878 million in 2021.

thousand EUR

Off-balance-sheet value-at-risk assets 31 Dec 2020 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2021 Structure 
(%) Index

Guarantees, documentary credits, other con-
tingent liabilities (including pledged assets for 
clients’ liabilities)

115,267 12 21,743 137,010 16 119

Granted loans, overdrafts and credit lines, and 
other commitments 242,371 26 -20 242,351 28 100

Notional amounts of spot transactions 858 0 549 1,407 0 164

Notional amounts of derivatives 588,165 62 -91,031 497,134 57 85

Total 946,661 100 -68,760 877,902 100 93

Of all off-balance sheet items, notional amounts of derivati-
ves decreased by 15% and amounted to EUR 497 million at 
year-end 2021, representing 57% of off-balancesheet value 
-at -risk assets. 

Guarantees, documentary credits and other contingent 
liabilities (including pledged assets for clients’ liabilities) 
increased by 19% to stand at EUR 137 million. 

Granted loans, overdrafts and credit lines, and other com-
mitments stood at the same level as a year before and 
amounted to EUR 242 million. 

Notional amounts of spot transactions increased by EUR 
0.5 million to stand at EUR 1.4 million.
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The bank closed the 2021 business year with a net profit of 
10,257 thousand EUR, calculated in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 

Results from operations

thousand EUR

  2020 Change 2021 Index

Net interest income 30,437 -4,560 25,877 85

Net fee and commission income 11,810 2,190 14,000 119

Dividend income 24 1 24 103

Realised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities not measured at 
fair value through profit or loss -19 5 -14 73

Net gains/losses from financial assets and liabilities held for trading 496 -605 -109 -22

Net gains/losses on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value 
through profit or loss -366 2,612 2,246 -613

Exchange differences 320 500 819 256

Net interest and similar income 76 -85 -8 -11

Other operating income/expenses 518 -210 308 59

Administrative expenses including amortization and depreciation -28,995 -759 -29,754 103

Costs related to payments to the Slovenian Resolution Fund and the Deposit 
Guarantee Scheme -1,618 -113 -1,731 107

Modification gains/losses, net -80 94 14 -18

Provisions -99 569 470 -475

Impairment -11,385 11,826 441 -4

Profit or loss from continuing operations 1,119 11,464 12,583 1,125

Income tax and deferred taxes -154 -2,172 -2,326 1,510

Net profit or loss for the period 965 9,292 10,257 1,063

Net interest income decreased by EUR 4,560 thousand or 
15 % compared to 2020, mainly due to a weaker demand 
for loans due to the Covid-19 situation and macroprudential 
measures of the Bank of Slovenia.

Net fee and commission income increased by EUR 2,190 
thousand or 19%, mainly due to a higher income from thre-
shold fees and a larger volume of payment transactions.

Net gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities held for 
trading and exchange differences need to be considered 
together, but their change in 2021 was not significant.

Realised gains/losses on derecognition of financial assets 
and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or 
loss did not change significantly compared to 2020.

Net gains/losses on non-trading financial assets manda-
torily at fair value through profit or loss increased due to 

repayment of a loan measured at fair value.
Other operating income/expenses changed compared to 
2020, mainly due to less profit shared with the insurance 
company Zavarovalnica Triglav.

Administrative expenses including amortisation and de-
preciation were higher than in 2020, mainly due to higher 
labour costs, software maintenance costs and consulting 
services costs.

In accordance with its internal policy for the assessment of 
losses arising from credit risk, the bank released EUR 441 
thousand of impairments net, which is EUR 11,826 thousand 
less than in the previous year. The main reason for the 
release was the sale of certain non-performing loans and 
changes in the impairment models.

European Union. The structure of net income and expenses 
in 2021 is shown in the table below::
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The provision of financial services is inevitably linked with 
risks. These represent the probability of future events 
affecting the bank’s stability or its income and capital. Due 
to their important role in national economies and to preserve 
customer trust, banks must conduct their operations with 
due care and prudence, and maintain an adequate level of 
capital for potential risk losses coverage.

There are several risks inherent in banking operations that 
differ in terms of their nature and level. Banks also differ in 
their scope of risk appetite, which depends on their size, 
organisation and culture.This affects their market activi-
ties (their aggressiveness and innovativeness), their loan 
portfolio concentration, their product diversification, their 
accepted collateral types, etc. Both approaches are perfectly 
legitimate and each could be the right one given the business 
environment in which the banks operate.

The central bank of Slovenia issued a “Regulation on internal 
governance arrangements, the management body and the 
internal capital adequacy assessment process for banks and 
savings banks” (Official Gazette of the RS, no. 73/15), laying 
down the rules on risk management in banks. Pursuant to 
said Regulation, the banks must prepare strategies for assu-
ming and managing risks, thus revealing their approach to 
the risks assumed within the scope of their activities.

Strategies for assuming and managing risks must comprise:
• the objectives of and general principles for assuming and 

managing risk,
• an approach to managing individual risks,
• an approach to implementing the internal capital adequa-

cy assessment process, and
• an outline of plans with regard to significant business acti-

vities, and a description of planned changes, if any, in the 
bank's business strategy.

Risks shall include credit risk, market risks, interest rate risk, 
liquidity risk, operational risk, strategic risk, reputation risk, 
outsourcing risk and risk of new products.

A more detailed description of credit risk, liquidity risk, market 
risks (including currency risk), interest rate risk and operatio-
nal risk that the bank is exposed to can be found in the notes 
to the financial statements under section 3. That section also 
includes the bank’s strategies for assuming and managing 
risks, and other information required under the “Regulation 

on the books of account and annual reports of banks and 
savings banks”, and under IFRS 7.

In addition to the risks mentioned above, which are descri-
bed in relevant chapters, the bank manages all other mate-
rial risks.

The bank manages strategic and operational risks through 
its strategic model, which includes a medium-term business 
strategy and vision, including an assessment of the adopted 
business strategy in terms of target customers, markets and 
products. The bank's business is conducted taking into acco-
unt the business environment and its foreseeable changes. 
The key foundations of the bank's business strategy are 
defined at the level of the bank as a whole and at the level of 
individual segments. Monitoring of strategic and operational 
risk is carried out in close cooperation between the finance 
and risk divisions. The risk is covered in the economic capital 
framework with a relevant charge (buffer).

Reputational risk refers to the potential adverse effects that 
may arise from a negative reputation of the bank in the eyes 
of the interested public (capital investors/lenders, employees, 
customers, etc.). The bank measures reputational risk as the 
risk of loss of (sight and term) deposits from its customers due 
to its negative image. If this happened, the bank would have 
to resort to more expensive sources of financing, either on 
the interbank market or from the parent bank. Reputational 
risk overlaps with operational risk and is implicitly captured 
in the economic capital framework mainly within operational 
risk and strategic buffer.

Outsourcing risk is the risk of damage resulting from the 
external provider’s failure, due to unwillingness, inability or 
negligence, to fully and timely meet the obligation of go-
ods or services supply. Outsourcing risk is governed by the 
bank's internal policies. The contractual rights and obligati-
ons of the bank and the external providers are well defined 
and understood. Oversight is also ensured by internal and 
external reviews (audits) and regular internal controls. The 
results of the review carried out (by the owners of the outso-
urcing contracts) in 2021 did not reveal any specific deficien-
cies. Outsourcing risk overlaps with operational risk and is 
implicitly captured in the economic capital framework mainly 
within operational risk and strategic buffer.

The bank ensures that the risks associated with the intro-

Risk exposure 
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The bank's equity comprises subscribed capital, capital 
reserves, reserves from profit, accumulated other compre-
hensive income and retained earnings including net profit/
loss for the current year.

Subscribed capital remained the same in 2021 as at year-end 
2020. It comprises 31,928,152 ordinary shares with a nominal 

duction of new products are also integrated into its risk 
management processes. The risk of introduction of new 
products is regularly assessed as part of the operational risk 
self-assessment. Approval must be obtained in accordance 
with internal guidelines before a new product can be introdu-

value of EUR 4.17 each. Capital reserves did not change with 
additional capital and comprised mainly share premium.

At year-end 2021, the book value of a share calculated based 
on the bank’s total equity was EUR 6.10, which is EUR 0.32 
more than at year-end 2020.

ced. The risk of introduction of a new product overlaps with 
operational risk and is implicitly captured in the economic 
capital framework mainly within operational risk and strate-
gic buffer.

Equity and shareholders

Movements in equity items in 2021
thousand EUR

Equity 31 Dec 2020 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2021 Structure (%) Index

Subscribed capital 133,140 72 0 133,140 68 100

Capital reserves 27,248 15 0 27,248 14 100

Accumulated other comprehensive 
income 389 0 -34 355 0 91

Reserves from profit 6 0 0 6 0 100

Retained earnings 22,711 12 965 23,676 12 104

Profit / loss for the year 965 1 9,292 10,257 5 1.063

Total equity 184,459 100 10,223 194,682 100 106

At year-end 2021, the bank’s share register showed 17 
owners, of which 1 was foreign and 16 domestic. Of all sha-
res, as much as 99.99% were held by Sberbank Europe AG. 
On 1 March 2022, the Bank of Slovenia adopted a resolution 

decision in respect of the sale of 100% of shares issued by 
Sberbank banka d.d. On the same day , the Single Resolu-
tion Board (SRB) decided to transfer all shares of the Slo-
venian subsidiary Sberbank banka d.d. to NLB d.d. (Note: 
Events after the balance sheet date).

Shareholders as at 31 December 2021

Share of the bank’s subscribed capital

SBERBANK EUROPE AG 99.99%

Domestic shareholders 0.01%

Total 100.0%

The bank’s financial statements are available for viewing at 
the bank’s head office in Ljubljana. The bank does not have 
treasury shares in its portfolio, and did not form reserves to 

buy back treasury shares.
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Branch network
In 2021, the bank had the same number of business units 
as a year ago. In addition to the branch at the bank’s head 
office (at Dunajska cesta 128a in Ljubljana, where the bank 
moved in the second half of 2001), this network comprises 
also the following branches: Gosposka, Miklošičeva, Vič and 
Pavšičeva. The bank’s branches outside the capital compri-
se branches in:
• Koper,
• Kranj,
• Celje 
• Šentjur pri Celju,
• Maribor,
•  Tepanje and
• Šentjernej.

The bank has also a centre providing microfinancing at its 
head office at Dunajska cesta. We continued with the main-
tenance and renovation of offices in 2021. 

Capital investments
As planned, the bank finished replacing the existing cash 
registers with new teller cash recyclers.

In 2021. new ATMs with more functionalities were available 
in all branches.

During the pandemic, the bank devoted a lot of time and 
resources to ensuring a safe working environment and pro-
viding the necessary protective equipment.

In 2021, the bank continued raising employee awareness 
about responsible use of energy and water and manage-
ment of waste, using special labels and e-mails.

At year-end, following the Group’s lead, the bank launched 
a sustainability project to reduce its emissions and thus its 
negative environmental impact. The project focuses on bu-
siness premises, car fleet, expendable material and paper, 
and green energy.

We accordingly replaced the old cooling/heating systems 
in the Celje and Maribor branches with new, more energy 
efficient systems.

As planned, the bank continued investing in branches’ se-
curity systems by maintaining and modernising them.

Information technology 
support
In 2021, the goals of the Information Technology (IT) division 
were mainly focused on the optimisation, automation and 
digitalisation of banking processes and the development of 
technological support, reflecting the bank's IT and business 
strategy and regulatory requirements.

Due to the situation caused by the coronavirus pandemic, 
the IT did everything necessary to allow the bank's employe-
es to work from home and to communicate (internally and 
externally) remotely, using various tools.

We continued with the development of digital processes on 
service-oriented IT architecture (SOA): the projects aimed at 
the implementation of front-end systems related to loans to 
private individuals and opening of bank accounts for priva-
te individuals are both in the final phase.

The majority of upgrades were carried out on the core ban-
king system (CBS), the bank's digital channels, as well as on 
the document management system (DMS) and the custo-
mer relationship management system (CRM). In addition, 
we continued with the implementation of robotic process 
automations (RPA). With the implementation of the e-iden-
tity system, we made it possible for private individuals to 
open bank accounts remotely.

We also focused on improving the maturity of IT governan-
ce, primarily in the areas of IT risk management, cyber-se-
curity and monitoring of the performance/availability of all 
critical banking systems.

All the above-mentioned activities, as well as others pur-
sued by the IT division, were carried out with the aim of 
expanding and upgrading the IT support to the bank's new 
products and improving the bank's internal processes. In 
accordance with principles that require continuous disse-
mination and transfer of knowledge within an organisation, 
the bank organises additional training for its employees in 
the field of information security policy and protection, thus 
raising awareness and improving management of such 
risks.

Development milestones
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Employees
In 2021, the bank continued taking care of its employees and 
the social environment in which it operates. 

We have been involved in humanitarian activities for several 
years now, and have supported sports and cultural activi-
ties. Despite the intensive continuation of the epidemic, this 
did not change in 2021.

The bank continues organising regular sports activities for 
its employees, also through its own sports association and 
active participation in recreational sports competitions. We 
cooperate with Črnuče volleyball club and Ribnica handball 
club.

In the 2021/22 season, we support top athletes who are a 
true reflection of everything that the bank represents – and 
we can proudly say that we have made their success possi-
ble. Since 2013, the bank has been a proud golden sponsor 
of our ski jumpers, cross-country skiers and Nordic combi-
nation skiers. This is one of the largest and most successful 
sports federations in Slovenia.

We have been donating to humanitarian institutions, mainly 
to support children. We donated a portion of funds intended 
for the purchase of business giftsto the Ljubljana Paediatric 
Clinic for the purchase of necessary equipment. 

In 2021, we cooperated with the Association of Friends of 
Youth Ljubljana, Moste-Polje. This donation was intended to 
cover the costs of families in need from different parts of 
Slovenia, which are included in the comprehensive huma-
nitarian support and assistance programme Chain of Good 
People.

We continued taking care of the right work-life balance, 
thus living up to the family-friendly company certificate. As 
part of such activities, we paid EUR 32 to each child of our 
employees up to the age of 15.

On 31 December 2021, the number of our employees  
was 379.

The educational structure also did not change significantly, 
and the share of employees holding a degree higher than 
secondary education remained high at 69 %.

Year 2021

Level of education under the Klasius classification Number of employees per 
31. 12. 2021

Share of employees 
per 31. 12. 2021

Level V –secondary school degree 116 31%

Level VI/1. – high school degree (pre-Bologna) 36 9%

Level VI/2. – first cycle degree (Bologna) 107 28%

Level VII – second cycle degree (Bologna), university degree (pre-Bologna) 106 28%

VIII/1. – master’s and specialist’s degree (pre-Bologna) 13 3%

VIII/2. – third cycle degree (Bologna) 1 0%

Total 379 100 %

Year 2020

Level of education under the Klasius qualification Number of employees 
per 31. 12. 2020

Share of employees 
per 31. 12. 2020

Level V –high school degree 122 31 %

Level VI/1. – college degree 33 8 %

Level VI/2. – Bologna declaration, 1st (Bachelor's) degree 112 29 %

Level VII – Bologna declaration, 2nd (Master’s) degree, and pre-Bologna  
university programme) 107 28 %

VIII/1. – pre-Bologna post-graduate Specialist’ and Master's degree 14 4%

Total 388 100%
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As technological development and digital banking remain 
its main strategic objectives, the bank sees to it that the 
teams of IT Operations and Infrastructure and IT Develo-
pment get the additional employees they need. It is in this 
particular area that the bank has the greatest difficulties in 
attracting new employees, as IT experts are in general very 
scarce in Slovenia.

In the field of employee management and development, 
in 2021 the bank continued following the trends in human 
resources, i.e. focused on the realisation of employees 
potentials, the development of cooperation and good com-
munication skills within individual departments, and the 
effective management of employee performance. Due to 
the continuation of the epidemic and measures against the 
spread of coronavirus pandemic, most of the education has 
remained in online implementation and, as it turns out, will 
remain so in the future.

In 2021, we focused on the following issues:
• The pandemic continued requiring from us to adopt new 

measures to prevent its spreading and to protect the 
health and safety of our employees. The bank still has a 
'crisis group', and those employees that can got used to 
working from home.

• Implementation of the “Cornerstone” performance ma-
nagement system: from goal setting for 2021 and perfor-
mance appraisal to upward feedback and development 
activity planning at the level of each employee.

• In 2021, we conducted a 360-degree management as-
sessment to provide managers the opportunity to impro-
ve their management competencies.

• We started the activities to measure the organisational 
culture. 

• In the corporate division, we focused on strengthening 
the sales skills of our consultants and introducing new 
ways of working. 

• Enhancement of employees’ knowledge and prepared-
ness for the upcoming changes in the banking sector, 
also by participating at international conferences and 
various professional trainings in Slovenia and abroad. 
These were mainly held online in 2021.

• Migration to online training as regards internal training 
events with internal lecturers.

• Fit and proper assessments of management board mem-
bers and key function holders, and other processes within 
the framework of corporate governance arrangements.

Employee training activities remained focused mainly on 
those areas that are work processes-related, as well as to 
those changes that were brought about by the coronavirus 
pandemic. Employees gained new knowledge, developed 
skills and increased work efficiency, which is closely linked 
to the success of the bank and employee satisfaction.

Training activities in 2021 by number of participants were 
the following:

TRAINING Number of 
participants

Internal training (beside the mandatory 
content in the e-classroom) 200

Compulsory (periodic) training* 141

Professional seminars and conferences 102

*Training in the areas of banknote authenticity, of first aid, of health and safety at 
work, training of persons responsible for initial fire suppression and evacuation, 
training in accordance with the Consumer Credit Act (ZPotk-2), Generali training, etc.

Internal training is increasingly well accepted among the 
employees, which is shown in their high participation and 
the fact that they themselves recognise the needs in work 
processes and accordingly suggest training themes/con-
tents.
In line with the trend of digitalisation of services, we are con-
stantly developing new or improving the existing e-learning 
courses/trainings. In 2021, the following were available in 
the e-learning classroom:
•  eight trainings that were mandatory for all employees,
•  two specialised trainings, which were mandatory for indi-

vidual groups of employees, and
•  open trainings accessible to all: security policy and infor-

mation security, fire and evacuation, feedback provision 
and work -life balance.

Remuneration policy 
Based on the new group remuneration policy, the bank’s 
supervisory board approved a new local remuneration 
policy on 30 December 2021. This is based on the bank’s 
business strategy and objectives, organisational structure 
and long-term interests, and also includes measures aimed 
at preventing conflicts of interest. Within the process of 
preparation of the new local remuneration policy, the bank 
also carried out a complexity analysis in order to correctly 
apply the proportionality principle. The remuneration policy 
must be periodically (annually) adjusted to reflect the actual 
situation. 
In cooperation with members of the working group for re-
muneration policies, human resources also performed the 
identification of employees with a special nature of work 
who in their work affect or could affect the bank's risk profi-
le (identified employees).
The bank’s remuneration policy was therefore designed 
based on the parent’s remuneration policy, observing also 
the CEBS Guidelines, the Banking Act, the “Regulation on 
internal governance arrangements, the management body 
and the internal capital adequacy assessment process 
for banks and savings banks”, and the Directive (EU) no. 
2013/36.
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In accordance with Article 88 of the Banking Act, the bank 
meets all additional disclosure requirements as it makes av-
ailable all relevant information on its website, in a document 
entitled disclosures regarding governance arrangements in 
the bank.

Social responsibility
Following environmental, social and governance (ESG) 
principles …

The bank follows the trends and is making a shift from traditio-
nal to a sustainable business concept. The bank aims at further 
sustainability transformation in order to be able to support 
sustainable businesses and contribute to the society and the 
environment, all this based on respect and cooperation with 
stakeholders, partners, investors and employees. Not only are 
the trends dictating such a shift, but also new regulation that 
focuses on a more responsible environmental management.

To this end, the bank set up an ESG team to coordinate the im-
plementation of ESG principles into all aspects of our business.

In 2021, the bank promoted the use of electric cars for business 
purposes (we have a contract for the service Avant2Go with 
Avantcar d.o.o., a company renting electric cars), and opted 
to also use green electricity generated from the more envi-
ronmentally and socially friendly renewable energy sources. 
At the same time, we continued reducing our consumption of 
paper, water and electricity. All this is part of the Environmen-
tal Dimension, which, together with Social and Governance 
Dimension represents the three factors of ESG, a set of stan-
dards that relate to sustainability. 

In the business context, sustainability relates to an organisa-
tion's business model, to the contribution of its products and 
services to sustainable development goals, to its risk manage-
ment aimed at reduction of adverse impacts, its responsibility 
to its employees and the local society. We practice the latter 
by ensuring good working conditions, as well as employees’ 
rights and diversity.

Caring for our employees is our priority. We continuously in-
vest in education. As regards the Social Dimension, we have a 
trade union and a workers’ council in the bank, and a sports 
association with more than half of our employees being its 
members. During the coronavirus pandemic, our employees 
were delivered fresh fruit while at work. Conditions allowing, 
we organise end of the year parties for all employees. Last 
year, we added new topics to the newsletter and refreshed its 
design, at the same time renaming it “Sbernik”. In December 
2021, we organised a virtual gathering and enjoyed a mono 
comedy show. We also continued our activities to contain 
spreading of the coronavirus pandemic. Our employees were 
regularly reminded of prevention measures through emails. 

We also continued working from home when necessary.

In 2021, we continued our activities dictated by our family-fri-
endly certificate. We continued implementing the measures 
aimed at helping our employees achieve the work-life balan-
ce.

As regards the Governance Dimension, this relates to inclusive 
and robust corporate governance of an organisation that 
works in the best interests of shareholders and does not get 
involved in scandals or engage in illegal practices, such as 
corruption, disclosure of insider information, fraud, etc. We im-
plement this dimension by having an appropriate risk mana-
gement system in place, ensuring compliance, acting ethically, 
being socially responsible and implementing a diversity policy.

We also promote gender balance, including at senior levels. 
As a result, we have as much as 48 percent of women in se-
nior positions. Towards year-end, we launched a campaign 
promoting blood donation, organising training and raising 
awareness about the importance of this humanitarian act.

We also launched the so-called Green Loan product in 2021. 
This product allows our clients to invest in a fast, simple, 
affordable and environmentally-friendly manner. With this 
product, our department for partnerships and bancassurance 
promotes environmentally-friendly investments together with 
its contractual partners. 
In our activity, we encourage all those involved to adopt, as far 
as possible, green, digital, inclusive and sustainable practices.

We are all too aware that the European banking sector will 
play one of the key roles in the coming years when we transi-
tion to a low-carbon society. Based on the UN 2030 Agenda, 
UN Sustainable Development Goals and Paris Agreement, the 
European Union committed to limit the temperature rise to 
1.5 degrees Celsius by 2050, to reduce carbon footprint by 55 
percent by 2030, and to provide EUR 350 million each year for 
sustainable financing (at the EU level). In order to meet these 
objectives, it will be vital to develop a taxonomy of sustainable 
economic activities, design standards and labels for green 
financial products, enhance sustainable financing, integrate 
sustainable development into the investment process, and 
introduce benchmarks for sustainable development.

… while being socially responsible.

Most often, corporate social responsibility is defined as a con-
cept whereby organisations integrate and pursue ethical be-
haviour and economic development as well as the wellbeing 
of their employees with families, of their local community and 
of the society in general on a voluntary basis. For us, ensuring 
the stability of the banking system is the foundation of our 
social responsibility.
The code of ethics and professional conduct that the bank 
adopted a long time ago binds all employees, regardless of 
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their job or work area, to aim at excellence in their relations 
with colleagues, buyers and suppliers, as well as other stake-
holders, the wider community and the media. Among other 
things, said code provides as follows: »We are aware that our 
business success after all depends on sound and trust-based 
relationships with customers and employees. The bank is 
strongly committed to maintaining the reputation and integrity 
of the entire banking Group, and to reducing the non-compli-
ance risk by consistently observing relevant legislations and 
regulations, as well as ethical standards applicable to our 
business.”

The Covid-19 pandemic did not mark only 2020, but also 2021. 
With the only difference being that issues that represented a 
huge challenge in 2020 became almost part of the everyday 
life in 2021.

Already in 2020, responding to the emergency circumstances, 
we set up a special team to monitor the announcements of the 
Slovenian National Institute of Public Health, to keep record of 
the number of infected and quarantined employees, and to re-
port on all this to the management board, suggesting activities 
and measures aimed at preventing the spread of SARS-CoV-2. 
The team continued with these activities also in 2021. Timely 
and proper informing of our clients and employees of the 
Institute’s measures and instructions and of the Government’s 
ordinances remained among our priorities. In addition to pre-
ventive measures, we also ensured that protective equipment 
was always available to our clients and employees. 
At the same time, to prevent SARS-CoV-2 infections and to 
protect the health of our employees, we, among other things, 
organised work from home as far as possible. The majority of 
our meetings and training also took place online.

Due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, we accelerated 
the digital transformation of our processes to improve clients’ 
access and experience, as well as to ensure service continuity. 
Our offices remained opened for customers throughout 2021.

The pandemic, however, impacted our sponsorships in 2021. 
Compliance with the measures of the Slovenian National 
Institute of Public Health and the ordinances of the Slovenian 
Government required changes to or even cancellations of cer-
tain business, cultural and sports events.

Our cooperation with the Slovenian Ski Association goes back 
to 2013, and we are certain to have contributed in all these ye-
ars to the development of men and women ski jumping, as well 
as of cross-country skiing. The world-class results achieved by 
our athletes reflect our systematic and professional approach 

at all levels. The fact that men and women ski jumpers and 
cross-country skiers are among the most recognisable and 
popular athletes in Slovenia is just another reason for their 
main role in our marketing activities, i.e. advertisements.

As required by tradition, we sponsored two high-profile 
events in 2021: the international Ljubljana Beach Volleyball 
tournament and the national beach volleyball championship 
in Kranj. The pandemic environment required quite some 
coordination, adaptation and patience of all – athletes, orga-
nisers and sponsors. Additionally, we extended sponsorship 
contracts with two Slovenia’s strongest male doubles in beach 
volleyball, and entered into a sponsorship contract with a 
beach volleyball school, Boženk. Our support to other sports 
teams, such as the Črnuče and Maribor volleyball clubs, where 
young athletes are being systematically developed, proved to 
be the right decision, as the Maribor club became the national 
champion in the last season. We supported others as well, 
from the Bohinj volleyball club to the Ribnica handball club 
and Gorica judo club.

We also contributed funds to the University Medical Centre 
Ljubljana to help them buy new equipment for the Clinic of 
Paediatrics, as well as the Moste-Polje Association of Friends 
of Youth. Donating money to the latter, we helped cover the 
costs of families in need from different parts of Slovenia that 
are included in the Chain of Good People humanitarian pro-
gramme. We continued contributing funds to the Škrabec Fo-
undation, which offers scholarships and awards for students 
and otherwise supports initiatives aimed at ensuring develo-
pment of the Slovenian language. We continued our already 
traditional cooperation with the Slovenian-Russian Friendship 
Society.

At year-end, we started working with the Managers’ Associa-
tion of Slovenia. Unfortunately, due to the special circumstan-
ces in 2021, our cooperation in the area of business events was 
considerably curtailed. 
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Key facts
thousand EUR

  2021 2020 2019

1. Balance sheet items (as at 31 December)

Balance sheet total 1,720,556 1,839,196 1,870,567

Total deposits from non-banks 1,273,925 1,340,021 1,368,173

a) corporate deposits 690,698 855,798 947,714

b) household deposits 583,227 484,223 420,459

Total loans to non-banks 1,152,573 1,202,101 1,317,031

a) corporate loans 732,245 755,414 834,372

b) household loans 420,328 446,687 482,659

Total equity 194,682 184,459 183,011

Impairment and provisions 46,567 59,194 46,031

Off-balance sheet items 878,902 946,661 967,406

 

2. Income statement items (for the year ended 31 December)  

Net interest income 25,877 30,437 34,521

Net non-interest income 17,281 12,779 11,138

Labour costs, general and administrative expenses* -29,118 -28,263 -28,489

Amortisation/depreciation -2,367 -2,349 -2,279

Impairment and provisions 910 -11,484 -3,685

Profit before tax 12,583 1,119 12,823

Income tax -2,326 -154 -2,382

3. Statement of comprehensive income  

Other comprehensive income before tax -64 577 -23

Income tax on other comprehensive income 30 -95 3

4. Number of employees (as at 31 December) 379 388 382

5. Shares (as at 31 December)    

Number of shareholders 17 18 18
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thousand EUR

  2021 2020 2019

Shares outstanding 31,928,152 31,928,152 31,928,152

Nominal value per share (EUR) 4.17 4.17 4.17

Book value per share (EUR) 6.10 5.78 5.73

6. Indicators (%. unless otherwise indicated)    

a) Equity    

Equity for capital adequacy purposes (thousand EUR) 187,186 200,130 191,040

CET1 capital ratio 18.73 18.77 14.50

T1 capital ratio 18.73 18.77 14.50

Total capital ratio 18.73 19.80 16.27

b) Asset quality   

Non-performing (balance and off-balance sheet) exposures / 
classified balance and off-balance sheet exposures 2.56 3.24 2.63

Non-performing loans and other financial assets / classified 
loans and other financial assets (excluding balances with 
central bank accounts and sight deposits with banks)

4.44 5.53 4.10

Non-performing loans and other financial assets / classified 
loans and other financial assets (including balances with cen-
tral bank accounts and sight deposits with banks)

3.24 4.06 3.33

Impairments and provisions for credit losses / non-performing 
exposures (excluding balances with central bank accounts and 
sight deposits with banks)

50.42 50.08 51.92

Impairments and provisions for credit losses / non-performing 
exposures (including balances with central bank accounts and 
sight deposits with banks)

50.42 50.08 51.92

Collateral received (net exposures) / non-performing 
exposures 42.11 37.66 39.50

Collateral received (gross exposures) / non-performing 
exposures 58.55 55.60 58.54

c) Profitability  

Interest margin 1.49 1.61 1.92

  Interest + non-interest margin 2.49 2.29 2.54

  Return on assets 0.73 0.06 0.71

  Return on equity before tax 6.62 0.60 7.18

  Return on equity after tax 5.40 0.52 5.85

  d) Operating costs  

  Operating expenses**/average assets 1.82 1.62 1.71

  e) Liquidity  

Liquidity coverage ratio% (annual average) 178.50 208.20 151.00

Liquidity buffer (amount in thousand EUR) 422,249 439,507 306,073

Net liquidity outflow (amount in thousand EUR) 206,900 235,560 215,711
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1. Composition and functioning of the Superviso-
ry Board
In 2021, the Supervisory Board monitored and supervised 
the Bank’s current operations, financial results and per-
formance of the Management Board in accordance with 
its powers, competences and responsibilities as defined in 
the Bank’s Articles of Association and By laws of the Super-
visory Board, as well as in the applicable Companies Act, 
Banking Act and related implementing regulations (inter 
alia Regulation on internal governance arrangements, the 
management body and the internal capital adequacy as-
sessment process for banks and savings banks).

The composition of the Supervisory Board of Sberbank 
banka d.d. changed in year 2021. Jozefina Trnavska (mem-
ber) resigned with 1 January 2021 and on 29 January 2021 
two new members, Petar Grujić and Holger Steinborn, were 
appointed on 51st Shareholder Meeting for four years pe-
riod. Since January 2021, the Supervisory Board has been 
functioning as a six-member body: Sonja Sarközi (chairper-
son), Kornel Halmos (deputy chairperson), Sanjin Bogdan 
(member), Nataša Pukl (member), Petar Grujić (member) 
and Holger Steinborn (member). The Constitutive session 
took place on 3 February 2021. Sonja Sarközi was re-elected 
as Supervisory Board Chairperson, Kornel Halmos as 
Deputy Chairperson and Committees’ composition was 
agreed. On 53rd Shareholder Meeting, which took place on 
19 October 2021, the mandates of three members (Sarközi, 
Halmos, Bogdan) were prolonged for additional four years.

At year-end 2021, the Supervisory Board consisted of five 
members who are representatives of the Bank's majority 
shareholder (Sberbank Europe AG, which holds a 99.99% 
stake of the Bank) and one independent member. All mem-
bers have the required knowledge and experience for ado-
pting decisions in the best interest of the bank, and assure 
independent, unbiased, professional, impartial, fair and 
comprehensive performance of their function as Supervi-
sory Board members. 

The Supervisory Board supervised the legitimacy, expedi-
ency and cost effectiveness of the Bank's management and 
by means of written reports submitted by the Management 
Board in four regular sessions. Furthermore, the Super-
visory Board was regularly acquainted with the reports 
prepared by the Management Board, and adopted the 
required resolutions also at correspondence sessions. Such 
resolutions were then presented at the next regular session. 

All four sessions were attended by all members. All four 
sessions were attended also by representatives of the Bank 
of Slovenia, who participated as guests.

Following the start of the war in Ukraine and associated 
sanctions to Russian entities, Sberbank banka d.d. ente-
red the resolution and recovery protocols in the final days 
of February 2022. On 2 March 2022 Sberbank bank d.d. 
changed its owner, as NLB d.d. entered in to the ownership 
structure by acquiring a 100% stake in Sberbank banka d.d. 
Following the change of ownership, on 11 April 2022 Share-
holder Meeting decided to rename the bank to N Banka d.d. 
and to appoint five new members of Supervisory Board i.e. 
Andrej Lasič (chairperson), Uršula Kovačič Košak (deputy 
chairperson), Vesna Vodopivec, Igor Zalar and Damir Ku-
der. Independent Supervisory Board member Nataša Pukl 
remained unchanged.

2. Supervisory Board committees
In accordance with the Banking Act, the Supervisory Board 
established the Audit Committee in June 2009 and the Risk 
Committee in July 2015.

Committees’ composition is taking into consideration the 
restriction that the chairperson of the Supervisory Board 
cannot be appointed chairperson of a committee at the 
same time and that the committees consist of different 
members and also of independent member, thereby assu-
ring mutual cooperation between them, among other also 
with cross-committee membership. 

The Audit and the Risk Committee, each consisting of three 
or four members, met at four regular sessions in 2021 and 
adopted decisions also in correspondence meetings when 
needed. In accordance with the law, all regular sessions 
were attended also by Management Board members and 
heads of control functions (Internal Audit, Compliance, Risk 
Management and Information Security Management fun-
ction). Control functions were granted direct access to the 
Supervisory Board and/or its committees in view to present 
an unbiased analysis of their work areas and to brief the 
Supervisory Board or its committees in an independent 
manner.

The two committees of the Supervisory Board worked in 
accordance with their respective work programmes and 
tasks as determined in their respective by laws, Articles 
of Association of the bank and legislative provisions. In 

Report of the supervisory  
board
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accordance with the Banking Act (ZBan-3) the two com-
mittees consist of Supervisory Board members only. These 
have adequate professional expertise and experience, and 
are mutually complementary so that they assure relevant 
knowledge and skills to perform the full scope of tasks of 
the Audit and Risk Committees.

3. Key decisions of the Supervisory Board
In the first half of 2021, the Supervisory Board confirmed the 
2020 Annual Report, acknowledged the related Indepen-
dent Auditor’s Report, to which it had no remarks, and pro-
vided its opinion to the Internal Audit’s 2020 Annual Report.

In 2021, the Supervisory Board supervised the implemen-
tation of the resolutions adopted by the Supervisory Board 
itself and those adopted by the Shareholder Meeting, consi-
dered the quarterly reports prepared by the Internal Audit, 
Compliance, Risk Management and Information Security 
Management functions, and other functions, as well as the 
reports on bank’s operations prepared by the Management 
Board. Additionally, it gave consent to the Bank’s 2021 fi-
nancial plan and to the Internal Audit and acknowledged 
the Compliance annual plans for 2021. It gave consent also 
to Strategy 2021–2023. It supervised the adequacy of the 
internal controls system, granted its consent to the changes 
of the organizational structure of the bank and confirmed 
the updated Remuneration Policy. The Supervisory Board 
also supervised the effectiveness of risk management and 
restructuring procedures. In the area of risk management, 
it approved Risk Appetite Statement, Risk Strategy, Reco-
very plan and NPL reduction strategy. Furthermore, it ac-
knowledged the results of stress testing and the ICAAP and 
ILAAP report to the Bank of Slovenia. Moreover, it confirmed 

the updated Retail and Corporate & SME credit policies. 

The Supervisory Board was promptly and thoroughly infor-
med of all important matters concerning the Bank's ope-
rations, strategies and policies. Additionally, it took note of 
relevant letters, decisions, resolutions and recommendati-
ons issued by the Bank of Slovenia or the European Central 
Bank. 

4. 2021 Annual Report
The Bank’s Management Board prepared the 2021 Annu-
al Report of Sberbank banka d.d. and submitted it to the 
Supervisory Board for verification within the statutory term. 
Along with the Annual Report, the Supervisory Board was 
submitted also the Independent Auditor’s Report prepared 
by Ernst & Young d.o.o. on the audit of the 2021 financial 
statements, and on the review of the 2021 business report 
and disclosures in accordance with the third pillar of Basel 
requirements (risk and capital management). The Supervi-
sory Board also reviewed the Report on Related Party Tran-
sactions, prepared in accordance with Article 545 of the 
Companies Act, and the respective Independent Auditor’s 
Report. According to this, the financial statements present 
fairly, in all material aspects, the Bank's financial position 
as at 31 December 2021, as well as its financial performance 
and its cash-flows for the year 2021, and are in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adop-
ted by European Union. The business report was conside-
red consistent with the audited financial statements.

Based on this opinion, as well as on the report prepared by 
the Management Board on the 2021 annual accounts, the 
Supervisory Board confirmed the 2021 Annual Report.

Ljubljana, 21 April 2022 Andrej Lasič
Chairperson of the Supervisory Board
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The internal governance statement forms part of the 2021 
annual report, which is published on the bank’s website.

APPLICATION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RULES
Sberbank banka d.d. has an internal governance system, 
which includes also corporate governance, which is in 
accordance with the legislation applicable in the Republic 
of Slovenia, as well as its internal acts. The bank has a 
two-tier governance system, with the Management Board 
managing the bank and with the Supervisory Board su-
pervising the Management Board. The bodies of the bank 
are the General Meeting, the Supervisory Board and the 
Management Board.

DEVIATIONS FROM CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RULES
Sberbank banka d.d. does not deviate from the regulations 
set out in point one of this statement. Sberbank banka d.d. 
does not apply any specific corporate governance codes, 
as it is bound in this regard by the parent bank’s rules.

Very important for its operation, also internal governance, is 
the following internal act:
• Code of conduct and ethics of Sberbank banka 

MAIN CHARACTERISTICS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS 
AND RISK MANAGEMENT IN RELATION TO FINANCIAL 
REPORTING
Sberbank banka d.d. must consider the following:

1. the provisions of the applicable Banking Act, which 
define the internal governance system, in particular the 
provisions of Section 3.4 (Governance system of a bank) 
and Chapter 6 (Internal governance arrangements 
and internal capital adequacy), in the part applying to 
a bank/savings bank or members of the management 
body; 

2. the Regulation on internal governance arrangements, 
the management body and the internal capital adequa-
cy assessment process for banks and savings banks, as 
well as other regulations and guidelines,

3. EBA guidelines on internal governance, on the as-
sessment of the suitability of members of the mana-
gement body and key function holders, and on sound 
remuneration policies, based on the relevant Bank of 

Slovenia's regulations on the application of said guide-
lines, which among other things govern the obligation of 
the bank to set up and maintain the appropriate internal 
control and risk management systems. 

4. Accordingly, Sberbank banka d.d. developed a sound 
and reliable internal governance system comprising:
•  a clear organisational structure with precisely defined, 

transparent and consistent internal relations regar-
ding responsibilities;

•  effective risk management procedures for identifying, 
measuring or assessing, managing and monitoring of 
risks, including risk appetite, risk management strate-
gy, ICAAP, ILAAP, recovery plan and reporting of risks 
to which the bank is or could be exposed in its operati-
on;

•  appropriate internal control mechanisms including 
also the appropriate administrative and accounting 
procedures; and

•  appropriate remuneration policies and practices that 
are consistent with sound and efficient risk manage-
ment, thus encouraging risk management.

Internal controls are implemented at three levels. The first 
level is implemented in the back office, where postings are 
made. The correctness of postings is ensured daily applying 
the four-eye principle, which is integrated in the main infor-
mation system.

The Bank has an information system for the recording of 
business transactions, which ensures that postings are 
made once only to the analytical accounts and main ledger.

Balances of items in transitional accounts are also moni-
tored and reconciled daily. Balances of items in transitio-
nal and temporary accounts are additionally monitored 
monthly, as part of management controls. There are also 
quarterly and annual controls, which must be documented.

The age of items, the reason for their existence and the in-
tended reconciliation actions are controlled. Before monthly 
reports are prepared, balances in analytical accounts are 
compared against those in the main ledger.

In accordance with Article 70(5) of the Companies Act, Sber-
bank banka d.d. hereby makes the following statement rela-
ting to the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021:

Internal governance  
statement
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INFORMATION RE. POINT 4 OF ARTICLE 70(5) OF THE 
COMPANIES ACT (re. points 3, 4, 6, 8 and 9 of Article 70(6))
The Bank's share capital was EUR 133,140,393.84 as at 31 
December 2021 and was divided into 31,928,152 ordinary 
registered no-par value shares with the symbol VLBN, each 
having the same share and appertaining amount of share 
capital.

Each share gives its holder the right to one vote at the 
bank's general meeting, the right to a portion of the bank's 
profit (dividend), and the right to participate in the bank's 
assets remaining after its liquidation or bankruptcy.

Sberbank Europe AG Vienna is a significant direct owner 
of the Bank's shares (31,926,442) in the sense of achieving a 
qualified holding (99.99%).

EXPLANATION RE. HOLDER OF SECURITIES CONFER-
RING SPECIAL CONTROLLING RIGHTS (point 4 of Article 
70(6) of the Companies Act)
The shares of Sberbank banka d.d. do not confer any spe-
cial controlling rights.

EXPLANATION RE. RESTRICTIONS ON VOTING RIGHTS, 
PARTICULARLY: (i) restrictions on voting rights relating to 
a certain proportion or a certain number of votes, and 
(ii) agreements whereby through the cooperation of the 
company, the financial rights arising from the securities 
are separated from the ownership of the securities (point 
6 of Article 70(6) of the Companies Act)
There are no restrictions on the voting rights pertaining 
to the shares of Sberbank banka d.d. outstanding as at 31 
December 2021.

EXPLANATION RE. (i) the company’s rules on the appo-
intment or replacement of members of the management 
or supervisory bodies; and (ii) amendments to Articles of 
Association (point 8 of Article 70(6) of the Companies Act)

Management Board
In accordance with the bank's Articles of Association, the 
chair and other members of the Management Board are 
appointed by the Supervisory Board. The chair and other 
Management Board members are appointed for a period 
of not more than five years, and may be re-elected. They 
may also be removed in accordance with the law. 

Supervisory Board
In accordance with the Articles of Association of Sberbank, 
d. d., members of the Supervisory Board representing the 
interests of shareholders are elected and recalled by the 
General Meeting, among the persons nominated by the 
shareholders or the Supervisory Board. The members 
of the Supervisory Board who represent the interests of 
workers are elected and recalled by the Bank's Workers' 
Council, taking into account the conditions for members 
of the Supervisory Board determined by regulations and 
the Articles of Association. If the Workers' Council does not 
elect its members to the Supervisory Board, the Supervisory 
Board operates with a reduced number of workers repre-
sentatives or without workers' representatives. At its first 
meeting after its appointment, the Supervisory Board elects 
the Chairperson and one or two Deputy Chairpersons from 
among its members. A member of the Supervisory Board 
who represents the interests of workers may not be elected 
chairperson or deputy chairperson of the Supervisory Bo-
ard. A majority of all members of the Supervisory Board is 
required for the appointment. In the event that he/she does 
not receive an absolute majority of votes in the first ballot, a 
second round of elections shall be held between the mem-
bers who received the most votes.

Members of the Supervisory Board are elected for a term 
of at least four years and may be re-elected. Each member 
may resign early with a notice period of three months.

Amendments to the Articles of Association
In accordance with the provisions of ZGD-1 and Article 39 
of the Articles of Association, a majority of at least three 
quarters of the represented share capital is required for the 
adoption and all amendments to the Articles of Association. 
Amendments are decided on the proposal of the Manage-
ment Board and with the consent of the Supervisory Board 
and at the request of shareholders whose total shares exce-
ed one twentieth of the share capital.

MANAGEMENT AUTHORISATIONS, PARTICULARLY 
AUTHORISATIONS TO ISSUE OR PURCHASE OWN SHA-
RES (point 9 of Article 70(6) of the Companies Act)
In accordance with the Companies Act, the General Meeting 
has not authorised the Bank’s management to purchase 
own shares.
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GENERAL MEETING TASKS AND AUTHORISATIONS, AND 
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The general meeting has authorisations as set out in the 
Companies Act, in the Banking Act and in the Bank’s Articles 
of Association. The General Meeting is a governance body 
of the Bank through which the Bank’s shareholders exercise 
their rights, among others the following:
• the adoption of the annual report,
• the appropriation of distributable profit,
• the appointment and removal of supervisory board 

members,
• the granting of a discharge to the members of manage-

ment and supervisory boards,
• measures to increase and reduce share capital,
• the dissolution and the changing of the legal status of the 

bank,
• the appointment of an auditor,
• amendments to the articles of association,
• other matters if so provided by the articles of association 

in accordance with the law or in other matters determi-
ned by the law.

In accordance with the Companies Act, the General Meeting 
is the highest body of the company. Shareholders exercise 
their rights relating to matters concerning the company 
at a General Meeting, where they can adopt fundamental 
and statutory decisions. Convening of the General Meeting 
is governed by the Bank's Articles of Association and the 
applicable regulations.

The Bank's General Meeting must be convened in the cases 
set out in the law or in the Bank’s Articles of Association, 
and when this is in the Bank's interest. As a rule, the General 
Meeting is convened at the place of the Bank’s registered 
office, but may be convened at another place determined 
by the convener. The General Meeting adopts resolutions 
by a simple majority of votes, unless the law or the Arti-
cles of Association provide for a higher majority or other  
conditions.

The General Meeting is convened by the Management Bo-
ard at its own initiative, or else at the request of the Supervi-
sory Board or at the request of the Bank’s shareholders who 
represent at least 5% of the Bank’s share capital. The Gene-
ral Meeting may be attended by all shareholders appearing 
in the share register at the end of the seventh day before 
the General Meeting, as well as their representatives and 
proxies who confirm their attendance at least by the end of 
the third day before the General Meeting.

COMPOSITION AND WORK OF MANAGEMENT AND 
SUPERVISORY BOARDS
Sberbank banka d.d. has a two-tier governance system in 
place with a Management Board and a Supervisory Board, 
in accordance with Article 34 of the Banking Act.

Management Board
The Management Board is the decision-making and re-
presentative body of the Bank. The Management Board 
manages the company independently by making business 
decisions, adopting development strategies, ensuring sou-
nd and effective risk management, acting with the highest 
degree of professional integrity, protecting business secrets 
and being responsible for compliance with the applicable 
regulations.

In accordance with its Articles of Association, the Bank’s 
Management Board may have from two to five members, 
one of whom is appointed its chair. The chair and other 
Management Board members are appointed for a period 
of not more than five years, and may be re-elected. They 
may also be removed in accordance with the law. Members 
of the Management Board must perform the tasks on the 
basis of a full-time employment contract. Only persons who 
meet the applicable conditions set out in the act governing 
banks and who obtain the license of the Bank of Slovenia or 
the European Central Bank may be appointed as members 
of the bank’s Management Board, as provided for in the 
Bank’s Articles of Association.

The Supervisory Board of Sberbank banka d.d. has adop-
ted the rules of procedure of the Management Board, which 
set out in greater detail how the Management Board must 
work.

Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board performs its work in accordance 
with the applicable laws governing banks and companies, 
the Bank’s Articles of Association and the rules of procedure 
of the Supervisory Board.

In accordance with the two-tier governance system in place 
in the Bank, as well as its responsibility for the supervision 
of the Management Board, the Supervisory Board among 
other things gives consent to the bank’s business and finan-
cial plans, as well as approves the strategy of the Bank and 
its Group, the system of internal controls and the annual 
work plan of the internal audit function. Avoiding conflict of 
interests, the Supervisory Board acts in accordance with the 
highest ethical standards of governance.
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In accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Associ-
ation, Supervisory Board has six members representing the 
interests of shareholders and three members representing 
the interests of workers. Members of the Supervisory Bo-
ard are elected for a term of at least four years and may 
be re-elected. The members of the Supervisory Board who 
represent the interests of workers are elected and recalled 
by the Bank's Workers' Council, taking into account the con-
ditions for members of the Supervisory Board determined 
by regulations and the Articles of Association. If the workers' 
council does not elect its members to the Supervisory Board, 
the Supervisory Board operates with a reduced number of 
workers' representatives or without workers' representa-
tives. Members of the Supervisory Board representing the 
interests of shareholders are elected by the General Mee-
ting. Only a person who meets the conditions for a member 
of the Bank's Supervisory Board under the law governing 
banking and who has obtained the authorization of the 
Bank of Slovenia / ECB may be appointed as a member of 
the Bank's Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board ado-
pts decisions at meetings of the Supervisory Board. Regular 
meetings of the Supervisory Board are held at least once a 
quarter. The Supervisory Board has a quorum if two thirds 
of its members are present, including the chairperson or, in 
the event of he/she is not present, one of his/her deputies 
and decides by a simple majority. In the event of an equal 
number of votes, the chairperson shall have the casting 
vote. Details on the work and method of voting are deter-
mined by the rules of procedure of the Supervisory Board, 
which are adopted by the Supervisory Board. 

Following the start of the war in Ukraine and associated 
sanctions to Russian entities, Sberbank banka d.d. ente-
red the resolution and recovery protocols in the final days 
of February 2022. On 2 March 2022 Sberbank bank d.d. 
changed its owner, as NLB d.d. entered in to the ownership 
structure by acquiring a 100% stake in Sberbank banka d.d. 
Following the change of ownership, on 11 April 2022, Share-
holder Meeting decided to rename the bank to N Banka d.d. 
and to appoint five new members of Supervisory Board i.e. 
Andrej Lasič (chairperson), Uršula Kovačič Košak (deputy 
chairperson), Vesna Vodopivec, Igor Zalar and Damir Ku-
der. Independent Supervisory Board member Nataša Pukl 
remained unchanged.

Supervisory Board committees
Supervisory Board committees are the consultative bodies 
of the Supervisory Board, as they discuss the materials and 

proposals prepared by the Management Board for the Su-
pervisory Board in their areas of responsibility.

A committee must be composed of at least three Supervi-
sory Board members. A committee may only be chaired by 
a Supervisory Board member. The chair, the deputy chair 
and members of a committee are appointed by the Super-
visory Board by means of a resolution. The chair, the deputy 
chair and members of a committee may be appointed for 
a period which is not longer than their term as Supervisory 
Board members.

The Supervisory Board of Sberbank banka d.d. has an audit 
committee and a risk committee, and carries out the tasks 
of the nomination committee and of the remuneration com-
mittee by itself. A committee cannot decide on the issues 
that are within the domain of the Supervisory Board.

The work of the Supervisory Board and its committees is 
governed by the rules of procedure of each of these bodies.

The composition and activities of Management and Su-
pervisory Boards in 2021 are presented in the section of the 
annual report dedicated to governance bodies.

DIVERSITY POLICY
The Bank has a policy in place applying to the selection 
of candidates for Management Board membership, which 
allows it to ensure that the Management Board, as a who-
le, has the appropriate knowledge, skills and experience 
necessary for an in-depth understanding of the bank's 
operation and risks. The policy stresses the importance of 
ensuring the diversity of Management Board members not 
only as regards their education, professional knowledge 
and skills, but also as regards their gender, experience in 
general and international experience in particular, as well 
as age and personal traits. The bank follows these princi-
ples in practice.

Management Board
The Supervisory Board has undertaken to ensure that there 
is at least one female member of the Management Board. 
This has been the case since 2014, and there has even been 
a period (from February 2018 to June 2019) when the Bank 
had two female members of the Management Board. In 
November 2020, the Supervisory Board appointed a new 
Management Board chair. Therefore, in year 2021, the 
Management Board was again composed of two female 
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BURDAKOVA Elena

Ljubljana, 21 April 2022

Management Board of N Banka d.d.

Heribert Fernau   Elena Burdakova Jana Benčina Henigman   
Member   Member   Chairperson

BENČINA HENIGMAN Jana

Supervisory Board of N Banka d. d.

Andrej Lasič
Chairperson of the Supervisory Board

members, which means that at the end of 2021 the gender 
ratio of female representation in the Board was 67%.

Supervisory Board
The emphasis as regards the composition of the Supervi-
sory Board is its professional diversity, which ensures that 
members’ knowledge and skills are complementary and 
that members are fit for membership in the various commi-
ttees of the Supervisory Board, while also aiming at having 
members with international experience and both younger 
and older members. Equally important is gender balance, 
for which reason the Supervisory Board ensures, through 

their selection and appointment procedures, a gender ratio 
of at least 20 % females to 80 % males. There are two fema-
le members in the actual six-member Supervisory Board, 
which demonstrates that the competent persons/bodies do 
follow the recommendation of the Supervisory Board.

By signing this statement, we undertake to continue our 
pro-active action aimed at enhancing and promoting an 
appropriate internal governance system and corporate in-
tegrity in the broader professional, financial, business and 
other circles.
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1.) On 2 February 2022, the National Assembly of the Repu-
blic of Slovenia passed a “Law on limitation and distribution 
of foreign exchange risk between creditors and borrowers 
concerning loan agreements in Swiss francs” (the »CHF 
Law«):

• The law entered into force on the 15th day following its 
publication in the Official Gazette of the Republic of Slo-
venia, i.e. on 26 February 2022.

• The CHF Law requires lenders to restructure consumer 
loans denominated in CHF or containing a currency cla-
use in CHF that were concluded between 28 June 2004 
and 31 December 2010. 

• Lenders are required to retroactively introduce an 
exchange rate cap clause in relation to all such loan agre-
ements concluded in the relevant period. 

• Such an exchange rate cap will be activated when the 
change in the exchange rate causes the actual credit 
balance to differ by more than 10% from the credit balan-
ce calculated based on the exchange rate applicable at 
the date of drawdown, Or the actual instalment to differ 
by more than 10% from the instalment calculated based 
on the exchange rate applicable at the date of drawdown.

• Any overpayment on such loans by borrowers, conside-
ring the exchange rate cap, shall be subject to default 
interest to be paid by the lender.

• Lenders are obliged to deliver new contractual documen-
tation and calculation to borrowers 60 days after the CHF 
Law comes into effect.

The bank is in the process of assessing the financial impact 
of the CHF Law. According to a preliminary assessment, and 
if the contemplated legal remedies fail, the bank expects a 
negative impact of around 3.4 percentage points on the 
total capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2022 com-
pared to 31 December 2021 (CAR ratio as at 31 December 
2021 was 18.73%, with the inclusion of the 2021 profit 19.75%), 
which is well above the regulatory required level (the mini-
mum regulatory requirement as at 31 December 2021 being 
14.20%).

The financial impact is still subject to further detailed 
analysis. 

Several provisions of the CHF Law raise concerns, among 
others, regarding their compliance with the Slovenian Con-
stitution and European rules, as it affects civil law contrac-
tual relationships retroactively. Also, several provisions are 

unclearly drafted and do not allow for a clear interpretation. 
In order to prevent the implementation of the potentially un-
constitutional CHF Law, the majority (9) of Slovenian banks, 
the bank included, within the Bank Association of Slovenia 
filed two separate petitions for the suspension and consti-
tutional review of the CHF Law. Both petitions were filed on 
the first business day following the day the CHF Law came 
into force, i.e. on 28 February 2022. The Bank of Slovenia, 
too, filed a petition for the constitutional review of the CHF 
law on 9 March 2022.  

On 14 March 2022, the Constitutional Court issued a unani-
mous decision on the suspension of the implementation of 
the CHF Law until its final decision on the constitutionality 
of the CHF Law.

The bank considers this event as a non-adjusting event 
after the reporting period.

2.) Due to the recent geopolitical situation concerning Ru-
ssia and Ukraine, Sberbank banka d.d. as a subsidiary of 
Sberbank Europe AG faced sanctions imposed by the Office 
of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC, US Treasury) on 24 Febru-
ary 2022.  
This caused a significant deterioration of customers' trust in 
the Sberbank group, resulting also in increased withdrawals 
and transfers of customers' assets.

The Single Resolution Board (SRB) determined on 27 Fe-
bruary 2022 that Sberbank Europe AG in Austria and its 
subsidiary in Slovenia (Sberbank banka d.d.) were failing or 
likely to fail due to a rapid deterioration in their liquidity situ-
ation, confirming the European Central Bank’s assessment. 
The SRB applied suspension of payments, enforcement and 
termination rights, known as a moratorium, to the bank. 

On 1 March 2022, the Bank of Slovenia adopted a resolution 
decision in respect of the sale of 100% of shares issued by 
Sberbank banka d.d. On the same day, the SRB decided 
to transfer all shares of the Slovenian subsidiary Sberbank 
banka d.d. to NLB d.d. 

On 2 March 2022, NLB acquired all the necessary approvals 
and immediately provided material liquidity support, thus 
taking away the uncertainty for Sberbank banka d.d. custo-
mers and strengthening the bank’s stability. 

Sberbank banka d.d. resumed operations after two days of 

Events after the balance sheet 
date
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closure, on 2 March 2022, continuing serving its clients. The 
changed ownership should cause no disruptions to deposi-
tors or clients. NLB is a well-established, robust and stable 
banking group. 

The remaining exposure of N banka d.d. (formerly Sber-
bank banka d.d.) to the Sberbank Group and Russian coun-
terparties accounts for around 1.5% of the bank’s total bank 
and non-bank loans, and could have an adverse impact on 
its capital adequacy ratio of up to 1.7% in the worst-case 
scenario.

The bank considers this event as a non-adjusting event 
after the reporting period and will remain a going concern 
institution.

3.) On 23 March 2022, N Banka d.d., Ljubljana received the 
Decision on the Preliminary Injunction of the District Court in 
Maribor (hereinafter: the Decision), by which court granted 
the creditor's proposal and secured the creditor's monetary 
claim in the amount of EUR 612,689.44 and ordered against 
the bank:
• attachment of a monetary claim in the bank's transaction 

account;
• pre-notation of a lien upon the debtor's immovable pro-

perty (owned by the bank);
• entry of a lien in the court register on the share of a com-

pany member in a company;
• attachment of movable property and the entry of atta-

chment in the register;
• entry of a lien in the central register of dematerialised 

securities on a dematerialised security.

The Bank lodged an Objection against the Decision and 
proposed to the Court that it annul the Decision in its en-
tirety, suspend the preliminary injunction proceedings and 
annul the actions taken. The Bank further filed a motion to 
limit preliminary injunctions under the Decision, which are 
disproportionate, and the stated reasons for issuing the 
Resolution undoubtedly were not given at all as the Bank's 
proper stability had already been restored.
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statements
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The management of the bank has approved the financial 
statements of the bank for the year ended 31 December 
2021, the applied accounting policies and the notes to the 
financial statements (pages 49 to 142).

The management of the bank is responsible for preparing 
the annual report, which gives a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the bank as at 31 December 2021 and 
the results of its operations for the year then ended. 

The management of the bank confirms that the applied 
accounting policies have been used on a consistent basis 
and that the accounting estimates have been made in com-
pliance with the principle of prudence. The management of 
the bank also confirms that the financial statements have 
been prepared on the assumption of a going concern and 
in compliance with the relevant legislation and International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU. 

The management is also responsible for the proper ma-
nagement of accounting, taking appropriate measures to 
protect the bank’s assets, and preventing and discovering 
fraud, other irregularities or illegal acts.

The tax authority is allowed to start a tax audit in five ye-
ars following the year when the tax return has to be filled. 
Consequently, additional tax liabilities, penalty interests 
and fines could arise in connection with income tax and 
other taxes. The management Board is not aware of any 
circumstances that could cause a material liability in this 
respect .

Statement of 
management’s  
responsibilities

BURDAKOVA Elena

Ljubljana, 21 April 2022

Management Board of N Banka d.d.

Heribert Fernau   Elena Burdakova Jana Benčina Henigman
Member   Member   Chairperson
  

BENČINA HENIGMAN Jana
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT  

To the Shareholder of N Banka d. d.  
 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of N Banka d. d. (hereinafter “the Bank”), which comprise the statement 
of financial position as of 31 December 2021, the income statement, the statement of other comprehensive income, 
the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Bank as of 31 December 2021 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.  

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA) and Regulation (EU) No. 
537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on specific requirements regarding 
statutory audit of public-interest entities (“Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and the 
Council. Our responsibilities under those rules are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board of Accountants’ (IESBA) International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Slovenia, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. For the matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report, including in relation to this matter. Accordingly, our audit included the performance 
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matter below, 
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.  
 
Credit risk and impairment of loans and advances to customers including impact of COVID-19 related 
pandemic  

The net outstanding amount of loans and advances to 
customers amounted to EUR 1,172 million and total 
accumulated impairment of loans and advances to 
customers amounted to EUR 42.7 million as of 31 
December 2021. The Impairment of loans and 
advances to customers is a highly subjective area due 
to the level of judgment applied by management in 
determining risk provisions specifically around 
expected credit losses (ECL), loss given default (LGD) 
and probability of default (PD) in case of Stage 1 and 
Stage 2. 
 
Mainly, higher risk is related to assessment of 
individual impairment for loans and advances to 

We understood and evaluated the processes 
identification of significant increase in credit risk or 
credit impairment triggers within the loan portfolios 
performed by the Bank, as well as the impairment 
assessment processes for loans and advances to 
customers.  
 
On a sample basis of performing loans with 
characteristics that might imply a credit impairment 
triggers had occurred, we assessed if the criteria for 
determining a credit impaired event had been fulfilled 
and therefore whether there was a requirement to 
calculate an impairment provisions by using Stage 3 
methodology.  
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customers in Stage 3, which are determined based on 
scenarios and their likelihood of occurrence.  In 
calculation of individual impairments, the Bank follows 
the approach where at least two scenarios are taken 
into account (gone and going), where in addition to 
these scenarios’ haircuts on collateral are applied as 
well as time value of money. Calculations are than 
approved by dedicated authority level. These 
scenarios contain assumptions and estimates related 
to identification of significant changes in credit risk, 
impairment triggers, probabilities of scenarios for cash 
flow forecasts and collateral realization, all containing 
high level of complexity and subjectivity. The Bank’s 
Stage 3 net outstanding amount of loans and advances 
to customers amounted to EUR 25.9 million and total 
accumulated impairment amounted to EUR 26.8 
million as of 31 December 2021. 
 
Impairment for loans and advances to customers in 
Stage 1 and Stage 2 are determined based on complex 
models and parameters used in those models (i.e. life 
time PD and LGD), identification of significant changes 
in credit risk, inclusion of forward-looking elements and 
segmentation of exposures), which all involve 
significant management assumptions and estimates. 
Stage 1 and Stage 2 combined net outstanding amount 
of loans and advances to customers amounted to EUR 
1,127 million and total impairment amounted to EUR 
15.8 million as of 31 December 2021  
   
The Bank updated its PD models at year end.. Updated 
PD models are based on projected macroeconomic 
variables, for example unemployment rate.  
 
For the calculation of loss given default (LGD), the 
bank developed a lifetime LGD model based on its 
historical data. LGD development methodology has 
changed in 2021. The outcome of modelling was LGD 
values significantly below the market average for Retail 
segment. To keep risk provisions coverage on 
acceptable levels, management overlay was applied 
for this segment. 
 
 
As impairment of loans and advances to customers are 
significant to understanding the financial statements as 
a whole and involve significant judgements, we 
conclude this to be a significant item for our audit and 
a key auditing matter. 

 
For a sample of Stage 3 individually impaired loans, we 
understood the latest developments at the borrower 
and the basis of measuring the impairment provisions 
and considered whether key judgments were 
appropriate given the borrowers’ circumstances. We 
also re-performed management’s impairment 
calculation for mathematical accuracy. In addition, we 
tested key inputs to the individual impairment 
calculation including the expected future cash flows 
and valuation of collateral held and discussed with 
management as to whether borrower’s individual 
impairment calculation was up to date and consistent 
with the strategy being followed in respect of the 
borrower and appropriate for the purpose.  
 
In respect of statistical models that are used for the 
estimation of credit risk related impairment losses of 
Stage 1 and Stage 2 exposures, we involved risk 
specialists to assess the methodology of key 
parameters (PD, LGD, EAD) is in accordance with 
IFRS 9. We also reviewed changes in risk models 
implemented in the current period compared to the 
prior period. We evaluated the application of the 
models through the recalculation for mathematical 
accuracy of credit risk related impairment losses, 
allowances and provisions defined by IFRS 9. We have 
also tested the days past due as calculated by the 
Bank’s IT system counter and its effect on the staging 
classification of the exposures as of 31 December 
2021. 
 
In connection with the new lifetime LGD models and 
changes to PD models, we involved risk specialists 
who evaluated the Bank’s PD models scenario 
weights, forward-looking PD estimates, forward-
looking LGD estimates with applied Bank specific 
mark-ups, and the staging model. Additionally, we 
confirmed significant independent variables used in PD 
models (for example unemployment rates) and LGD 
models (for example comparing Bank’s applied LGD 
values with EBA dashboard). We also evaluated the 
staging classification for significant borrowers under 
moratorium, including COVID-19 pandemic related 
effects and management overlays assumptions for 
retail LGD values (EBA dashboard).   
 
We assessed the adequacy of the Bank’s disclosures 
included in Significant accounting policies,  under 
sections Financial assets - classification and 
measurement, Subsequent measurement of financial 
assets, Financial instruments at amortised cost, Loans 
and receivables and Impairment, 5.1 - Credit risk, note 
10.3 – Loans and advances to customers, and note 34 
– Impairment and Provisions of the financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 
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Other information  

Other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and 
auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for the other information. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. In addition, we assess whether 
the other information has been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with applicable law or regulation, 
in particular, whether the other information complies with law or regulation in terms of formal requirements and 
procedure for preparing the other information in the context of materiality, i.e. whether any non-compliance with 
these requirements could influence judgments made on the basis of the other information. 
 

Based on the procedures performed, to the extent we are able to assess it, we report that: 

• The other information describing the facts that are also presented in the financial statements is, in all material 
respects, consistent with the financial statements; and  

• The other information is prepared in compliance with applicable law or regulation. 
 
In addition, our responsibility is to report, based on the knowledge and understanding of the Bank obtained in the 
audit, on whether the other information contains any material misstatement. Based on the procedures we have 
performed on the other information obtained, we have not identified any material misstatement. 
 
 
Responsibilities of management, audit committee and the supervisory board for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  

The audit committee and supervisory board are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.  

The supervisory board is responsible to approve the Annual Report. 
 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with audit rules, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;  

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Bank’s internal control;  
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• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management;  

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern;  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation;  

We communicate with the audit committee and the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the audit committee and the supervisory board with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related actions taken 
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the audit committee and the supervisory board, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters.  
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

OTHER REQUIREMENTS ON CONTENT OF AUDITOR’S REPORT IN COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATION (EU) 
NO. 537/2014 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL  
 

Appointment and Approval of Auditor 

We were appointed as auditors of the Bank at the general meeting of shareholders of Banka Sberbank d.d. on 6 
June 2018, the president of the supervisory board has signed the audit agreement on 20 September 2018. The 

agreement was signed for the period of 4 years. 
 
Total uninterrupted engagement period, including previous renewals (extension of the period for which we were 
originally appointed) and reappointments for the statutory auditor, has lasted for 10 years. Sanja Košir Nikašinovič 
and Simon Podvinski are certified auditors, responsible for the audit in the name of Ernst & Young d.o.o. 
 

Consistence with Additional Report to Audit Committee 

Our audit opinion on the financial statements expressed herein is consistent with the additional report to the audit 
committee of the Bank, which we issued on 20 April 2022.  

 

Non-audit Services 

No prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council were provided by us to Bank and we remain independent from Bank in conducting 
the audit.  

In addition to statutory audit services and services disclosed in the Annual Report and in the financial statements, 
no other services which were provided by us to the Bank and its controlled undertakings. 
 
 
 
 
Ljubljana, 22 April 2022 
 
 
 
 
Sanja Košir Nikašinovič                                                                                            Simon Podvinski 
Director, Certified auditor                                                                                          Certified auditor 
Ernst & Young d.o.o. 
Dunajska 111, Ljubljana 
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thousand EUR

  NOTES 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits at banks 6 456,153 478,693

Financial assets held for trading 7 3,461 6,636

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 8 472 3,494

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 9 73,881 111,000

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 10 1,171,942 1,222,340

Debt securities 10.1 13,385 0

Loans and advances to banks 10.2 4,726 21,471

Loans and advances to customers 10.3 1,152,573 1,200,012

Other financial assets 10.4 1,258 857

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 11 292 423

Tangible assets 12 11,644 12,557

- tangible assets 12 11,181 12,056

- investment property 12 463 501

Intangible assets 12 1,490 1,619

Tax assets 13 446 1,888

- current taxes 13 46 1,512

- deferred taxes 13 400 376

Other assets 14 776 546

TOTAL ASSETS  1,720,557 1,839,196

 

Financial liabilities held for trading 15 3,559 6,107

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 16 1,515,496 1,643,372

- deposits from banks and central banks 16.1 36,609 22,242

- deposits from non-bank customers 16.2 1,273,925 1,340,021

- loans from banks 16.3 190,617 216,974

- subordinated liabilities 16.4 0 52,010

- other financial liabilities 16.5 14,344 12,125

Provisions 16.6 3,577 4,061

Tax liabilities 17 2,116 57

- current tax liabilities 18 2,116 0

- deferred tax liabilities 18 0 57

Other Liabilities 18 1,127 1,140

TOTAL LIABILITIES 19 1,525,875 1,654,737

Statement of financial position 
(short scheme)
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thousand EUR

  NOTES 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Share capital 20 133,140 133,140

Share premium 20 27,248 27,248

Accumulated other comprehensive income 20 355 389

Reserves from profit 20 6 6

Retained earnings 20 23,676 22,711

Profit / loss for the year 20 10,257 965

TOTAL EQUITY 194,682 184,459

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  1,720,557 1,839,196

Note: The notes are an integral part of the financial statements (pages 57 to 142) and should be read in conjunction with them.
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Income statement    
(short scheme)

thousand EUR

 
NOTES

for the period 
from 1.1. to 

31.12.2021 

for the period 
from 1.1. to 
31.12.2020

Financial and operating income and expenses  43,158 43,216

Interest income 22 33,027           38,069

Interest income recognised at effective interest rate 22 30,507 35,269

Interest income not recognised at effective interest rate 22 2,520 2,800

Interest expenses 22 -7,149 -7,633

Net interest income 22 25,877 30,437

Dividend income 23 24 24

Fee and commission income 24 16,991 14,270

Fee and commission expense 24 -2,991 -2,460

Net fee and commission income 24 14,000 11,810

Realised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair 
value through profit or loss 25 -14 -19

Net gains/losses from financial assets and liabilities held for trading 26 -109 496

Net gains/losses from non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value 
through profit or loss 27 2,246 -366

Exchange differences 28 819 320

Gains and losses on derecognition of assets other then held for sale 29 -8 76

Other operating net income 30 308 518

Administrative expenses 31 -27,387 -26,645

Costs related to payments to the Slovenian Resolution Fund and the Deposit 
Guarantee Scheme 31 -1,731 -1,618

Amortization and depreciaton 32 -2,367 -2,349

Modification gains or losses, net 33 14 -80

Provisions 34 470 -99

Impairment 34 441 -11,385

TOTAL PROFIT BEFORE TAX 35 12,583 1,119

Tax expense related to profit and loss 35 -2,326 -154

TOTAL PROFIT AFTER TAX 35 10,257 965

NET PROFIT OR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 35 10,257 965

     

Basic earnings per share 20 0.32 0.03

Diluted earnings per share 20 0.32 0.03

The notes are an integral part of the financial statements (pages 57 to 142) and should be read in conjunction with them..



N Banka d. d.  |  ANNUAL REPORT 202152

Statement of  
comprehensive income  

thousand EUR

 
for the period 

from 1.1. to 
31.12.2021

for the period 
from 1.1. to 
31.12.2020

NET PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR AFTER TAX 10,257 965

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AFTER TAX -34 483

ITEMS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS 59 249

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pensions plans 190 220

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other compre-
hensive income -140 69

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 9 -40

ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS -93 233

Gains (losses) on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income -115 288

Gains/(losses) from changes in fair value -96 296

Changes in allowance for expected credit losses 4 -22

Reclassification to the income statement -23 14

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 22 -55

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR AFTER TAX 10,223 1,447
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Statement of changes in equity for the period 
from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2021

thousand EUR

ITEM DESCRIPTION
Share 

Capital
Share 

premium

Accumulated 
other  

comprehensive 
income

Re-
serves 

from 
profit

Retained ear-
nings (including 

profit from the 
current year) Total equity

OPENING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 133,140 27,248 389 6 23,676 184,459

Comprehensive income for the 
financial year after tax *   -34  10,257 10,223

CLOSING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 133,140 27,248 355 6 33,933 194,682

Note:
*As a rule, the Bank shows the transfer of the realized effect from derecognition of investments in equity financial instruments, measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings / loss.
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Statement of changes in equity for the  
period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2020 

thousand EUR

ITEM DESCRIPTION
Share 

Capital
Share 

premium

Accumulated other 
comprehensive 

income
Reserves 

from profit

Retained  
earnings  

(including profit 
from the  

current year) Total equity

OPENING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 133,140 27,248 -94 6 22,711 183,011

Comprehensive income for the 
financial year after tax *   483  965 1,448

CLOSING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 133,140 27,248 389 6 23,676 184,459

Note:
*As a rule, the Bank shows the transfer of the realized effect from derecognition of investments in equity financial instruments, measured at fair value through other compre-
hensive income from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings / loss.
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Statement of cash flows   
(indirect method)

thousand EUR

AMOUNT

NOTES ITEM DESCRIPTION

for the period 
from 1.1. to 

31.12.2021

for the period 
from 1.1. to 
31.12.2020

1 2 3 4

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

a) Total profit or loss before tax 12.583 1.119

Depreciation 1.661 1.637

Impairments / (reversal of impairments) of financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 4 -11

Impairments / (reversal of impairments) of financial assets held to maturity -576 11.232

Impairments of tangible assets, investment property, intangible fixed assets and 
other assets 0 10

Impairments of capital investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture 131 165

Net (gains) / losses from exchange differences -820 -320

Net (gains) / losses from sale of tangible assets and investment properties -10 -9

Other (gains) / losses from investing activities -24 -24

Other (gains) / losses from financing activities 1.735 1.818

Unrealised (gains) / losses from financial assets measured at fair value that are 
component of cash equivalents" -1.039 962

Other adjustments to total profit or loss before tax -504 -198

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in operating assets and 
liabilities 13.141 16.361

b) (Increases) / decreases in operating assets (excl.cash ˛cash equivalents) 107.274 163.873

Net (increase) / decrease in financial assets held for trading 1.039 -8

Net (increase) / decrease in financial assets designated at fair value through profit 
or loss 3.903 623

Net (increase) / decrease in financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 36.979 12.491

Net (increase) / decrease in financial assets measured at amortised cost 65.819 149.787

Net (increase) / decrease in other asset -466 980

c) (Increases) / decreases in operating liabilities -77.129 -30.958

Net (increase) / decrease in deposits, loans and receivables measured  
a amortised cost -79.336 -29.957

Net (increase) / decrease in other liabilities 2.207 -1.001

č) Cash flow from operating activities  (a+b+c) 43.286 149.296

d) Income taxes (paid) refunded 1.466 -3.290

e) Net cash flow from operating activities  (č+d) 44.752 146.006
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thousand EUR

AMOUNT

NOTES ITEM DESCRIPTION

for the period 
from 1.1. to 

31.12.2021

for the period 
from 1.1. to 
31.12.2020

1 2 3 4

B. CASHFLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

a) Receipts from investing activities 107 563

Receipts from the sale of tangible assets and investment properties 83 539

Other receipts from investing activities 24 24

b) Cash payments on investing activities -14.704 -1.261

(Cash payments to acquire tangible assets and investment properties) -618 -747

(Cash payments to acquire intangible fixed assets) -641 -514

(Cash payments to acquire debt securities measured at amortized cost) -13.445 0

c) Net cash flow from investing activities  (a-b) -14.597 -698

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

a) Cash proceeds from financing activities

b) Cash payments on financing activities -53.735 -1.818

(Cash repayments of subordinated liabilities) -52.000 0

(Other cash payments related to financial activities) -1.735 -1.818

c) Net cash flow from financing activities -53.735 -1.818

D. Effects of change in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 1.039 -962

E. Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  -23.580 143.490

F. Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents 478.694 336.166

G. Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents  456.153 478.694
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1. Introduction
N Banka d.d. (formerly Sberbank d.d.), Dunajska cesta 128 a, 
1000 Ljubljana, is a public interest company and prepared 
its annual report in accordance with International Financial 
Accounting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European 
Union, and the “Regulation on the books of account and 
annual reports of banks and savings banks”. In forming its 
accounting policies, the bank also considered other legisla-
tion, such as the “Regulation on the assessment of credit risk 
losses of banks and savings banks”, and other regulations 
and instructions issued by the Bank of Slovenia.

The bank’s majority owner as at 31 December 2021 was 
Sberbank Europe AG, Schwarzenbergplatz 3, 1010 Vienna, 
Austria, which in turn is consolidated within Sberbank of 
Russia, 19 Vavilova Street, Moscow, 117997, Russia. The 
consolidated financial statements are available for viewing 
on their web page. On 1 March 2022, the Bank of Slovenia 
adopted a resolution decision in respect of the sale of 100% 
of shares issued by Sberbank banka d.d. On the same day, 
the SRB decided to transfer all shares of the Slovenian sub-
sidiary Sberbank banka d.d. to NLB d.d. (Note: Events after 
the balance sheet date).

All financial statements and tables included in the annual 
report were prepared based on matrix reporting to the 
Bank of Slovenia (BS1S and IVD reports). To allow compara-
bility between the current year values and the previous year 
values, we used the same basis also for 2021.

Financial statements were audited by Ernst & Young, d.o.o., 
Ljubljana, which issued an opinion on page 50 of this annu-
al report.
The financial statements represent the statement of finan-
cial position as at 31 December 2021, the income statement 

for the financial year 2021, the statement of comprehensive 
income for the financial year 2021, the statement of changes 
in equity for the financial year 2021, statement of cash flow 
and comparable data for the financial year 2020 and as at 
31 December 2020.

2. Significant accounting 
policies 
The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the fi-
nancial statements are fully compliant with IFRS as adopted 
by the European Union, and the bank's internal policies and 
based on the going concern assumption.

The policies presented were consistently applied to both 
years presented, unless otherwise stated. Where necessary, 
comparative information has been restated to ensure com-
parability with the current period.

The financial statements comprise the statement of financi-
al position, income statement, statement of other compre-
hensive income, statement of changes in equity, cash flow 
statement and notes to the financial statements.

The data in the financial statements are generally expres-
sed in thousands of euros, and the reporting currency is 
euros (EUR). The tables shown may contain differences in 
rounding. 

Changes in financial data
In 2021, the item cash, balances with central banks and de-
mand deposits with banks includes the collateral provided 
for the derivatives portfolio in an amount of EUR 6,480 tho-
usand, which, in 2020, was included under loans to banks in 
an amount of EUR 5,720 thousand. 

Notes to financial  
statements

thousand EUR

31. 12. 2021
Previous  

presentation
Present  

presentation Change

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand 
deposits at banks 449,673 456,153 6,480

Loans and advances to Banks 11,206 4,726 -6,480
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Statement of compliance
The financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the European Union. 

Basis of measurement
Financial statements are prepared on the going concern 
assumption and cost based model, apart of valuation of 
investment property and financial assets held for trading, 
which are measured at fair value, and valuation of financial 
assets not held for trading and fair value measurement, and 
valuation of financial assets, measured at amortized cost.

Use of estimates and judgements
Preparation of the financial statements requires manage-
ment to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and the repor-
ted amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The 
actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, 
and in any future periods affected.

Estimates were made in relation to loan impairment, provi-
sions for off-balance sheet risks (Note: Impairment), amor-
tisation/depreciation period of intangible assets/property, 
plant and equipment (Note: Property, Plant and Equipment 
and Intangible Assets), and provisions for employee bene-
fits and pending lawsuits (Note: Provisions).

Judgements were made in relation to loan impairment 
(LGD modelling) where the management overlay was used 
(Note: Impairment) and with regards to the passed “Law on 
limiting and distributing currency risk among creditors and 
borrowers of loans in Swiss francs”  on the 2.2.2022 the Bank 
considers this event as a non-adjusting event after the re-
porting period (Note: Events after the Balance sheet date”).

Going concern assumption
The bank has strong capital adequacy. Following the 
adoption on 2 February 2022 of the “ Law on limitation and 
distribution of foreign exchange risk between creditors and 
borrowers concerning loan agreements in Swiss francs 
”, the bank made a preliminary capital adequacy impact 
assessment which resulted in capital adequacy ratio well 
above the regulatory required level. 

Due to the recent geopolitical situation concerning Russia 
and Ukraine, Sberbank banka d.d. as a subsidiary of Sber-
bank Europe AG faced sanctions imposed by the Office of 
Foreign Assets Control (OFAC, US Treasury) on 24 February 
2022. This caused a significant deterioration of customers' 

trust in the Sberbank group, resulting also in increased 
withdrawals and transfers of customers' assets. 

The Single Resolution Board (SRB) determined on 27 Fe-
bruary 2022 that Sberbank Europe AG in Austria and its 
subsidiary in Slovenia (Sberbank banka d.d.) were failing or 
likely to fail due to a rapid deterioration in their liquidity situ-
ation, confirming the European Central Bank’s assessment. 
The SRB applied suspension of payments, enforcement and 
termination rights, known as a moratorium, to the bank. 

On 1 March 2022, the Bank of Slovenia issued a decision, to 
issue a resolution tool in respect of the sale of 100% shares 
issued by Sberbank banka d.d. On the same day SRB deci-
ded to transfer all shares of the Slovenian subsidiary Sber-
bank banka d.d. to NLB d.d. On 2 March 2022, NLB acquired 
all the necessary approvals and immediately provided 
material liquidity support, thus taking away the uncertainty 
for Sberbank banka d.d. customers and strengthening the 
bank’s stability. Sberbank banka d.d. resumed operations 
and opened after two days of closure, on 2 March 2022, 
continuing serving its clients.

The changed ownership should cause no disruptions to de-
positors or clients are envisaged. NLB is a well-established, 
robust and stable banking group (Note: Events after the 
Balance sheet date). 

N Banka d.d. (formerly Sberbank banka d.d.) will remain a 
going concern institution.

Fair value measurement
The bank has considered the impact of economic and mar-
ket disruptions on the fair value assumptions, the approp-
riateness of the valuation inputs and the classification of 
exposures in the fair value hierarchy. There was no redu-
ction in the availability of quoted prices for equity and debt 
securities, so no reclassification between levels was done in 
2021 and there was no significant impact on the fair value 
measurement of the bank’s assets due to Covid-19.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The management board assessed non-financial assets 
for indicators of impairment. No impairment losses were 
recognised on these assets.

Recoverability of deferred tax
The bank recognised deferred tax assets of EUR 400 
thousand, which relate to non-deductible provisions for 
employee benefits, investment reliefs and impairment of 
capital investment. Based on the management’s forecast of 
future taxable profits, tax assets are fully recoverable.
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Definition of the Group
The Group consists of N Banka d.d. (previously Sberbank 
d.d.) as parent, and Privatinvest, d.o.o., as subsidiary (100% 
owned by the parent).

The bank’s equity investment in the subsidiary is recognised 
at costs in its financial statements.

In accordance with Article 7 of the “Regulation on the super-
vision of banks and savings banks on a consolidated basis” 
and due to its insignificance for the financial position of the 
N Banka Group, Privatinvest was excluded from consolida-
tion. The bank meets the IAS 27 requirements regarding the 
exception from consolidation.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in euro, which is the 
bank's functional and presentation currency. All financial 
information presented in EUR is rounded in thousand EUR. 

Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are translated to the functio-
nal currency at the relevant exchange rates on the transa-
ction date. Foreign exchange differences are recognised in 
profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment 
The bank uses the cost model, under which an item of pro-
perty, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumu-
lated depreciation, and impaired only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment.

Depreciation of an item of property, plant and equipment 
begins when it is available for use. It is then depreciated 
using the straight-line method over its useful life. This is the 
period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by 
the bank, and is the following:

• buildings up to 40 years
• computer equipment from 3 to 5 years
• motor vehicles from 4 to 8 years
• other equipment from 2 to 10 years

Periods of useful life in 2021 did not change compared to 
year 2020.

Land is recognised separately from buildings. Its useful life 

is unlimited and it is therefore not depreciated. 

In case of co-ownership of offices, the value of the apperta-
ining land is included in the cost of such offices.

On an annual basis, the bank reviews assets to check for 
indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the 
bank estimates the recoverable amounts of such assets. If 
that is lower than the initial costs minus accumulated depre-
ciation, impairment of such an asset is needed. Recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised 
on disposal or when no further benefits are expected from 
them.

On disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, the 
difference between the asset’s net sales value and its book 
value is recognised in gains and losses on derecognition. 

Investment property
Investment property is property not used directly by the 
bank in its business, but held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation. Investment property is stated at fair value 
determined by a certified appraiser. Fair value is based 
on current market prices. Any gain or loss arising from a 
change in fair value is recognised in the income statement. 
If there is a change in use due to the commencement of 
owner occupation, investment property is transferred to 
owner occupied property.

Intangible assets
The bank uses the cost model for measuring intangible 
assets. After initial recognition, intangible assets are amor-
tised. They are impaired only if there is an indication of 
impairment. Intangible assets comprise computer software 
and licences. An item of intangible assets is amortised using 
the straight-line method. Items of intangible assets are 
derecognised on disposal or when no further benefits are 
expected from them. At this point, amortisation stops.

Intangible assets are amortised over their useful life. This 
is the period of time over which an asset is expected to be 
used by the bank, and is the following:
• licences from 4 to 10 years
• software up to 4 years.
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Periods of useful life in 2021 did not change compared to 
year 2020.

On an annual basis, the bank reviews assets to check for in-
dication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the bank 
estimates the recoverable amount of such assets. If that is 
lower than the initial cost, impairment of such an asset is 
needed. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use.

The bank does not have intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life, which would require impairment testing on an 
annual basis.

Financial assets

Classification and measurement  
In line with the implementation of the accounting standard 
IFRS 9, the bank has reclassified financial assets and lia-
bilities as at 1 January 2018 into new categories based on 
the business model used and contractual cash flows chara-
cteristics. For each business segment, the bank determined 
whether the business model was to collect contractual cash 
flows from or also sell financial assets to obtain liquidity. 
The business segment responsible for the trading book was 
assigned to the business model “sell”.

For the purpose of classifying financial instruments into new 
categories envisaged by IFRS 9, the business model analysis 
was complemented by the SPPI contractual cash flow test 
(»SPPI test«). To this end, the bank developed processes and 
tools for portfolio analyses, i.e. for assessing whether con-
tractual cash flows characteristics allow for measurement 
at amortised cost (“held-to-collect” portfolio) or at fair value 
through comprehensive income (“held-to-collect and sell” 
portfolio), or – in the case of a failed SPPI test – require the 
financial asset to be mandatorily measured at fair value 
through profit and loss.

The analysis is carried out by contract or by product group 
formed in view of product characteristics, and using in-
ternal questionnaires and tools in compliance with IFRS 9 
requirements.

The bank would reclassify a financial asset only if it chan-
ges the business model for managing financial assets. In 
principle, a business model will not be changed after the 
initial recognition (which was also the case in 2021). Possi-

ble reclassifications are explained in the bank’s internal  
policies.

The bank grants all loans with the objective to collect con-
tractual cash flows. For debt securities, it would use one of 
the following business models:
• to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual 

cash flows from them;
• to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual 

cash flows from and sell them;
• to hold financial assets for trading in order to realise cash 

flows through their sale.

The bank has all its debt securities classified into the “hold 
and sell” and “hold” business model.

For loans, the SPPI test is performed in the sales department. 
The bank would grant standardised loans to private in-
dividuals, as well as to micro and small legal entities. The 
test was performed for all the existing contract types, and 
will be performed in the future for any new contract type. 
Loans granted to medium-sized and large companies are 
not standardised, and the test has to be performed for each 
contract. If the test result is negative, the financial asset is 
classified into the “mandatorily at fair value through profit 
and loss” category.

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if both of 
the following conditions are met:
• the asset is held within a business model whose objective 

is to hold the assets in order to collect contractual cash 
flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstan-
ding.

All loans are recognised at amortised cost, except the ones 
that fail the SPPI test. Interest income on impaired financial 
assets at amortised cost is recognised if the bank expects to 
recover such assets or upon their recovery.

Sales may occur within the business model whose objective 
is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, 
provided:
• they occur due to an increase in the assets’ credit risk; or
• they do not require derecognition of the financial asset, 

e.g. repo transactions or securitisation;
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• they are not greater than 10% of the carrying value of 
the relevant portfolio at the end of the previous annual 
reporting period (even if frequent); or

• they occur close to the assets’ maturity; or
• they are infrequent. 

Financial assets at amortised cost include also the item 
“Other financial assets”: these are receivables for fees outsi-
de the scope of calculation of amortised cost of financial 
assets, accrued income for banking products, receivables 
for financial assets sold, trade receivables and receivables 
from business relationships.

Financial assets are classified and measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income if both of the fol-
lowing conditions are met:
• the asset is held within a business model whose objective 

is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling financial assets;

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount  
outstanding.

This portfolio includes both equity and debt securities. The 
bank made an irrevocable election at initial recognition of 
the majority of debt and equity securities to present sub-
sequent changes in their fair value in other comprehensive 
income. Subsequent to their initial recognition, financial as-
sets at fair value through other comprehensive income are 
re-measured at their fair value. As quoted prices in markets 
would not always reflect the fair value of a debt security, 
the bank uses valuation models, taking account of relevant 
interest rate swap curves and credit spreads. The latter are 
determined based on comparable bonds with the same 
maturity. For non-quoted equity securities, the bank uses 
appropriate models to determine their fair value.

A fair value change in a financial asset at fair value thro-
ugh other comprehensive income is recognised directly 
in the statement of other comprehensive income. When a 
financial asset is derecognised, the previously recognised 
gain or loss on it is recognised in profit or loss or in other 
comprehensive income for debt instruments, but remains 
recognised in other comprehensive income for equity in-
struments. Interest is accrued monthly and recognised in 
profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. Dividends 
on equity instrument are recognised in profit or loss or in 

other comprehensive income.

Financial assets not held in one of the two business models 
mentioned above are measured at fair value through profit 
or loss or through other comprehensive income. This cate-
gory contains financial assets held for trading and those 
that are, upon initial recognition, designated by the bank as 
at fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset is classi-
fied as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principal-
ly for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term 
or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments 
that are managed together and for which there is evidence 
of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking.

In general, all derivatives are classified as held for trading, 
unless designated as hedging instruments. Subsequent 
to their initial recognition, derivatives are measured and 
recognised at fair value, which is the price quoted in an 
active market or calculated using valuation models, taking 
account of relevant interest rate swap curves and credit 
spreads. The latter are determined based on comparable 
bonds with the same maturity. The bank includes realised 
and unrealised gains and losses in profit or loss, under the 
item “Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities 
held for trading”. Interest on trading instruments is accrued 
at least monthly and recognised in profit or loss under the 
item “Interest income/expenses”.

Loans and debt securities that fail the SPPI test are classi-
fied in financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 
through profit or loss.
 
Investments in equity instruments, for which the bank did 
not make an irrevocable election at initial recognition to 
presents subsequent changes in fair value in other com-
prehensive income, are mandatorily measured at fair value 
through profit or loss.

In case of the modification of the contractual cash flows, the 
Bank assesses whether the terms have changed to such an 
extent that the Bank is required to derecognise the financial 
asset in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9.

To assess the significance of the modification, the indicators 
such as, reason for change of terms, whether the change 
affects the outcome of the SPPI test and the value of the mo-
dification of the contractual provisions,  are considered. If a 
change in contractual cash flows results in derecognition, 
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the new financial asset is recognized at fair value, however, 
if the change in contractual cash flows does not result in 
derecognition, the Bank records a modification gain or loss 
that are discounted using the original effective interest rate.
The bank derecognises financial assets when the contra-
ctual rights to the cash flows from them expire or the bank 
transfers them, together with all the risks and rewards of 
ownership. A regular way purchase or sale is recognised 
using the trade date accounting, with the trade date being 
the date when the entity commits itself to purchase or sell 
an asset. The bank derecognises financial liabilities when its 
contractual obligations expire, are discharged or cancelled, 
and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.

The bank writes off financial assets when it can no longer 
reasonably expect to recover them entirely or partially. 
Recovered amounts are recognised as income.from write-
-offs A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets are impaired based on the provisions and 
criteria:
• laid down in the bank's policy of assessment of credit risk 

losses, and
• applicable to the measurement of financial instruments 

at fair value.

Specifics in the case of an inactive market
If the transaction price of a financial instrument in an ina-
ctive market significantly differs from the fair value of the 
same instrument in another comparable market, or if the 
transaction price significantly differs from the price based 
on a valuation model, which takes into account assumpti-
ons of an active market, the bank immediately recognises 
the difference between the transaction price and the fair 
value in the income statement, under net gains and losses 
from trading as the “day one” profit or loss. If the market 
price is irrelevant, the difference between the transaction 
price and the price based on a valuation model is recogni-
sed in the income statement only when the market becomes 
relevant or when the instrument is sold.

Measurement of financial instruments at fair 
value
In accordance with IFRS 9 financial instruments classified 
into the “sell” or “held-to-collect and sell” business model 
are measured at fair value.  In the case of financial instru-
ments held to collect contractual cash flows from them and 

the failed SPPI test – require the financial asset to be man-
datorily measured at fair value through profit and loss.

Fair value is based on the asset's quoted market price in 
an active market at the balance sheet date. If this is not 
available, the bank establishes the fair value by using the 
discounted cash flow or pricing models.

Financial assets classified into the “sell” business model 
are mandatorily measured through profit and loss whereas 
assets classified into the “held-to-collect and sell” business 
model are measured through other comprehensive income.

Financial instruments at amortised cost
In accordance with IFRS 9, a financial asset is measured at 
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 
the financial asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contra-
ctual cash flows, and the contractual terms of the financial 
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. Loans and debt securities that fail the SPPI test 
are classified as financial assets mandatorily at fair value. 
Impairment of financial assets is done in line with internal 
credit risk policy and is recognised in the income statement.
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Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives, including currency futures/forward contracts, 
currency options, interest rate swaps and futures/forward 
contracts relating to securities, are used by the bank for 
trading and hedging purposes. They are measured at fair 
value (market prices), with changes in fair value recognised 
in the income statement.

Loans and receivables
All loans and receivables are primarily allocated to the busi-
ness model aimed at collecting contractual cash flows, and 
as a result recognised at amortised cost other than the ones 
that fail the SPPI test. They are recognised at the principal 
outstanding, increased by interest and fees accrued, and 
reduced to account for allowances, in accordance with the 
bank's policy of assessment of credit risk losses.
 
The bank assesses on an ongoing or at least quarterly ba-
sis whether there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and whether such events affect the 
cash flows from the asset that can be reliably estimated. 
Such evidence could include the following: a debtor's failure 
to make payments when due, a debtor's imminent ban-
kruptcy, compulsory settlement or financial reorganisation, 
etc.
 
Impairment loss is measured as the difference between a 
financial asset's carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated cash flows discounted at the asset's original 
effective interest rate. In case of first-class collateral, cash 
flows from taking possession of such collateral are also 
included if credit enhancement does not need to be spe-
cifically recognized in accordance with the requirements of 
other IFRS The asset's carrying amount is reduced directly 
or through the allowance account. Impairment loss is 
recognised in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss relating to a financial asset decreases, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed in the income sta-
tement.

If possible, the bank prefers to restructure loans rather than 
to take possession of collateral. Loan restructuring invol-
ves extending payment agreements and collaboration on 
achieving new terms, which are acceptable for both parties. 
Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no lon-

ger considered past due, but client’s rating cannot improve 
only based on restructuring. The bank constantly monitors 
the compliance with the terms of restructured loans and at 
the same time monitors the likelihood of future repayments. 
Restructured loans continue to be subject to an individual 
or collective impairment assessment, calculated on the ba-
sis of the original effective interest rate of the loan.

Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid assets that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash equivalents include:
• cash and balances in the settlement account with the cen-

tral bank and in the current accounts with other banks;
• loans to banks with an original maturity of up to three 

months; and
• investments in debt securities issued by the Member Sta-

tes or their central banks or the European Central Bank 
with an original maturity of up to three months.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities comprise liabilities to clients for the 
deposits made, liabilities to creditors for the loans granted, 
liabilities from securities issued, and other liabilities.

Financial liabilities are recognised at the amounts arising 
from the relevant documents, which evidence the receipt 
of cash, and are measured at amortised cost. They are 
increased by accrued interest/returns and reduced by the 
amounts paid.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised in the statement of financial 
position if the bank has a present obligation (legal or con-
structive) as a result of a past event; and if it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation, which can be reliably 
estimated. The bank has provisions for employee benefits 
(severance and similar), off-balance sheet liabilities, pen-
ding lawsuits, etc.

The bank has provisions for retirement and anniversary 
benefits that reflect the net present value of its future obliga-
tions. These are calculated for each employee by estimating 
the costs of his or her retirement bonus as laid down in the 
employment contract, and the costs of all his or her anniver-
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sary bonuses until retirement. For the N Banka d.d. (formerly 
Sberbank banka d.d.), a certified actuary calculates such 
future obligations for long-term employee benefits. 

The bank recognises provisions for off-balance sheet liabi-
lities when the conditions are met as laid down in the bank's 
policy of assessment of credit risk losses.

Financial and operating income and expenses
Financial and operating income and expenses are recogni-
sed if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow 
to/from the bank, and if they can be measured reliably.

Interest income and expenses
Interest income and expenses for all financial instruments 
measured at amortised cost and financial assets measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income are 
recognised in the income statement for all interest-bearing 
instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest 
rate method.

Interest income on all trading assets and financial assets 
mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss is recogni-
sed using the contractual interest rate. The effective interest 
method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fi-
nancial asset or liability, and of allocating its interest income 
or expenses over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future 
flow of cash payments or receipts through the expected 
life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, in a 
shorter period, to the carrying amount of the financial asset 
or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest 
rate, an entity shall estimate cash flows considering all con-
tractual terms of the financial instrument but not future cre-
dit losses. The calculation includes all payments or receipts 
between parties to the contract (interest, fees, transaction 
costs, etc.)

 Interest income is calculated by applying the effective in-
terest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial assets 
other than credit-impaired assets. 

Dividends
Dividend income comprises dividends and shares of profit 
arising from the bank's equity investments. Dividend income 
is recognised in the income statement on the date when the 
bank’s right to receive payment is established.

Fees and commissions
Fee and commission income comprises the amounts char-
ged by the bank for the services provided, in accordance 
with the bank's tariff or contracts between the bank and its 
clients.

Fee and commission expenses comprise the amounts paid 
by the bank for the services provided by others, in accor-
dance with the contracts between the bank and such third 
persons.

Fee and commission income and expenses are recognised 
in the income statement when the service is completed.

Income and expenses from financial  
transactions
Income and expenses from financial transactions comprise 
realised gains or losses from financial assets not measured 
at fair value through profit of loss, and gains or losses from 
trading in equity and debt securities and derivatives mea-
sured at fair value through profit or loss.

Other operating income and expenses
Other operating income and expenses comprise rentals for 
offices leased out, and other operating income, as well as 
duties, membership fees and other operating expenses.

Impairment
The new expected credit losses model under IFRS 9 is appli-
ed to loans and debt securities measured at amortised 
cost, financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, and off-balance sheet instruments 
bearing credit risk (guarantees, loan commitments). In this 
regard, these instruments are classified upon initial recogni-
tion in stage 1, stage 2 or stage 3 according to their credit 
quality:
• Stage 1 includes newly issued or acquired credit 

exposures, exposures for which credit risk has not signi-
ficantly increased since initial recognition and exposures 
having low credit risk;

• Stage 2 includes credit exposures that, although perfor-
ming, have seen their credit risk significantly increase sin-
ce initial recognition (increase of credit risk is identified by 
various triggers: SICR (Significant Increase in Credit Risk) 
flag, Rating 25, Watchlist flag, Forbearance flag, dpd>30, 
collective assessment);

• Stage 3: includes impaired credit exposures. A special 
category within Stage 3 are credit impaired assets (POCI).
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At initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month 
expected credit losses. Lifetime expected losses are recogni-
sed for all financial instruments for which there have been 
significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition. 
The measurement base is lifetime expected credit losses.

Collective impairment losses are calculated for all financial 
assets from Stage 1 and Stage 2, as well as for those from 
Stage 3 that fall below the internally determined materiality 
threshold. They are calculated by multiplying the exposure 
at default by the probability of default and the loss given de-
fault, and discounting the result using the original effective 
interest rate of the financial asset. In calculation of indivi-
dual impairments we follow approach where at least two 
scenarios are taken into account (gone and going), where 
in addition haircuts on collateral is applied as well as time 
value of money. Calculations are than approved by dedica-
ted authority level.

For the calculation of probability of default (PD), the bank 
developed new models for the different customer segments: 
for private individuals and micro entities the approach was 
based on migration matrices, and for other legal entities on 
adjusted IRB models. The so obtained PDs are then used in 
the 12-month ECL calculation and in the lifetime ECL calcu-
lation.

For the calculation of loss given default (LGD), the bank 
developed a lifetime LGD model based on its historical 
data. The LGD calculation methodology changed in 2021. 
LGD values deviated significantly from the market average 
for the retail segment (private individuals and micro com-
panies), for which reason the management overlay was 
used for this segment with LGD values taken from the EBA 
Risk dashboard. LGD values for the non-retail segment 
were also compared to the EBA Risk dashboard, and the 
analysis showed that modelled LGD values are sufficiently 
conservative so as not to require the management overlay. 
Compared to the LGD values calculated in accordance with 
the old methodology, the new LGD values for the non-retail 
segment are lower for the uncollateralised part and higher 
for the collateralised part of exposures. The new LGD va-
lues for the collateralised part of exposures are calculated 
for all collaterals together, while the old LGD values were 
calculated separately for the different types of collateral. 
The new LGD values for the retail segment are lower for the 
uncollateralised part of exposures and generally higher for 

the collateralised part of exposures. In the case of real esta-
te collateral (which represents the majority in this segment), 
they are generally higher and in the case of other collateral 
types they are generally lower.

Staging criteria, which are used for the analysis and de-
termination of credit risk increases, will leverage on the 
existing processes, such as monitoring of legal entities and 
forbearance for all segments. In addition, staging for all se-
gments is based also on deterioration of credit rating since 
origination and observed days past due of credit exposures. 
Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 will occur immediately 
upon a trigger event, while transfers from stage 2 to stage 
1 will occur after confirmation that such event (or any other 
trigger event) no longer exists. The cool-off period will be 
no less than one impairment calculation cycle. Transfers to 
stage 3 will be based on the default triggers and criteria. 
Definition of default is harmonised with EBA guidelines. 

The bank incorporated forward-looking information in 
both the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk 
and in the measurement of the expected credit losses. In the 
calculations, the bank uses a weighted scenario based on 
three scenarios it has developed (adverse (15%), baseline 
(60%) and optimistic (25%)). Previously, the bank used one 
scenario, developed and implemented in 2020. Forward-
-looking information includes macroeconomic factors and 
official economic forecasts (IMAD, Bank of Slovenia, WIIW, 
EUW, IMF, ECB) from the period October 2020–September 
2021. Recalculation of all parameters is performed annually. 
Expected credit losses as at 31 December 2021 were calcu-
lated using the unemployment rate forecast based on the 
weighted scenario (applied unemployment rate: optimistic 
scenario 5.1%, baseline scenario 5.6% and adverse scena-
rio 7.0%).

Calibration and validation streams included simulations of 
different management rules and calibration methodologies 
for measuring parameters (as consistent as possible with 
the ones developed for Basel II requirements) in order to 
determine the best conjunctions between normative and 
business criteria. Furthermore, the process was defined for 
updating the models and the weighted macro-economic 
scenarios.

Taxes
Current tax is recognised at the amount calculated by the 
bank in accordance with the Corporate Profit Tax Act (ZDD-
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PO-2) and the applying the rate of 19% (for 2021).

Deferred tax is recognised for all temporary differences, 
which are the differences between the tax base of an asset 
or liability and its carrying amount in the statement of fi-
nancial position. Deferred taxes are calculated using the tax 
rates that are expected to apply when assets are realised or 
liabilities are settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferred tax associated with measurement of financial as-
sets held within the “held to collect or sell” business model is 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Segment reporting
Segment reporting is not used for Statutory Audit by N ban-
ka d.d. (formerly Sberbank banka d.d.).

Employee benefits
Employment benefits include retirement and anniversary 
bonuses. Provisions for employee benefits are calculated by 
an independent actuary. In 2021, they were estimated using 
the latest employee data and the following assumptions:
• interest rate: 1.180% (previous year: 1.075%),
• future salary increases 2.2% (previous year: 2.2%).

The bank as employer pays certain statutory contributions 
that amount to 16.1% of the gross salaries paid, and has 
otherwise no other obligations. Contributions are recogni-
sed as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. 
They are included within labour costs in the income state-
ment. Under Slovenian legislation, employees retire after 
35 to 40 years of service when, provided they meet certain 
conditions, they are entitled to a one-off retirement bonus. 
They are also entitled to an anniversary bonus for every 10 
years of service.

These obligations are measured as the net present value of 
future obligations, while any gains and losses arising in this 
connection are recognised in the income statement, except 
actuarial profit/losses from retirement benefits which are 
recognized in OCI.

Related parties
Under the ”Regulation on large exposures of banks and 
savings banks”, a group of related parties means the fol-
lowing:
• a group consisting of two or more natural or legal persons 

who, unless proved otherwise, constitute a single risk for 
the bank because one of them, directly or indirectly, has 
control over the other or others;

• a group consisting of two or more natural or legal per-
sons between whom there is no relationship of control, 
but who are regarded as constituting a single risk for the 
bank because they are so interconnected that, if one of 
them were to experience financial problems, the other or 
all others would be likely to encounter repayment diffi-
culties.

Generally, related parties are all persons who hold more 
than a 50% share of another legal person, or legal persons 
that are majority-owned by such persons. When determi-
ning a group of related clients, the bank must in particular 
consider the following forms of ties:
• legal persons that have common holders of shares;
• companies related by joint control;
• entities that are mutually economically connected and 

dependent, these ties being irreplaceable in the short 
term;

• individual natural persons and their immediate family 
members;

• natural persons, and legal persons in which these natural 
persons are members of management bodies or have 
any other significant influence in their management;

• natural persons who pursue business activities as private 
entrepreneurs, and their immediate family members.

When determining a group of connected clients, the bank 
does not consider relations with the central government.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
presented in the statement of financial position when the 
bank has a legal right and intention to set off an asset aga-
inst a liability, or when the asset is realised and the liability 
is settled at the same time.

Repurchase agreements 
Securities purchased but agreed to be sold back (under re-
purchase agreements) are included within loans to clients. 
Under such agreements, the risks and rewards of owner-
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ship are not transferred to the bank, for which reason they 
have the characteristics of loans collateralised with securi-
ties. The difference between the purchase and selling price 
is recognised as interest income, allocated over the relevant 
period by means of the effective interest method.

Leases 
In accordance with IFRS 16 Leases effective as of 1 January 
2019, the bank assesses upon contract inception whether a 
contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract con-
veys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. 

Bank as lessee
The bank applies a single recognition and measurement 
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets. The bank recognises lease lia-
bilities and right-of-use assets representing the right to use 
the underlying assets. 

i) Right-of-use assets
The bank recognises right-of-use assets on the commen-
cement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset 
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at 
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease lia-
bilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount 
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, 
and lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of 
the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets. 
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the bank at 
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise 
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the 
estimated useful life of the asset. The right-of-use assets are 
also subject to impairment.

For leases with an indefinite term, the bank calculates the 
right of use and liabilities over a 10-year period, in accor-
dance with the instructions received from the Group, and 
will be reviewing such leases regularly to ascertain that this 
is the right period.

The bank’s right-of-use assets are included in fixed assets.

ii) Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the bank recogni-
ses lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. Lease payments 
include fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, 
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees. Lease payments also include the exercise price 
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by 
the bank, and payments of penalties for terminating the 
lease, provided the lease term reflects the bank exercising 
the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do 
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expen-
ses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers the 
payment occurs. In calculating the present value of lease 
payments, the bank uses its incremental borrowing rate at 
the lease commencement date because the interest rate 
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. The latter 
is determined based on the cost of funding for liabilities of 
similar duration and similar security of those implicit in the 
lease contract. After the commencement date, the amount 
of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accrued interest 
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the 
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is 
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the 
lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting 
from a change in an index or rate used to determine such 
lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option 
to purchase the underlying asset.

The bank’s lease liabilities are included in other financial 
liabilities.

iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets
The bank applies the short-term lease recognition exempti-
on to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e. 
those that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase opti-
on). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition 
exemption to leases of office equipment that are conside-
red to be low value (less than EUR 4,000). Lease payments 
under short-term leases and leases of low value assets are 
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

The bank’s short-term leases and leases of low-value as-
sets are recognised in administrative expenses.
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Bank as a lessor
Leases in which the bank does not transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset 
are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is 
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
and is included in income due to its operating nature. The 
initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the le-
ased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same 
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as 
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are contracts that provide for 
payments to be made if the debtor fails to make payment 
when due. The bank issues financial guarantees to other 
banks, financial institutions and non-bank clients in order 
to insure their debts, overdrafts and other transactions.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value. 
Subsequently, they are recognised at the higher of the fair 
value less any fees and the present value of disbursements 
that the bank, based on its data and experience, expects to 
be required to settle the obligation. An increase in liabilities 
from financial guarantees is included within other opera-
ting expenses in the income statement.

Fiduciary business
Assets acquired by the bank within its fiduciary business are 
not risky and are kept separately from the bank's own as-
sets. Fiduciary services comprise services associated with 
loan arrangements and securities transactions on behalf of 
third parties, for which the bank charges a fee.

3. Changes to financial 
reporting standards and 
interpretations
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with tho-
se of the previous financial year except for the following 
amended IFRSs which have been adopted by the group/
company as of 1 January 2021:

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – IFRS 9, IAS 
39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16  (Amendments)

In August 2020, the IASB published Interest Rate Benchmark 
Reform – Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, 
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, completing its work in response to IBOR 
reform. The amendments provide temporary reliefs which 
address the financial reporting effects when an interbank 
offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly 
risk-free interest rate (RFR). In particular, the amendments 
provide for a practical expedient when accounting for 
changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash 
flows of financial assets and liabilities, to require the effecti-
ve interest rate to be adjusted, equivalent to a movement in 
a market rate of interest. Also, the amendments introduce 
reliefs from discontinuing hedge relationships including a 
temporary relief from having to meet the separately identifi-
able requirement when an RFR instrument is designated as 
a hedge of a risk component. There are also amendments to 
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to enable users of 
financial statements to understand the effect of interest rate 
benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments and 
risk management strategy. While application is retrospecti-
ve, an entity is not required to restate prior periods. The 
amendments had no impact on the financial statements of 
the Bank.

IFRS 16 Leases-Cοvid 19 Related Rent Concessions (Amen-
dment)
The amendment applies, retrospectively, to annual re-
porting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier 
application is permitted, including in financial statements 
not yet authorized for issue at 28 May 2020. IASB amen-
ded the standard to provide relief to lessees from applying 
IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent 
concessions arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19 
pandemic. The amendment provides a practical expedient 
for the lessee to account for any change in lease payments 
resulting from the covid-19 related rent concession the same 
way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the 
change was not a lease modification, only if all of the fol-
lowing conditions are met:
• The change in lease payments results in revised consi-

deration for the lease that is substantially the same as, 
or less than, the consideration for the lease immedia-
tely preceding the change.

• Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments 
originally due on or before 30 June 2021.

• There is no substantive change to other terms and con-
ditions of the lease.
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4. Standards issued but 
not yet effective and not 
early adopted 
Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associa-
tes and Joint Ventures: Sale or Contribution of 
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture)
The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency 
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28, 
in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between 
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main 
consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or 
loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business 
(whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain 
or loss is recognized when a transaction involves assets that 
do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed 
in a subsidiary. In December 2015 the IASB postponed the 
effective date of this amendment indefinitely pending the 
outcome of its research project on the equity method of 
accounting. The amendments have not yet been endorsed 
by the EU.  

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: 
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
-current (Amendments)
The amendments were initially effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier 
application permitted. However, in response to the covid-19 
pandemic, the Board has deferred the effective date by one 
year, i.e. 1 January 2023, to provide companies with more 
time to implement any classification changes resulting from 
the amendments. The amendments aim to promote consis-
tency in applying the requirements by helping companies 
determine whether, in the statement of financial position, 
debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date 
should be classified as current or non-current. The amen-
dments affect the presentation of liabilities in the statement 
of financial position and do not change existing require-
ments around measurement or timing of recognition of any 
asset, liability, income or expenses, nor the information that 
entities disclose about those items. Also, the amendments 
clarify the classification requirements for debt which may 
be settled by the company issuing own equity instruments. 

In November 2021, the Board issued an exposure draft 
(ED), which clarifies how to treat liabilities that are subject 
to covenants to be complied with, at a date subsequent 
to the reporting period. In particular, the Board proposes 
narrow scope amendments to IAS 1 which effectively re-
verse the 2020 amendments requiring entities to classify 
as current, liabilities subject to covenants that must only be 
complied with within the next twelve months after the re-
porting period, if those covenants are not met at the end of 
the reporting period. Instead, the proposals would require 
entities to present separately all non-current liabilities su-
bject to covenants to be complied with only within twelve 
months after the reporting period. Furthermore, if entities 
do not comply with such future covenants at the end of the 
reporting period, additional disclosures will be required. 
The proposals will become effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and will need 
be applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8, while 
early adoption is permitted. The Board has also proposed 
to delay the effective date of the 2020 amendments accor-
dingly, such that entities will not be required to change cur-
rent practice before the proposed amendments come into 
effect. These Amendments, including ED proposals, have 
not yet been endorsed by the EU.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IAS 16 Property, 
Plant and Equipment; IAS 37 Provisions, Contin-
gent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as well as 
Annual Improvements 2018-2020 (Amendments)
The amendments are effective for annual periods be-
ginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier application 
permitted. The IASB has issued narrow-scope amendments 
to the IFRS Standards as follows:
• IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendments) update 

a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting without changing the accounting 
requirements for business combinations.

• IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Amendments)  
prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of pro-
perty, plant and equipment amounts received from selling 
items produced while the company is preparing the asset 
for its intended use. Instead, a company will recognise 
such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss.

• IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets (Amendments) specify which costs a company 
includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for 
the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous.

• Annual Improvements 2018-2020 make minor amen-
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dments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instru-
ments, IAS 41 Agriculture and the Illustrative Examples 
accompanying IFRS 16 Leases.

FRS 16 Leases-Cοvid 19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 
30 June 2021 (Amendment)
The Amendment applies to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 April 2021, with earlier application 
permitted, including in financial statements not yet authori-
zed for issue at the date the amendment is issued. In March 
2021, the Board amended the conditions of the practical 
expedient in IFRS 16 that provides relief to lessees from 
applying the IFRS 16 guidance on lease modifications to rent 
concessions arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19 
pandemic. Following the amendment, the practical expedi-
ent now applies to rent concessions for which any reduction 
in lease payments affects only payments originally due on 
or before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions for 
applying the practical expedient are met. 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS 
Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies 
(Amendments)
The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January, 2023 with earlier application permi-
tted. The amendments provide guidance on the application 
of materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. 
In particular, the amendments to IAS 1 replace the requ-
irement to disclose ‘significant’ accounting policies with a 
requirement to disclose ‘material’ accounting policies. Also, 
guidance and illustrative examples are added in the Practi-
ce Statement to assist in the application of the materiality 
concept when making judgements about accounting policy 
disclosures. The Amendments have not yet been endorsed 
by the EU. 

IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estima-
tes and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amen-
dments)
The amendments become effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier 
application permitted and apply to changes in accounting 
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur 
on or after the start of that period. The amendments intro-
duce a new definition of accounting estimates, defined as 
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject 
to measurement uncertainty. Also, the amendments clarify 

what changes in accounting estimates are and how these 
differ from changes in accounting policies and corrections 
of errors. The Amendments have not yet been endorsed by 
the EU.

IAS 12 Income taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Li-
abilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments)
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier application permi-
tted. In May 2021, the Board issued amendments to IAS 12, 
which narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception 
under IAS 12 and specify how companies should account 
for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decom-
missioning obligations. Under the amendments, the initial 
recognition exception does not apply to transactions that, 
on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deducti-
ble temporary differences. It only applies if the recognition 
of a lease asset and lease liability (or decommissioning 
liability and decommissioning asset component) give rise to 
taxable and deductible temporary differences that are not 
equal. The Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the 
EU. 

The bank assessed that the introduction of new standards 
and amendments to the existing standards during the peri-
od of initial application will not have a material impact on 
its financial statements.

5. Risk management 
The Bank of Slovenia issued a “Regulation on the internal 
governance arrangements, the management body and the 
internal capital adequacy assessment process for banks 
and savings banks” (Official Gazette of the RS, no. 73/15), 
laying down the rules on risk management in banks. Pur-
suant to the Regulation, banks must prepare strategies for 
assuming and managing risks, thus revealing their approa-
ch to the risks they assume in the scope of their operations.

The risks that a bank takes up within the framework of its 
operations include credit risk and counterparty credit risk, 
concentration risk within credit risk, market risks, interest 
rate risk, liquidity risk, operational risk (including legal risk), 
compliance risk, model risk, strategic risk, reputational risk, 
outsourcing risk, risk of new products and leverage risk.

The bank complies with the general management stan-
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dards for the following risks: credit, market, operational 
and liquidity risk. At the same time, the bank is capable of 
managing all other material risks assumed in the scope of 
its operations.

The bank regularly assesses its risk-bearing capacity. Such 
assessment is documented. The bank has in place a metho-
dology for assessing its risk-bearing capacity and clarifies 
the assumptions on which the methodology is based. The 
methodology is a constant process based on the policies 
adopted by the bank for each type of risk. Further, the bank 
has in place a methodology for measuring and assessing 
its risk exposure, which is based on risk identification and 
materiality assessment that takes into account the scope 
and complexity of its operations. The bank’s risk exposure 
is assessed in qualitative and quantitative terms. Monito-
ring of the bank’s risk assumptions and assessment of its 
risk-bearing capacity is organised independently from the 
organisational units of the bank that take on such risks. The 
bank verifies the appropriateness of the methodology for 
assessing its risk-bearing capacity at least once a year and 
at every significant change in its risk exposure.

The below sections deal with the bank’s exposure to credit 
risk, liquidity risk, markets risks and operational risk, and 
the manner in which the bank manages such risks.

5.1 Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as potential losses due to debtors’ ina-
bility to meet their financial or contractual obligations in full.

Credit risk is associated with the bank activities that result 
in:
• risky balance sheet assets (due and undue loans re-

gardless of maturity, investments in securities and lon-
g-term equity investments,  accounts receivable under 
finance leases, accounts receivable from derivatives, 
interest/fees/commissions accrued, accounts receivable 
from guarantees, sureties and other liabilities assumed, 
bank deposits and other items measured at amortised 
cost/cost/fair value that can be allocated to individual 
debtors);

• risky off-balance sheet assets (financial guarantees/
sureties/unsecured letters of credit issued and other simi-
lar-risk transactions that could result in a bank’s payment 
obligation).

As regards to credit risk, the bank uses the standardised 

approach for credit risk capital requirement calculation. 
In case of collateralised transactions the comprehensive 
approach is used.

In accordance with its guidelines for the organisation of its 
credit function, execution of loan transactions and credit 
risk management, as well as with its internal organisational 
rules, the bank ensures a clear separation of competences 
between the commercial unit and credit risk management 
unit on the one hand and between the commercial unit and 
back office on the other hand, also at managerial level.

Implemented guidelines applying to credit risk manage-
ment, as well as the rules of procedure applying to the credit 
committee, lay down a clear and consistent decision-ma-
king structure for the loan approval procedure. The term 
credit (or loan) covers all transactions bearing credit risk. 
Any loan approval decision must be agreed between the 
commercial unit and the credit risk management unit, ta-
king into account the complexity and risk of the transaction.

The bank classifies debtors or exposures into rating grades 
based on detailed criteria, allowing it to consistently classify 
debtors or exposures with similar risks to the same rating 
grade. The bank ensures that impairment- and allowan-
ce-related decisions are not within the competence of the 
commercial unit.

The bank has implemented a clear and consistent organisa-
tional structure, policies, processes and internal rulebooks 
with regard to the monitoring process in accordance with 
the adopted credit risk management strategy approved by 
the management body, and a clear segregation of duties 
between the monitoring process and the credit approval 
process. The monitoring process includes general require-
ments with regard to the monitoring of individual exposures 
and the credit quality of the debtor, the early warning 
system for increased credit risk, the workout process for 
problematic exposures and the credit protection monitoring 
process.

The bank regularly reviews its credit portfolio and also es-
timates future trends. The results of such reviews serve the 
bank when preparing and assessing strategies and policies 
for assuming and managing risks.

Close loan monitoring and treatment of  
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bad loans 
The bank uses a set of criteria when deciding whether 
a debtor/exposure requires close monitoring. Debtors/
exposures requiring close monitoring are regularly reviewed 
to decide their future treatment. If they meet certain criteria, 
they are handed over to the collection unit. Otherwise, the 
bank may also decide to restructure the exposure: a restru-
cturing plan is then prepared, implemented and monitored. 
If a bankruptcy procedure is initiated against a debtor, the 
bank involves its own experts and/or external experts in the 
collateral recovery process, if the exposure is collateralised.

Early identification of increased credit risk
The bank has a process in place for early identification of 
increased credit risk associated with individual debtors. In 
this process, it uses qualitative and quantitative indicators.

For the timely recognition of an increased credit risk, the 
bank has defined a SICR (Significant Increase in Credit Risk) 
trigger. The SICR is based on the rating change: if the actu-
al rating falls 7 notches below the initial rating, the SICR is 
triggered. 

A borrower is deemed to have defaulted when any of the 
predefined indicators is identified (e. g. payment being 90 
days past due, impairment being recognised). Default indi-
cators are events that suggest that a borrower is unlikely to 
fulfil its obligations.

The bank has in place default-related criteria and proces-
ses. The transition period leading to a borrower’s rehabili-
tation is intended to ensure that the borrower demonstrates 
the ability and willingness to fulfil the contractual obligati-
ons in the future. This period is also intended to prevent an 
early repeat of the default by the borrower shortly after the 
last default event or entry into force of contractual changes 
/ extension of due dates. The criteria for default elimination 
are defined separately for distressed and non-distressed 
restructured exposures. 

The observation period for exposures not related to dis-
tress restructuring is observed since the last recognition of 
a default trigger. This observation period depends on the 
frequency of payments to ensure consistent treatment of 
exposures.

In the case of distressed restructured exposures, the transiti-
on period starts upon the restructuring and depends on the 

payment frequency of the affected exposure, but cannot be 
shorter than 12 months.

Debtor/exposure rating process
For the purpose of credit risk assessment, the bank uses 
a debtor/exposure rating process. Within this process, 
debtors/exposures are classified into credit rating classes 
and/or groups. The bank regularly monitors and assesses 
its rating process, as well as impairment- and provision-re-
lated decisions, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. The bank classifies its debtors based 
on the assessment and valuation of their ability to meet 
their obligations to the bank, as well as based on collateral 
provided. The non-performing loans are loans that meet 
the relevant criteria, such as the unlikely-to-pay or default 
criteria (payments delayed by more than 90 days, restruc-
turing, compulsory settlement or bankruptcy etc.).

When classifying its debtors into creditworthiness groups, 
the bank uses its policy for assessing credit risk losses, whi-
ch is in accordance with the Bank of Slovenia’s Regulation 
on credit risk management at banks and savings banks, as 
well as with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The bank assesses individually significant financial assets 
or commitments including off-balance sheet items, as spe-
cified in internal policies. If such assessment reveals that 
a loss could arise from such significant financial assets or 
commitments including off-balance sheet items, the bank 
must recognise an impairment loss both in its statement of 
financial position and in its income statement. If individual 
impairment or provisioning is not required, the bank then 
calculates a collective impairment loss or provision using a 
certain prescribed percentage.

Write-off process
Certain significant balance sheet exposures for which 
no further payments are expected are reclassified as off-
-balance sheet exposures if the conditions for the final write 
-off are not yet met (e.g. the bankruptcy proceedings are 
still not completed, but all collaterals have already been 
sold and no general bankruptcy mass exists). The final write 
-off is takes place when all relevant processes have been 
completed and no further repayments are expected. 

For smaller exposures, only the final write -off is carried 
out as a rule (i.e. without the previous reclassification as off 
-balance sheet exposures). The final write-off takes place 
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when all relevant processes have been completed and no 
further repayments are expected or no further enforcement 
actions are economically justified. 

Concentration risk identification and  
measurement
Concentration risks refers to the potential adverse con-
sequences which may arise from concentrations or inte-
ractions between similar risk factors or risk types, such as: 
the risk arising from loans to the same client, to a group of 
connected clients, to clients from the same geographic re-
gion or industry, or to clients who offer the same goods and 
services, as well as the risk arising from the use of credit risk 
mitigation techniques and in particular from large indirect 
credit exposures. However, in order to identify concentrati-
on risk, it is not sufficient to analyse intra-risk concentration, 
analysis of inter-risk concentration is also necessary (e.g. 
credit – operational risk, credit – market risk or market – 
liquidity risk). The bank has appropriate methodologies in 
place for identifying and measuring concentration risk. 

The bank measures and steers on a monthly level industry 
and individual concentrations, collateral concentration, the 
share of high -risk industries, the top 20 GCC concentration, 
the FX currency concentration and the shadow banking 
exposure. Implemented are limits in order to keep concen-
tration risk at acceptable levels in line with the bank’s risk 
appetite. In 2021, concentration risk exposures were in line 
with the set limits.

Collateral management
The bank has in place a collateral management policy, whi-
ch addresses the methods of credit risk mitigation in secured 
lending activities and specifies the general framework con-
ditions for optimising and improving the collateral systems, 
processes, strategies and procedures in standardised credit 
risk management. The document covers among others the 
following topics:
• determines the acceptable collateral, covering both – the 

economically acceptable as well as the regulatory (Basel 
3, Standardised Approach) eligible;

• depicts the risk of collateral valuation by determining the 
maximum collateral factors taking into account the indi-
vidual constellation of a collateral in risk management 
processes;

• management of collateral and monitoring the collateral 
value on an ongoing basis;

• addresses the concentration, correlation and residual 
risks;

• supports the calculation of portfolio and individual impa-
irments, taking account of the collateral’s material value.

The first step in determining the material value that the 
bank assigns to an individual collateral is the determina-
tion of the collateral’s current market value, which must be 

documented. For certain collateral types, market value is 
determined as the collateral’s notional amount (e.g. cash 
collateral, guarantee for a defined amount), and valuation 
is not required. 

Once taken, collateral usually does not retain the same va-
lue permanently. This requires proper collateral administra-
tion in the sense of constant monitoring and (if necessary), 
valuation updating. Monitoring and reviews are carried out 
as scheduled. 

Accepted/taken collateral should be checked at least once 
a year in the course of the periodical transaction/client mo-
nitoring in order to verify the collateral’s existence and com-
pliance with the agreed terms, as well as to detect in good 
time any impacts that adverse market developments could 
have on it. If the volatility / value stability and liquidity of 
the collateral so require, the monitoring interval should be 
adapted to these (risk) factors and shortened accordingly.



Exposure to credit risk as at 31 December
                 thousand EUR

 

Cash balances at cen-
tral banks and other 

demand deposits

Financial assets measured at amortised cost Financial assets measured at fair value  
through other comprehensive income

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value  
through profit or loss

TOTAL
Loans and advances

to non-banks Loans  to banks Debt securities Equity instruments    Debt securities Equity instruments    Debt securities Loans and advances
to non-banks

31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

1 Loans and advances: impaired

a) Individually impaired:

   Grade D 20,762 30,213 3,564 20,762 33,777

   Grade E 8,370 12,584 8,370 12,584

   Gross amount 29,132 42,797 3,564 29,132 46,361

   Impairment amount 14,733 22,459 1,475 14,733 23,934

   Net amount 14,399 20,338 2,089 14,399 22,427

b) Collectively impaired:

   Grade D 12,877 10,912 12,877 10,912

   Grade E 10,767 13,421 10,767 13,421

   Gross amount 23,644 24,333 23,644 24,333

   Impairment amount 12,114 11,575 12,114 11,575

   Net amount 11,530 12,758 11,530 12,758

2 Loans and advances: past due, not 
impaired

  Gross amount 4,299 2,059 4,299 2,059

  Net amount 4,233 1,928 4,233 1,928

by days past due: 0 0

  31-60 days 4,226 1,922 4,226 1,922

  61-90 days 7 6 7 6

  91-180 days 0 0 0 0

  181+ days 0 0 0 0

3 Loans and advances: not past due, 
not impaired 

  Gross amount 442,391 465,051 1,138,163 1,185,545 4,913 21,649 13,444 0 16,355 16,495 57,535 94,510 472 568 0 837 0 0 1,673,273 1,784,655

  Grade A 442,391 465,051 654,094 648,285 412 17,146 0 0 16,355 16,495 47,515 94,510 472 366 0 0 0 0 1,161,239 1,241,853

  Grade B 0 0 275,866 291,101 4,501 4,503 13,444 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 293,811 295,604

  Grade C 0 0 208,203 246,159 0 0 10,020 0 0 202 0 837 0 0 218,223 247,198

    Collective impairment amount  1 1 15,752 20,557 187 178 59 0 0 0 9 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 16,008 20,741

  Net amount 442,390 465,050 1,122,411 1,164,988 4,726 21,471 13,385 0 16,355 16,495 57,526 94,505 472 568 0 837 0 0 1,657,265 1,763,914

Total gross amount of loans and 
advances 442,391 465,051 1,195,238 1,254,734 4,913 21,649 13,444 0 16,355 16,495 57,535 94,510 472 568 0 837 0 3,564 1,730,348 1,857,408

Total net amount of loans and 
advances 442,390 465,050 1,152,573 1,200,012 4,726 21,471 13,385 0 16,355 16,495 57,526 94,505 472 568 0 837 0 2,089 1,687,427 1,801,027
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Definition of risk grades :
• Grade A : Stage 1 (IFRS 9) and days past due less or equal 

15 and internal rating between 1 and 12  
• Grade B : Stage 1 (IFRS 9) and days past due between 16 

and 30 and internal rating between 13 and 18  
• Grade C : Stage 2 (IFRS 9) and days past due between 31 

and 90 and internal rating between 19 and 25  

• Grade D : Stage 3 (IFRS 9) and days past due between 91 
and 360 and internal rating 26

• Grade E : Stage 3 (IFRS 9) and days past due above 360 
and internal rating 26

Movements in financial assets by risk stage (IFRS 9)
A more detailed breakdown is provided in the Finrep table no. 18 (pages 87-92).

    thousand EUR

Item:
Accumulated 

impairment  
31 Dec 2021

Net outstanding 
amount  

31 Dec 2021

Accumulated 
impairment  
31 Dec 2020

Net outstanding 
amount  

31 Dec 2020

Cash balances at central banks and other demand 
deposits 1 442,390 1 465,050

Stage1 1 442,390 1 465,050

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 9 73,881 5 111,000

Stage 1 9 73,881 5 111,000

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 42,989 1,171,942 55,132 1,222,340

Loans to banks 187 4,726 178 21,471

Stage 1 187 4,726 178 21,471

Loans to non-bank customers 42,665 1,152,573 54,722 1,200,012

Stage 1 4,814 1,003,844 9,833 1,001,250

Stage 2 11,005 122,798 10,855 165,666

Stage 3 23,862 23,719 31,779 31,316

Stage 3 - POCI 2,984 2,212 2,255 1,780

Debt securities 59 13,385 0 0

Stage 1 59 13,385 0 0

Other financial assets 77 1,258 231 857

Stage 1 62 907 219 635

Stage 2  5  5

Stage 3 15 346 12 217



Movements in allowances and provisions for credit losses  
thousand EUR

Opening 
balance

Increases due to 
origination and 

acquisition

Decreases  
due to  

derecognition

Changes due to 
change in credit 

risk (net)

Changes due to  
modifications 

without 
derecognition 

(net)

Changes 
due to 

update in the 
institution's 

methodology 
for estimation 

(net)

Decrease in 
allowance 

account due 
to write-offs

Other  
adjustments

Closing 
balance

Recoveries of 
previously  
written-off  

amounts  
recorded directly 
to the statement 

of profit or loss

Amounts 
written-off  

directly to the 
statement of 
profit or loss

Gains or losses on derecognition 
of debt instruments

Cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits -1 -1  

Allowances for financial assets without increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition (Stage 1) -10,235 -1,387 8,980 -2,488 -5,130

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensi-
ve income -5 -20 16 -9

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

 Debt securities -59 -59

 Loans - Loans to banks -399 308 -158 -249

 Loans - Loans to non-banks -9,832 -1,308 8,656 -2,330 -4,814

 Loans - Other financial assets

of which: collectively measured allowances -10,236 -1,387 8,980 -2,488 -5,131

of which: individually measured allowances

Allowances for debt instruments with significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition but not credit-impaired (Stage 2) -10,856 -348 -32 231 -11,005

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

 Loans - Loans to banks

 Loans - Loans to non-banks -10,856 -348 -32 231 -11,005

 Loans - Other financial assets

of which: collectively measured allowances -10,856 -348 -32 231 -11,005

of which: individually measured allowances

of which: non-performing exposures

Allowances for credit-impaired debt instruments (Stage 3) -34,046 -1,068 -5,453 13,270 435 -26,862

Financial assets measured at amortised cost -34,046 -1,068 -5,453 13,270 435 -26,862

 Loans - Loans to banks

 Loans - Loans to non-banks -34,046 -1,068 -5,453 13,270 435 -26,862

of which: collectively measured allowances -11,587 -363 -1,898 4,514 -2,795 -12,129

of which: individually measured allowances -22,459 -705 -3,485 8,756 3,160 -14,733

Total allowance for debt instruments -55,137 -2,803 3,495 13,270 -1,822 -42,998

Total  provisions on commitments and financial guarantees given 1,896 264 -1,369 -66 725

N Banka d. d.  |  ANNUAL REPORT 202176



Loans and advances by collateral submitted as at 31 December 
thousand EUR

Financial assets measured at amortised cost Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss

Cash balances at central banks 
and other demand deposits 

Loans and advances 
to non-banks Loans  to banks Debt securities Equity instruments Debt securities Loans to non-banks

Collateral type 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Individual impairment 14,091 16,870

Property 14,091 16,870

First-class collateral 0 0

Shares 0 0

Other 0 0

Collective impairment 10,154 12,231

Property 7,960 9,975

First-class collateral 132 285

Shares 65 0

Other 1,997 1,971

Past due, not impaired 1,176 2,843

Property 821 2,366

First-class collateral 2 63

Shares 0 0

Other 353 414

Not past due, not impaired 825,128 912,247 0 2,089

Property 613,217 698,851 0 2,089

First-class collateral 60,965 90,067

Shares 0 0

Other 150,946 123,329

Without collateral 442,390 465,050 302,024 255,821 4,726 21,471 13,385 0 472 568 0 837

Without collateral, not past due 442,390 465,050 296,692 251,511 4,726 21,471 13,385 0 472 568 0 837

Without collateral, past due 0 0 5,332 4,310

Individual impairment 0 0 0 3,469

Collective impairment 0 0 5,332 841

TOTAL 442,390 465,050 1,152,573 1,200,012 4,726 21,471 13,385 0 472 568 0 837 0 2,089
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Credit risk by sector and geographic area
thousand EUR

 
 
 

Cash balances at 
central banks and 

other demand 
deposits

Financial assets measured at 
amortised cost

Non-trading financial assets 
mandatorily at fair value thro-

ugh profit or loss
Financial assets 

measured 
at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive 

incomeLoans and 
advances to 

non-banks

Loans 
and ad-

vances 
to non-
-banks

Debt 
securities

Equity 
instru-
ments

Debt 
securities

Loans 
to non-
-banks

31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2021 31.12.2021

                

TOTAL 442,390 1,152,573 4,726 13,385 472 0 0 73,881

          

SECTOR         

Central banks 442,390        

Non-financial 
corporations  655,560  13,385 472    

Public sector  41,956      73,881

Banks   4,726      

Other financial 
institutions  3,109       

Households  451,948       

          

GEOGRAPHIC AREA         

Slovenia 27,740 1,131,836 6 13,385 472   47,513

Austria 2,898 239 0     0

CEE* 2,469 18,081 212     0

Russia, Belarus 693 113 4,508      

Other 408,590 2,304 0     26,368

Note: covered CEE countries are Lithuania, North Macedonia, Poland, Montenegro, Serbia, Croatia, Romania, Czech Republic, Albania, Kosovo, Hungary, Latvia, Slovakia, Estonia, 
Germany, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria
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AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020
thousand EUR

 
 
 

Financial assets measured at 
amortised cost

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair 
value through profit or loss

Financial as-
sets measured 

at fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
incomev (Debt 

securities)
Loans and 

advances to 
non-banks

Loans and 
advances to 

banks
Equity 

instruments Debt securities
Loans to  

non-banks

            

TOTAL 1,200,012 21,471 568 837 2,089 111,000

       

SECTOR       

Non-financial 
corporations 658,383  366  2,089  

Public sector 56,809     111,000

Banks  21,471     

Other financial 
institutions 3,137  202 837   

Households 481,683      

       

GEOGRAPHIC AREA       

Slovenia 1,145,958  366  2,089 111,000

Austria 257 30     

CEE* 51,736 11,084     

Other 2,061 10,357 202 837   

Note: covered CEE countries are Lithuania, North Macedonia, Poland, Montenegro, Serbia, Croatia, Romania, Czech Republic, Albania, Kosovo, Hungary, Latvia, Slovakia, 
Estonia, Germany, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria
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Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2021

thousand EUR

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gross carrying amount

 

Performing Non-performing

  Not past due or 
Past due <= 30 

days

Past due
> 30 days <= 

90 days  

Unlikely to pay  that 
are not past-due or 

past-due < = 90 days

Past due
> 90 days

<= 180 days

Past due
> 180 
days

<= 1 year

Past due
> 1 year 

<= 5 
years

Past 
due > 5 

years
Of which: 
defaulted

Of which:
impaired

010 020 030 055 060 070 080 090 100 105 110 120

010 Debt securities 13,444 13,444 13,444          

060 Non-financial corporations 13,444 13,444 13,444          

070 Loans and advances 1,201,486 1,148,349 1,147,038 1,311 53,137 27,726 1,825 5,590 13,608 4,388 53,137 53,137

090 General governments 42,327 42,327 42,327          

100 Credit institutions 5,375 5,375 5,375          

110 Other financial corporations 3,222 3,222 3,222          

120 Non-financial corporations 688,608 649,789 649,543 246 38,819 21,757 1,269 4,848 8,515 2,430 38,819 38,819

130 Of which: Small and Medium-sized Enterprises 480,807 444,593 444,347 246 36,214 19,152 1,269 4,848 8,515 2,430 36,214 36,214

140 Of which: Loans collateralised by commercial immovable property 357,337 326,628 326,563 65 30,709 17,753 1,036 3,991 7,306 623 30,709 30,709

150 Households 461,954 447,636 446,571 1,065 14,318 5,969 556 742 5,093 1,958 14,318 14,318

160 Of which: Loans collateralised by residential immovable property 278,038 273,560 273,205 355 4,478 2,340 102 163 799 1,074 4,478 4,478

170 Of which: Credit for consumption 129,240 121,004 120,346 658 8,236 3,248 378 438 3,463 709 8,236 8,236

180 DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT COST OR AT AMORTISED COST 1,214,930 1,161,793 1,160,482 1,311 53,137 27,726 1,825 5,590 13,608 4,388 53,137 53,137

181 Debt securities 57,535 57,535 57,535          

183 General governments 57,535 57,535 57,535          

201 DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OR THROUGH 
EQUITY SUBJECT TO IMPAIRMENT 57,535 57,535 57,535          

330 DEBT INSTRUMENTS OTHER THAN HELD FOR TRADING OR TRADING 1,272,465 1,219,328 1,218,017 1,311 53,137 27,726 1,825 5,590 13,608 4,388 53,137 53,137

340 Loan commitments given 242,351 242,117   234      234  

360 General governments 50 50           

370 Credit institutions 286 286           

380 Other financial corporations 1,058 1,058           

390 Non-financial corporations 213,271 213,086   185      185  

400 Households 27,686 27,637   49      49  

410 Financial guarantees given 44,581 44,581           

440 Credit institutions 300 300           

460 Non-financial corporations 43,433 43,433           

470 Households 848 848           

480 Other Commitments given 92,429 92,408   21      21  

510 Credit institutions 5,085 5,085           

530 Non-financial corporations 87,279 87,258   21      21  

540 Households 65 65           

550 OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES 379,361 379,106   255      255  

Note: Data are from the F.18 form of the FINREP report
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Information on performing and non-performing exposures – acumulated impairment, accumulated changes in fair value due to credit risk and provisions as at  

31 December 2021
thousand EUR

 Accumulated impairment, accumulated negative changes in fair value due to credit risk and 
provisions Collateral received and financial guaran-

tees received
 

Performing 
exposures - 

Accumulated 
impairment and 

provisions

Non-performing exposures - Accumulated impairment, accumulated  negative changes in fair 
value due to credit risk and provisions  

   
Unlikely to pay  

that are not past-
-due or past-due < 

= 90 days

Past due
> 90 days

<= 180 days

Past due
> 180 days

<= 1 year

Past due
> 1 year < = 

5 year
Past due > 5 

years

Collateral received 
on non-performing 

exposues 

Financial
guarantees 
received on 

non-performing 
exposures

130 140 150 160 170 180 190 195 200 210

010 Debt securities -59 -59         
060 Non-financial corporations -59 -59         

070 Loans and advances -42,929 -16,067 -26,862 -10,270 -745 -2,651 -10,015 -3,181 21,122 1,328

090 General governments -6 -6         

100 Credit institutions -248 -248         

110 Other financial corporations -28 -28         

120 Non-financial corporations -32,734 -13,374 -19,360 -8,508 -526 -2,195 -6,329 -1,802 15,557 1,321

130 Of which: Small and Medium-sized Enterprises -30,204 -11,775 -18,429 -7,577 -526 -2,195 -6,329 -1,802 14,155 1,321

140 Of which: Loans collateralised by commercial immovable property -24,259 -10,686 -13,573 -5,546 -418 -1,848 -5,312 -449 14,672 880

150 Households -9,913 -2,411 -7,502 -1,762 -219 -456 -3,686 -1,379 5,565 7

160 Of which: Loans collateralised by residential immovable property -2,638 -862 -1,776 -634 -31 -52 -364 -695 2,411 2

170 Of which: Credit for consumption -5,463 -868 -4,595 -953 -146 -312 -2,673 -511 2,955 5

180 DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT COST OR AT AMORTISED COST -42,988 -16,126 -26,862 -10,270 -745 -2,651 -10,015 -3,181 21,122 1,328

181 Debt securities -9 -9         

183 General governments -9 -9         

201 DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OR THRO-
UGH EQUITY SUBJECT TO IMPAIRMENT -9 -9         

330 DEBT INSTRUMENTS OTHER THAN HELD FOR TRADING OR TRADING -42,997 -16,135 -26,862 -10,270 -745 -2,651 -10,015 -3,181 21,122 1,328

340 Loan commitments given 360 357 3      6  

370 Credit institutions 5 5         

380 Other financial corporations 2 2         

390 Non-financial corporations 343 342 1        

400 Households 10 8 2      6  

410 Financial guarantees given 115 115         

440 Credit institutions 1 1         

460 Non-financial corporations 109 109         

470 Households 5 5         

480 Other Commitments given 250 250 15        

510 Credit institutions 72 72         

530 Non-financial corporations 178 178 15        

540 Households           

550 OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES 725 722 3      6  

Note: Data are from the F.18 form of the FINREP report



Information on forborne exposures – gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2021
thousand EUR

  Gross carrying amount / nominal amount of exposures with forbearance measures

   

 

Performing exposures with forbearance measures Non-performing exposures with forbearance measures

      Instruments 
with modi-
fications in 
their terms 

and  
conditions

Refinancing

of which: Performing 
forborne exposures 

under probation 
reclassified from non-

-performing

 
Instruments 

with modifica-
tions in their 

terms and 
conditions

Refinancing of which:
Defaulted

of which:
Impaired

oof which:
Forbearance of 

exposures non-perfor-
ming prior to forbea-

rance
       

  010 020 030 040 050 060 070 080 090 100 110

070 Loans and advances 58,525 39,829 38,327 1,502  18,696 18,663 33 18,696 18,696 14,536

120 Non-financial corporations 46,359 30,094 28,770 1,324  16,265 16,232 33 16,265 16,265 12,562

130 Of which: Small and Medium-sized Enterprises 44,035 30,094 28,770 1,324  13,941 13,908 33 13,941 13,941 10,902

140 Of which: Loans collateralised by commercial immovable property 42,339 29,279 27,955 1,324  13,060 13,036 24 13,060 13,060 9,626

150 Households 12,166 9,735 9,557 178  2,431 2,431  2,431 2,431 1,974

160 Of which: Loans collateralised by residential immovable property 7,676 5,605 5,427 178  2,071 2,071  2,071 2,071 1,853

170 Of which: Credit for consumption 3,175 1,696 1,696   1,479 1,479  1,479 1,479 120

180 DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT COST OR AT AMORTISED COST 58,525 39,829 38,327 1,502  18,696 18,663 33 18,663 18,663 14,536

330 DEBT INSTRUMENTS OTHER THAN HELD FOR TRADING OR TRADING 58,525 39,829 38,327 1,502 0 18,696 18,663 33 18,663 18,663 14,536

Note: Data are from the F.19 form of the FINREP report
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Information on forborne exposures – accumulated impairment, accumulated changes in fair value due to credit risk and provisions  
as at 31 December 2021

thousand EUR

    Accumulated impairment, accumulated negative changes in fair value due to credit risk and provisions

Collateral received and financial guarantees received

     
Performing exposures with 

forbearance measures

Non-performing exposures with forbearance measures - 
Accumulated impairment, accumulated negative changes 

in fair value due to credit risk and provisions

      Instruments with modifications in their 
terms and conditions Refinancing

Collateral  received on exposures 
with forbearance measures

Financial
guarantees received on exposures 

with forbearance measures

  120 130 140 170 180

070 Loans and advances -12,160 -3,071 -9,089 -9,074 -15 42,606 2,465

120 Non-financial corporations -10,685 -2,741 -7,944 -7,929 -15 35,485 2,463

130 Of which: Small and Medium-sized Enterprises -9,764 -2,741 -7,023 -7,008 -15 34,082 2,463

140 Of which: Loans collateralised by commercial immovable property -8,634 -2,726 -5,908 -5,898 -10 32,634 1,155

150 Households -1,475 -330 -1,145 -1,145  7,121 2

160 Of which: Loans collateralised by residential immovable property -1,232 -208 -1,024 -1,024  6,036  

170 Of which: Credit for consumption -620 -42 -578 -578  1,085 2

180 DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT COST OR AT AMORTISED COST -12,160 -3,071 -9,089 -9,074 -15 42,606 2,465

330 DEBT INSTRUMENTS OTHER THAN HELD FOR TRADING OR  
TRADING -12,160 -3,071 -9,089 -9,074 -15 42,606 2,465

Note: Data are from the form F.19 of the FINREP report 
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5.2 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as potential losses due to the bank’s 
inability to meet its obligations or the ability to meet them 
only by incurring significantly higher costs than the usual 
costs. Liquidity risk includes also the situation when the 
bank cannot sell or substitute a position within a short time. 
Liquidity is the bank’s ability to sustain a decrease in depo-
sits, meet its obligations and increase financial assets.

Liquidity risk is closely connected with other bank risks (such 
as credit, interest rate and currency risks), and usually ari-
ses from one of the bank’s most important functions, i.e. the 
transformation of short-term deposits into long-term finan-
cial assets. Liquidity is an important component of banking 
operations, as it balances the expected and unexpected 
balance sheet fluctuations, as well as ensures growth.

The bank must at all times ensure adequate liquidity by 
matching its actual and potential sources of liquidity with its 
actual and potential usage of liquidity. Taking into account 
its specifics and level of risk assumed, the bank identifies, 
measures, manages and monitors liquidity risk, thus ensu-
ring ongoing and timely settlement of its liabilities. Bank is 
striving to use all available measures like committed lines 
and ECB eligible loans pledge, ensure liquidity ratios at 
comfort zone level. Liquidity buffers represent available 
liquidity without any additional measures being required.

The bank’s guidelines applying to liquidity risk management 
comprise also measures aimed at preventing or eliminating 
the causes for illiquidity. The bank regularly reviews the 
correctness and appropriateness of assumptions on which 
its liquidity management policy is based. The bank uses 
several liquidity management scenarios for the purpose of 
monitoring liquidity risk and ensuring an adequate liquidity 
position. Based on such scenarios, the bank determines the 
measures to be adopted for the purpose of ensuring an 
adequate liquidity position in the normal course of business 
(basic scenario), as well as in emergency liquidity situations 
(stress scenario). The bank regularly reviews the correctness 
of assumptions on which its liquidity management scenari-
os are based.

To ensure an adequate liquidity position, the bank identifies, 
measures, manages and monitors liquidity risk by means 
of:

• planning of actual and potential cash inflows in view of 
cash outflows (also intraday) and assessing the liquidity 
risk by LCR and liquidity buffers to cover overdue liabi-
lities in the normal course of business and in emergency 

liquidity situations;
• ensuring an amount of liquid assets or other sources of 

liquidity that are appropriate in view of the liquidity risk;
• monitoring the appropriateness of the long-term structu-

re of assets and their sources (NSFR);
• assessing liquidity risk in specific currencies, if this repre-

sents a significant exposure;
• calculating liquidity ratios and defining limits for liquidity 

risk exposure;
• calculating liquidity buffers to cover overdue liabilities in 

the normal course of business and in emergency liqui-
dity situations, as well as defining limits for liquidity risk 
exposure;

• adopting a plan to be used during a possible liquidity 
crisis.

The bank prepared a contingency plan, which is being re-
gularly tested and comprises measures aimed at preventing 
or eliminating causes for liquidity crises, measures aimed at 
overcoming and limiting the consequences of occasional 
or prolonged liquidity crises, as well as measures aimed at 
re-establishing a normal liquidity situation.

The bank has been calculating the liquidity coverage ratio 
(LCR) since 2013 and has been legally required to calculated 
it since 2015. Liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) is reported to the 
regulator on a monthly basis, but the bank calculates it on a 
daily basis for internal needs. The bank calculates its LCR in 
accordance with the regulatory requirements and internal 
limits. The LCR is calculated as the ratio of total assets to 
total net outflows for the next 30 calendar days. The LCR is 
calculated individually for all relevant currencies and also 
at an aggregated level. 

The regulatory limit applicable to the LCR in 2021 was 120%, 
and the bank complied with it on each day in 2021.

We expect the average LCR ratio to be between 140% and 
160% in 2022.
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LCR in last 3 years

Contractually agreed undiscounted cash flows 
31. 12. 2021

 thousand EUR

Carrying 
amount

Gross 
amount

On  
demand

Up to 3 
months

Up to 12 
months 

Up to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Amounts owed to banks 227,226 227,690 36,610 1,115 13,917 132,032 44,017

Amounts owed to non-banks 1,273,925 1,273,906 854,861 150,024 168,709 98,684 1,628

Derivatives (credit/debit) 3,560 3,560 675 705 2,059 121

Unused credit lines 242,351 242,351 242,351

Total 1,747,062 1,747,507 1,133,822 151,814 183,331 232,775 45,766

  2021 2020 2019

end-of year 178.5% 208.2% 151.0%

Annual average 194.8% 188.5% 141.8%

Highest level 249.6% 229.5% 177.0%

Lowest level 137.3% 141.5% 112.1%

A local liquidity ratio is from 1 January 2018 onward only a 
recommendation. The bank still calculates and reports it on 
daily basis for informative purposes only. 

In 2021, amidst a further drop in interest rates, the bank sig-
nificantly changed its deposit structure. The share of private 
individuals in total deposits from non-bank customers increa-
sed from 37% to 45%, while the share legal entities decreased. 
All changes led to an improved liquidity structure and more 
stable liquidity ratios. In terms of volume, client deposits sligh-
tly decreased (by EUR 60 million), but the bank has stabilised 
its funding from the central bank, which remains the cheapest.

We saw a sharp decrease in deposit concentration, as the 
share of the top 20 depositors in total deposits decreased  
from 25% to 22% in 2021. 

The bank maintains sufficient liquidity buffers which consist 
of cash balances with central banks, ECB eligible securities 

and ECB eligible loans. The bank calculates liquidity buffers 
required to cover overdue liabilities in the normal course of 
business and in emergency liquidity situations, in accordance 
with the central bank’s “Regulation on the calculation of capital 
requirements for credit risk under the internal ratings-based 
approach” and the Committee of European Banking Super-
visors’ guidelines. Expected cashflows are based on agreed, 
budgeted and expected business events. Liquidity shortfalls 
are compared with liquidity buffers in different time horizons 
in the normal course of business (basic scenario), emergency 
liquidity situations (stress scenario) and a combined scenario. 
In February 2022, the bank faced high liquidity outflows due 
to the events In Ukraine and Russia, which forced the Bank of 
Slovenia and the SRB to act. The bank eventually got a new 
owner, which resulted in normalisation of liquidity risk. For 
more details, see page 40.
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31. 12. 2020
   thousand EUR

Carrying 
amount

Gross 
amount

On  
demand

Up to 3 
months

Up to 12 
months 

Up to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Amounts owed to banks 239,216 241,041 22,243 3,323 17,337 150,312 47,827

Amounts owed to non-banks 1,340,021 1,337,052 741,784 287,790 239,724 66,975 780

Subordinated liabilities 52,010 52,010 52,010

Derivatives (credit/debit) 6,107 6,107 653 569 1,465 3,421

Unused credit lines 242,371 242,371 242,371

Total 1,879,725 1,878,581 1,006,398 291,766 309,640 218,752 52,028

Financial position in view of liquidity risk
31. 12. 2021

   thousand EUR

On 
demand 

Up to 3 
months

Up to 12 
months

Total 
up to 12 
months

Up to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total over 1 
year Total 

Cash, cash balances at central banks 
and other demand deposits at banks  456,153    456,153    456,153

Non-trading financial assets manda-
torily at fair value through profit or loss 
– equity instruments

 472    472    472

Financial assets measured at amortised 
cost – debt securities      5,210  8,175  13,386 13,386

Financial assets measured at amortised 
cost – loans to banks   219   219   4,508  4,508 4,726

Financial assets measured at amortised 
cost – loans to non-banks  14,890  33,871  62,920  111,682  185,873  855,018  1,040,891 1,152,573

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income  16,355   20,002  36,357  10,013  27,511  37,524 73,881

Other assets  15,906  95  430  16,431  192  2,743  2,935 19,366

Total assets  503,775  34,185  83,352  621,312  201,290  897,954  1,099,244 1,720,556

Financial liabilities measured at amor-
tised cost -  deposits from banks and 
central banks

 36,609    36,609  93,000  97,617  190,617 227,226

Financial liabilities measured at amor-
tised cost -  deposits from non -bank 
customers

 854,783  408  113,171  968,361  284,545  21,018  305,563 1,273,925

Other Liabilities  21,164  256  539  21,959  222  2,543  2,765 24,724

Total liabilities 912,555 664 113,710 1,026,929 377,766 121,179 498,945 1,525,874
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31 December 2020
   thousand EUR

On  
demand 

Up to 3 
months

Up to 12 
months

Total 
up to 12 
months

Up to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total over 1 
year Total 

Cash, cash balances at central 
banks and other demand 
deposits at banks

478,693   478,693   478,693

Non-trading financial assets 
mandatorily at fair value 
through profit or loss – equity 
instruments

568   568   568

Non-trading financial assets 
mandatorily at fair value 
through profit or loss – loans to 
non-banks

    2,089 2,089 2,089

Non-trading financial assets 
mandatorily at fair value 
through profit or loss – debt 
securities

    837 837 837

Financial assets measured 
at amortised cost – loans to 
banks

 5,720 925 6,645 10,307 4,519 14,826 21,471

Financial assets measured 
at amortised cost – loans to 
non-banks

17,513 7,861 43,511 68,885 165,073 966,054 1,131,127 1,200,012

Financial assets measured at 
fair value through other com-
prehensive income 

16,495  10,001 26,496 30,009 54,495 84,504 111,000

Other assets 17,888 451 852 19,192 143 5,191 5,334 24,526

Total assets 531,157 14,032 55,289 600,479 205,532 1,033,185 1,238,717 1,839,196

Financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost -  deposits 
from banks and central banks

22,242   22,242 92,727 124,248 216,975 239,216

Financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost -  deposits 
from non -bank customers

743,356 17,952 281,829 1,043,138 276,809 20,075 296,884 1,340,021

Subordinated liabilities     52,010 52,010 52,010

Other Liabilities 17,382 263 830 18,475 133 4,882 5,015 23,490

Total liabilities 782,980 18,215 282,659 1,083,854 369,668 201,215 570,883 1,654,737

A significant proportion of liabilities falls due within a one-
-year period, represented mainly by inter-bank financing. 

The Bank monitors the stability of demand deposits and has 
credit line amounted at mio 55 EUR, available in case of an 
unexpected drop in these deposit.
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5.3 Market risks
Market risk is defined as potential losses due to unfavo-
urable changes in market variables (price, interest rate, 
exchange rate). Market risk comprises:
• position risk, which is defined as potential losses due to 

changes in prices of debt instruments, equity instruments, 
derivative financial instruments or commodities. The level 
of position risk depends on price volatility of financial 
instruments, as well as on the bank’s portfolio of financial 
instruments – its structure and liquidity;

• interest rate risk, which is defined as potential losses due 
to unfavourable interest rate movements. Interest rate 
movements have a significant effect on the bank’s income 
and expenses;

• currency risk, which is defined as potential losses due to 
unfavourable exchange rate movements. The level of cur-
rency risk depends on the open foreign currency position, 
exchange rate volatility and foreign exchange market 
liquidity. 

The main objective of the bank is to ensure close currency 
matching of on- and off-balance sheet items on the assets 
and liabilities sides while consistently keeping within the 
prescribed maximum net open foreign currency position in 
all currencies and in each currency.

The main objective of the bank’s strategy of interest risk 
management is to have a low interest rate risk exposure.

The bank clearly separates the trading unit and back of-
fice, both in operational and organisational terms, also at 
managerial level. Operational separation of the trading unit 
from its back office requires the bank to have appropriate 
safety and work processes and IT system access rules in 
place, as well as to have the two units physically separated.

5.3.1 CURRENCY RISK

The Bank monitors its currency risk in accordance with 
the requirements of its parent bank, trying to optimise the 
balance sheet structure within the prescribed limits. The 
main objective of the bank is to ensure close currency ma-
tching of on- and off-balance sheet items on the assets and 
liabilities sides while consistently complying with the maxi-
mum net open foreign currency position in all currencies 
and in each currency.

Following a proposal by its asset and liability management 

committee and with the agreement of the Group, the bank 
may decide to have a strategic open foreign currency posi-
tion outside the normal limits.

The bank’s currency risk mainly arises from:

• prompt closing of only major client transactions or client 
transactions that would cause the bank to exceed the 
maximum net open foreign currency position, as closing 
of smaller client transactions on a transaction-by-transa-
ction basis would be cost-inefficient in all circumstances 
except for those of high exchange rate volatility;

• bank’s own position, i.e. its own account trading;
• transactions with a foreign exchange (mainly CHF) in-

dexation clause, the prompt closing of which is not possi-
ble due to limited liquidity.

In accordance with the Capital Requirements Regulation, 
the bank treats assets/liabilities denominated in a foreign 
currency and those with a foreign exchange indexation 
clause equally, i.e. as foreign currency-denominated. To 
calculate the net open position by currency, the bank sums 
separately all long positions in a currency and all short 
positions in a currency. The higher of the two totals is the 
bank’s net open position in that currency and thus also the 
basis for the calculation of capital requirements for curren-
cy risk. Currency risk (net open foreign currency position) 
is monitored by the Global Markets, while the Risk Mana-
gement department (Market and Liquidity Risk) reports on 
such risks. Risk is monitored based on real-time data, while 
reports are made based on bookkeeping values.

In managing currency risk, the bank takes into account 
the limits prescribed by the parent bank. The central bank 
limits currency risk only indirectly, namely with capital requ-
irements for currency risk. The bank itself may at any time 
adopt even stricter limits. Under its current methodology, 
the total net open foreign currency position is defined as 
the higher of the totals of its (a) long and (b) short positions, 
whereby the bank treats in the same manner assets/liabi-
lities denominated in a foreign currency and those with a 
foreign exchange indexation clause.

The Market and Liquidity Risk department monitors and 
calculates the open currency position on a daily basis, whe-
re internal limits are set for each currency separately and in 
total. The total open currency position is calculated as the 
sum total of absolute values, which are the basis for P&L 
and daily FX VaR calculation. 
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The table below shows the bank’s open currency position 
(OCP) by currency as at year-end 2021. 

Currency OCP in EUR 31.12.2021 Limit EUR Utilized limit 31.12.2021

CHF -129,034 1,200,000 11 %

GBP -100,964 1,900,000 5%

JPY 136,573 2,000,000 7%

USD 186,748 2,000,000 9%

BAM 38,476 2,000,000 2%

CZK 6,913 2,000,000 0%

HRK 413,886 1,950,000 21%

HUF 26,092 2,000,000 1%

RSD 13,359 2,000,000 1%

RUB 55,904 2,000,000 3%

PLN -10,924 2,000,000 1%

RON 19,564 2,000,000 1%

TRY 5,612 2,000,000 0%

AUD 52,248 1,925,000 3%

CAD -26,956 2,000,000 1%

DKK 27,829 2,000,000 1%

CNY 0 50,000 0%

NOK 76,576 2,000,000 4%

SEK 36,242 1,950,000 2%

OCP Total 1,363,901 3,000,000 45 %
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The table below shows the bank’s open currency position 
(OCP) by currency as at year-end 2020.

Currency OCP in EUR 31.12.2020 Limit EUR Utilized limit 31.12.2020

CHF -248,519 1,200,000 21%

GBP -112,543 1,900,000 6%

JPY 27,605 2,000,000 1%

USD -230,567 2,000,000 12%

BAM 41,830 2,000,000 2%

CZK 7,101 2,000,000 0%

HRK 23,378 1,950,000 1%

HUF 23,852 2,000,000 1%

RSD 1,075 2,000,000 0%

RUB 15,042 2,000,000 1%

PLN 13,801 2,000,000 1%

RON 5,630 2,000,000 0%

TRY 23,911 2,000,000 1%

AUD 19,157 1,925,000 1%

CAD 8,723 2,000,000 0%

DKK -28,293 2,000,000 1%

CNY 0 50,000 0%

NOK 38,113 2,000,000 2%

SEK -55,010 1,950,000 3%

OCP Total 924,150 3,000,000 31%
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Sensitivity analysis for currency risk (internal method)
thousand EUR 2021 2020

End-of-year 1,364 924

Average for the period 1,289 1,365

Standard deviation for the period 349 365

Maximum for the period 2,142 2,696

Minimum for the period 491 867

Financial position in view of currency risk
thousand EUR

31. 12. 2021 31. 12. 2020

ASSETS 1,720,556 1,839,196

 - EUR 1,693,092 1,799,144

 - foreign currencies 27,464 40,052

LIABILITIES 1,720,556 1,839,196

 - EUR 1,697,863 1,821,923

 - foreign currencies 22,693 17,272

5.3.2 INTEREST RATE RISK

The main objective of the bank’s strategy of interest rate risk 
management is to have a low interest rate risk exposure. 
This strategy is reflected in the bank’s decision-making and 
monitoring systems in the field of interest rate risk.

Measuring of interest rate risk is done by calculating:

• the risk arising from a sudden parallel +/- 200 basis point 
shift of the yield curve which affects the economic value 
of the bank’s equity;

• the risk arising from the imperfect correlation betwe-
en interest rates applying to different instruments with 
otherwise similar re-pricing characteristics (basis risk);

• the risk arising from interest rate changes which affect 
near-term earnings.

• the risk arising from the embedded options on assets and 
liabilities.

Since 30 June 2019, the bank measures its interest rate 
exposure as sensitivity of the economic value of equity 
(EVE) to a sudden parallel +/- 200 basis points shift of the 
yield curve. Previously, it used the so-called interest rate 
gap report IRR. The EVE approach calculations are done 
on a monthly basis and their results presented to the bank’s 
asset and liability management committee. This committee 
is responsible for controlling the interest rate risk and for 
making decisions about the level of interest rate risk assu-
med. Interest rate risk exposure and measurement, as well 

Net open foreign currency position was between EUR 491 
thousand and EUR 2,142 thousand in 2021, while on average 

it stood at EUR 1,289 thousand, with the standard deviation 
being EUR 349 thousand.
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as appropriate measures to be adopted if necessary, are 
laid down in the bank’s guidelines applying to interest rate 
risk management.
Based on relevant EBA guidelines, the bank calculates the 
impact of interest rate shocks on its EVE using six standard 
scenarios, namely Parallel Down, Parallel Up, Steepener, 
Flattener, Short Down and Short Up. Shocks are defined for 
each currency in view of the potential movement in interest 
rates. Different shocks for different currencies are applied, 
as some currencies are less volatile and their yields may 
not vary to the same extent as with more volatile currencies. 
The scenario with the highest effect is divided by total Tier 1 
capital and is used as a stress test result.

Sensitivity analysis of capital (200 bps shift)
thousand EUR

2021 2020

200 bps shift YE result 5,221 7,428

Average for the period 9,241 9,734

Maximum for the period 11,618 15,718

Minimum for the period 5,221 6,572

Sensitivity anaylsis of income statement (100 bps shift)
thousand EUR

2021 2020

100 bps shift YE result 1,378 2,940

Average for the period 2,270 2,944

Maximum for the period 3,435 4,025

Minimum for the period 1,352 1,754

The asset and liability management committee is respon-
sible for controlling the interest rate risk and for making 
decisions about the level of interest rate risk assumed. It 
approves the bank’s policy based mainly on variable-rate 
instruments, as well as decides on measures to be taken 
in the case of an excess exposure to the interest rate risk. 
The bank’s own limits applying to its interest rate exposure 
are determined together with the parent bank. Before la-
unching a new product, the bank also checks its effect on 
the interest rate risk.
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Exposure to interest rate risk

31 December 2021
 thousand EUR

Total At sight
Up to 3 

months

From 3 
months 

to 1 year
From 1 to 

5 years
Over 5 

years

Cash and balances with central bank 456,153 456,153

Securities at amortised costs 13,385 13,385

Loans to banks 4,726 214 4512

Loans to non-banks at amortised costs 1,152,573 15,324 416,041 544,817 114,794 61,597

Loans and other financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss 472 472

Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 73,881 16,355 35,131 11,557 10,838

Loans and deposits from banks 227,226 36,610 61,048 92,979 36,589

Deposits from –non-banks 1,273,925 854,880 150,024 169,702 97,691 1,628

GAP -403,186 240,314 375,115 -59,807 34,218

          
31 December 2020
 thousand EUR

Total At sight
Up to 3 

months

From 3 
months 

to 1 year
From 1 to 

5 years
Over 5 

years

Cash and balances with central bank 478,693 478,693

Loans to banks 21,471 15,394 1,563 4,514

Loans to non-banks at amortised costs 1,200,012 14,765 476,649 552,684 94,823 61,091

Loans and other financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss 3,494 1,405 2,089

Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 111,000 16,495 94,505

Loans and deposits from banks 239,216 22,243 92,192 92,974 31,807

Deposits from –non-banks 1,340,021 741,804 288,139 243,319 65,980 779

Subordinated liabilities 52,010 52,010

GAP -252,689 248,488 218,736 -59,617 28,505
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5.4 Operational risk
Operational risk is defined as potential losses due to the 
following: 
• inappropriateness or incorrect implementation of the 

bank’s internal processes;
• other inappropriate acts of the bank’s employees;
• inappropriateness or incorrect functioning of the bank’s 

internal systems;
• external events or acts. 

Operational risk also includes the next sub-categories:
• information technology risk and cyber risk, which is 

defined as potential losses due to inappropriate IT tech-
nology and processing, mainly in terms of manageability, 
accesses, integration, control and continuity;

• legal risk, which is defined as potential losses due to 
non-compliance with or improper application of laws, 
executive acts, instructions, recommendations, contracts, 
good banking practice or ethical norms;

• compliance risk (including conduct risk), which is the risk 
of legal sanctions or sanctions by regulatory bodies, fi-
nancial loss, unplanned expenses or loss of reputation as 
a result of non-compliance with laws, instructions, rules, 
policies/standards of the organisation or codes of con-
duct. Conduct risk is defined as the current or prospective 
risk of loss to an institution arising from inappropriate 
supply of financial services including cases of wilful or 
negligent misconduct;

• reputational risk, which refers to the potential adverse 
effects that can arise from the bank’s reputation deviating 
negatively from its expected level;

• regulatory risk, which is the risk that a change in laws and 
regulations will materially impact the bank’s operations;

• model risk, which arises from the uncertainty (errors) of 
model results (including risk estimation models, security 
costs and financial estimation tools), including the risk of 
model features changing with time;

• outsourcing risk - outsourcing means an arrangement of 
any form between a credit institution and a service provi-
der by which that service provider performs a process, a 
service or an activity that would otherwise be undertaken 
by the credit institution itself.

The most important factors affecting the operational risk 
are:
• people: their culture, ethics, motivation, knowledge, skills, 

etc.;
• processes: their design, implementation, clarity, approp-

riateness, controls, objectives, communication;
• systems: their appropriateness, safety, availability, etc.;

• environment: any undesired or unexpected changes, cri-
me, accidents, extraordinary events.

The main objective of the bank’s strategy of operational risk 
management is to minimise potential and actual operatio-
nal losses. The bank’s management board is expected to 
adopt an active approach to operational risk management, 
which includes raising awareness of such risk within the 
bank, promoting transparency, and evidencing of actual 
and potential losses.

As regards capital requirements for operational risk, the 
bank uses the standardised approach.

Using the loss events database, the bank analyses the cau-
ses of actual material losses arising from operational risk. It 
also uses yearly risk and control self-assessment to identify 
and assess possible material operational risk.

Any major1 losses and exposures associated with operati-
onal risk are reported to the bank’s senior management, 
including the bank’s management board. The latter deci-
des what additional measures, if any, should be taken to 
manage the operational risk, as well as the deadlines and 
persons responsible. The implementation of such measures 
is then monitored by the operational risk unit.
Losses arising from operational risk events in 2021 were 
EUR 799,872.11. After recoveries and other reductions (in 
the amount of EUR 4,179.39), they were reduced to EUR 
795,692.72 net.

Implementation and documentation of internal controls is a 
part of operational risk management. This is done with the 
integrated BART tool used for operational risk identification, 
assessment, analysis, monitoring and reporting. Internal 
controls are defined in great detail by the responsible heads 
of divisions/services who receive automatic reminders at 
specified intervals to check whether and how such internal 
controls are being carried out by their subordinates. There 
are 257 management controls covering all important bank 
processes. They are carried out periodically, as required. 
In 2021, they were performed 824 times, this represents a 
95,26% achievement of the plan.

Besides management controls, operational controls are 
also part of the internal control system. They are defined in 
internal guidelines.

1 Major loss” is defined in the internal operational risk policy.
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5.5 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
FAIR VALUE HIEARCHY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 

 
       thousand EUR

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 73,881   73,881

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value 472  472

- Equity instruments 472 472

- Debt instruments 0

- Loans to non bank customers 0

Financial assets held for trading  3,461  3,461

Total assets 74,353 3,461 77,814

Financial liabilities held for trading  3,560  3,560

Total liabilities  3,560  3,560

31 DECEMBER 2020 
 thousand EUR

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 111,000   111,000

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value   366  3,128 3,494

- Equity instruments  366  202 568

- Debt instruments   2,089 2,089

- Loans to non bank customers   837 837

Financial assets held for trading  6,636  6,636

Total assets 111,366 6,636 3,128 120,130

Financial liabilities held for trading  6,107  6,107

Total liabilities  6,107  6,107

(i.e. derived from quoted prices and prices on less active 
markets);

Level 3 – investments where fair value is determined based 
on valuation models that take into account subjective vari-
ables that are not publicly available to the markets.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 assets 
in 2021 and 2020.

In accordance with IFRS 7 and IFRS 13, the bank classified 
the fair value measurements in the following levels of fair 
value hierarchy:

Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
and liabilities;

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices on less active markets) or indirectly 
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Movements of level 3 financial assets
Year 2021
       thousand EUR

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value trough P&L

Equity instruments* Debt instruments Loans to non-bank 
customers

1 January 2021 202 837 2,089

Unrealised gains/losses related to balances held 
at the end of the period -34 -3

Net interest income, net trading income and other 
income  7 316

Purchase/sell/repayment -202 -810 -2,402

31 December 2021 0 0 0

*Fortenova

Year 2020
       thousand EUR

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value trough P&L

Equity instruments* Debt instruments Loans to non-bank 
customers

1 January 2020 286 1,164 2,628

Unrealised gains/losses related to balances held 
at the end of the period -84 -355 22

Net interest income, net trading income and other 
income  28 70

Purchase/sell/repayment   -631

31 December 2020 202 837 2,089

*Fortenova

Loans to non-bank customers mandatorily at fair value 
through profit or loss are loans that failed the SPPI test in 
accordance with  IFRS 9. Fair value  is calculated based on 

discounting of future cash flows with the required return 
rate.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, that are not me-
asured at fair value.

FAIR VALUE HIEARCHY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

The fair value of financial assets held to maturity was es-
timated based on the fair value of Level 1 assets (i.e. the 
market value of bonds). No other financial assets and liabi-
lities in the statement of financial position are carried at fair 
value. The fair value is determined based on the fair value 
of Level 2 assets (use of market indicators: interest rates).
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Year 2021
thousand EUR

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Book value Difference

Cash and balances with central bank 456,153 456,153 456,153 0

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 1,178,021 1,178,021 1,171,942 6,079

  Debt securities 13,385 13,385 13,385 0

  Loans to banks 4,726 4,726 4,726 0

  Loans to non-bank customers 1,158,652 1,158,652 1,152,573 6,079

  Other financial assets 1,258 1,258 1,258

Total assets 456,153 1,178,021 1,634,174 1,628,095 6,079

Deposits from banks and central banks 36,609 36,609 0

Deposits from non-bank customers 1,273,925 1,273,925 0

Loans from banks and central banks 190,617 190,617 0

Loans from non-bank customers 0 0 0

Subordinated loans 0 0 0

Other financial liabilities 13,063 13,063 0

Total liabilities 1,514,214 1,514,214 0

Year 2020
thousand EUR

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Book value Difference

Cash and balances with central bank 478,693 478,693 478,693 0

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 1,223,880 1,223,880 1,222,340 1,540

  Loans to banks 21,471 21,471 21,471 0

  Loans to non-bank customers 1,201,552 1,201,552 1,200,012 1,540

  Other financial assets 857 857 857 0

Total assets 478,693 1,223,880 1,702,573 1,701,033 1,540

Deposits from banks and central banks 22,242 22,242 22,242 0

Deposits from non-bank customers 1,340,021 1,340,021 1,340,021 0

Loans from banks and central banks 216,975 216,975 216,975 0

Loans from non-bank customers 0 0 0 0

Subordinated loans 52,010 52,010 52,010 0

Other financial liabilities 12,125 12,125 12,125 0

Total liabilities 1,643,373 1,643,373 1,643,373 0
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In 2021, the fair value of long-term loans was above their 
carrying amount. This is explained with the gradual decre-
asing of market interest rates: e.g., the three-month Euribor 
was -0.545% at year-end 2020 and -0.570% at year-end 
2021. Consequently, the fair value of long-term loans with a 
fixed interest rate increased and was above their carrying 
amount as at year-end 2021.

5.6 Capital management
The bank must, in accordance with the central bank’s re-
gulations and the Banking Act (ZBan-3) and EU regulations 
(the Capital Requirements Regulation (EU) No. 2019/876 and 
the Capital Requirements Directive (2019/878/EU), at all ti-
mes ensure an adequate structure and amount of its capital 
in respect of the size and type of services it provides and in 
respect of the risks to which it is exposed thereby. For this 
purpose, the bank has prepared internal monitoring pro-
cesses to ensure that its capital complies with all statutory 
requirements (in terms of structure and amount). By regu-
larly monitoring its capital amount, capital requirements 
and capital adequacy, the bank ensures the following:
• Tier 1 capital is used to cover all capital requirements 

whereas Tier 2 capital is only used to cover the minimum 
capital requirement under CRR within the first pillar of 
Basel II in excess of minimum Tier 1 capital under CRR;

• that its capital always at least equals the sum of capital 
requirements under the first pillar of Basel II (associated 
with credit, market and operational risks), second pillar 
of Basel II within the ICAAP process and capital buffers;

• that its capital adequacy ratio is at least 14.2%;
• that the capital adequacy ratio of internal capital (re-

gulatory capital + profit for the current year) to capital 
requirements under the second pillar always amounts to 
at least 8%;

• that the Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio is at least 12.2%;
• that the structure of its operations is optimal in respect 

of the level of risk assumed and the profitability required;
• that its claims are secured by collateral that reduces 

the risk level and at the same time guarantees debt re-
payment within the shortest time possible.

The bank regularly reports to the regulator and to the pa-
rent bank (in accordance with the Group’s guidelines) on its 
compliance with the capital adequacy and capital require-
ments regulations.

Once a year (upon preparation of the annual business 

plan), the bank also prepares a plan aimed at maintaining 
an adequate structure and amount of capital in view of the 
size and type of services it provides as well as in respect of 
the risks to which it is exposed and in respect of stress test 
results thereby.

Said plan aimed at maintaining an adequate amount of 
capital comprises:
• three-year projections of capital requirements and bank’s 

position, based on the relevant business plan;
• a projection of the largest scope of its operations based 

on capital projection;
• the amount, quality and sources of additional capital, if 

needed;
• an assessment of availability of external sources of ca-

pital;
• an assessment of financial consequences of a possible 

increase in capital;
• the effects on capital of possible changes in the bank’s 

business, operational and financial position;
• overview by maturity of debt and hybrid instruments 

acquired.

The factors that might affect the bank’s need for additional 
capital are the following:
• legislation/regulatory changes;
• an increase in the capital adequacy level by the central 

bank;
• an extraordinary/unplanned increase in provisions;
• an increase in the on- and off-balance sheet transactions;
• an increase in capital requirements for operational risk;
• an increase in capital requirements for other risks (identi-

fied within the ICAAP process);
• an increase in the required financing of individual deb-

tors;
• changes in the structure of risks assumed by the bank;
• shortfall of capital after stress test;
• possible losses from operations;
• changes in the dividend policy.
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Capital adequacy as at 31 December
thousand EUR

  2021 2020

CORE CAPITAL (TIER I) 187,186 189,764

Paid up capital 133,140 133,140

Share premium 27,248 27,248

Retained earnings 23,676 22,711

Deductions from tier I and other adjustments:

 Intangible assets -1,490 -1,619

 Other adjustments -1,572 -4,224

 IFRS 9 transitional arrangements (Article 473a) 6,184 12,508

ADDITIONAL CAPITAL (TIER II) 0 10,366

Subordinated loan 0 10,366

BANK’S OWN FUNDS (for solvency purposes) 187,186 200,130

Capital requirement for credit risk (standardised approach) 72,982 74,103

Central governments 1 39

Regional governments or local authorities 15 17

Public sector entities 699 2

Institutions 516 1,444

Corporates 32,141 29,332

Retail 19,868 21,301

Secured by real estate property 12,040 13,222

Past-due items 2,220 2,804

Items belonging to regulatory high-risk categories 3,646 3,480

Collective investment undertakings 165 169

Equity exposures 63 65

Other items 1,608 2,228

 Of which IFRS 9 transitional arrangements (Article 473a) 495 1,001

Capital requirement for commodities risk 0 0

Capital requirement for credit valuation adjustment 475 587

Capital requirement for operational risk (standardised approach) 6,082 6,116

Capital requirement for traded debt instruments (standardised approach) 400 63

Total capital requirement 79,939 80,869

Capital adequacy ratio (%): bank's own funds / (total capital requirement / 0.08) 18.73% 19.80%

Tier I ratio (%): Tier I / (total capital requirement / 0.08) 18.73% 18.77%
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6. Cash, cash balances at central banks and other 
demand deposits at banks

thousand EUR

           31. 12. 2021                 31. 12. 2020

EUR
 foreign 

currencies EUR
 foreign 

currencies

Cash on hand 12,862 901 12,930 713

Cash balances at central bank 433,140 443,562

Other demand deposits at banks 4,956 4,294 8,088 13,400

Total 450,957 5,195 464,580 14,113

Total (EUR and foreign currencies) 456,153 478,693

In accordance with Article 473a of the Regulation (EU) No 
575/2013 (CRR), as amended on 11 August 2020 in line with 
the CRR `quick fix` in response to the COVID-19 pandemic 
and based on the approval given by the ECB/JST in Janua-
ry 2021, the bank uses IFRS 9 transitional arrangements as 
foreseen in the CRR with the application static and dyna-

mic components, starting from 31 December 2020. As at 31 
December 2021, the total IFRS 9 transitional arrangements 
effect amounted to EUR 6,18 million.

In 2021, the item cash, balances with central banks and de-
mand deposits with banks includes the collateral provided 
for the derivatives portfolio in an amount of EUR 6,480 tho-
usand, which, in 2020, was included under loans to banks in 
an amount of EUR 5,720 thousand.

As at year-end 2021, demand deposits with banks amoun-
ted to EUR 9,250  thousand. Compared to 2020, they decre-
ased by EUR 12,238 thousand due to lower balances on the 
bank’s transaction accounts. 

Balances with central banks amounted to EUR 433,140 tho-
usand.

The bank’s obligatory reserve requirement was on average 
EUR 11,763,011  in 2021 (2020: EUR 13,270,534). As at year-end 
2021, the bank’s obligatory reserve amounted to EUR 11,507 
thousand (2020: EUR 12,303 thousand).

As at year-end 2021, of the item cash, balances with central 
banks and demand deposits with banks was EUR 456,154 
thousand gross, which, after impairment allowances of EUR 
1 thousand translates to EUR 456,153 thousand.
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7. Financial assets held for trading
thousand EUR

  31. 12. 2021 31. 12. 2020

Derivatives 3,461 6,635

Exchange rate-related transactions 718 1,443

Interest rate-related transactions 2,743 5,193

Loans and other financial assets 1 1

Financial assets held for trading 3,461 6,636

The reason for the decrease in assets held for trading in 
2021 is primarily in the change of the derivatives portfolio’s 
market value. Financial assets held for trading should be 
considered together with financial liabilities held for trading 
in chapter 15.

The reason for the decrease in assets held for trading in 
2021 is primarily in the change of the derivatives portfolio: 
the number of transactions, as well as the nominal and 
market values, which depend on client’s needs. In Decem-
ber 2021, there were 6 FX transactions less, 10 CAP transacti-
ons less and 4 IRS transactions less compared to December 
2020. Also, nominal values of transactions were smaller 

and consequently the market value was smaller. Almost all 
transactions are B2B hedged and only a small portion of FX 
transactions is not hedged and is part of the bank’s OCP 
position and consequently FX risk, i.e. capital requirements 
for FX risk. The bank also regularly calculates the TDI capital 
requirements, meaning that capital requirements are calcu-
lated quarterly for the trading book portfolio, regardless of 
whether transactions are B2B closed or not.

Movements:

  31. 12. 2021 31. 12. 2020

Fair value Fair value

Notional 
amount positive negative

Notional 
amount positive negative

Exchange rate-related  
transactions 179,915 718 1,017 227,094 1,443 1,225

FX FWD 58,540 216 310 113,902 649 510

FW swap 121,375 502 707 113,192 794 715

Interest rate-related transactions 317,219 2,742 2,543 361,071 5,192 4,883

IRS 317,219 2,742 2,543 361,071 5,192 4,883

IRS option       

Loans and other financial assets       

Total 497,134 3,461 3,559 588,165 6,636 6,107
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8. Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair 
value through profit or loss

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Equity instruments 472 568

Debt instruments 0 837

Loans to non-banks 0 2,089

Total 472 3,494

Compared to 2020, non-trading financial assets manda-
torily at fair value through profit or loss decreased by EUR 
3,021 thousand. The main reason is the repayment of a loan 
measured at fair value through profit and loss (an EUR 
2,045 thousand exposure with a profit or loss effect of EUR 
2,173 thousand) and the sale of debt and equity instruments 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (EUR 1,039 tho-
usand exposure with no material profit or loss effect). 

9. Financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

thousand EUR

  31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Gross  
carrying 
amount

Impairment 
(Stage 1)

Net carrying 
amount

Gross  
carrying 
amount

Impairment 
(Stage 1)

Net carrying 
amount

Equity instruments (9.1) 16,355 0 16,355 16,495 0 16,495

Debt securities (9.2) 57,535 -9 57,526 94,510 -5 94,505

Total 73,890 -9 73,881 111,000 -5 111,000

Profit or  loss effects are included in chapter 27, Net gains/
losses on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair 
value through profit or loss.
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9.1 Equity instruments, measured at fair value through other  
comprehensive income

thousand EUR

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Shares and interests of non-financial companies 23 22

Bankart. d. o. o., Ljubljana 11 11

 S.W.I.F.T. Belgium 12 11

Slovenian Resolution Fund 16,332 16,473

TOTAL 16,355 16,495

9.2 Debt securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income
Structure by issuer

thousand EUR

  31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Bonds issued by the Republic of Slovenia 47,513 94,505

Bonds issued by other EU governments 10,013 0

Total debt securities 57,526 94,505

Structure by listed-unlisted
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Listed 57,526 94,505

  Bonds 57,526 94,505

Total 57,526 94,505

The Bank of Slovenia established a special fund for bank 
resolution at the end of March 2015 pursuant to the Bank 
Resolution Authority and Fund Act (Official Gazette of the 
Republic of Slovenia, no. 97/14). The fund is financed by 
contributions from banks and savings banks established in 
Slovenia. The fund’s assets will be used for financing the re-
solution of banks within the framework of the extraordinary 

measures that can be imposed by the Bank of Slovenia. In 
accordance with said Act, the Fund will cease operations on 
31 December 2024.

The bank received EUR 4,333 dividend income form Ban-
kart in year 2021 and EUR 6,686 in year 2020.
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Fair value measurement
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Cost 57,160 92,893

Interest (receivables. accruals) 327 1,367

Change in fair value 39 245

Carrying amount 57,526 94,505

As at year-end 2021, the bank had EUR 43.3 million of first-
-class securities in the pool of the Bank of Slovenia, and 
EUR 51.6 million of loans with first-class insurance. These 
assets are ready to cover any regulatory pledging needs, 
to secure payment transactions and to ensure the bank’s 
secondary liquidity.

10. Financial assets measured at amortised cost
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

- Debt securities (10.1.) 13,385                             0

- Loans and advances to banks (10.2.) 4,726 21,471

- Loans and advances to customers (10.3.) 1,152,573 1,200,012

-Other financial assets (10.4.) 1,258 857

TOTAL 1,171,942 1,222,340

10.1 Debt securities
thousand EUR

  31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Gross  
carrying 
amount

Impairment 
(Stage 1)

Net carrying 
amount

Gross  
carrying 
amount

Impairment 
(Stage 1)

Net carrying 
amount

Long-term debt securities of 
non-financial companies 13,444 -59 13,385 0 0 0

Total debt securities 13,444 -59 13,385 0 0 0

As at year-end 2021, there were EUR 93 million of eligible 
loans and securities pledged for the ECB’s longer-term 
funding and EUR 12.7 million of securities pledged with the 
Slovenian Resolution Fund. In addition, EUR 16 million were 
pledged for SEPA payments.
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10.2 Loans and advances to banks

Structure by maturity
thousand EUR

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Short-term 219 6,645

EUR 219 6,645

Foreign currency 0 0

Long-term 4,508 14,826

EUR 4,508 14,826

Foreign currency 0 0

Total loans to banks 4,726 21,471

Structure by geographic area
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Slovenia 6 0

Other countries 4,720 21,471

TOTAL 4,726 21,471

In 2020, loans to banks included also the collateral provided 
for the derivatives portfolio in an amount of EUR 5,720 tho-
usand, which, in 2020, was included under cash, balances 
with central banks and demand deposits with banks.

As at year-end 2021, accumulated impairment of loans to 
banks was EUR 187 thousand (2020: EUR 178 thousand).

By risk stage, the whole amount of loans to banks was sta-
ge 1 as at year-end 2021 and also as at year-end year 2020.
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10.3 Loans and advances to customers 

Structure by sector, term and currency
thousand EUR

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

  Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

In EUR 117,768 1,054,822 80,582 1,148,056

General governments 0 41,962 0 56,818

Other financial corporations 2,634 503 769 2,782

Non-financial corporations 88,327 599,688 53,079 646,029

Households 26,807 412,669 26,734 442,427

- private individuals 24,584 382,568 23,963 408,922

- private individuals engaged in economic activity 32 1,080 39 966

- self-employed 2,005 27,871 2,214 30,485

- non-profit service providers 186 1,150 517 2,055

In foreign currency 630 22,018 895 25,200

Non-financial corporations 0 264 0 334

Households 630 21,754 895 24,866

- private individuals 630 21,671 895 24,735

- self-employed 0 83 0 132

Total gross loans to non-banks 118,399 1,076,840 81,477 1,173,257

Impairment allowances -6,717 -35,949 -12,592 -42,130

Total net loans to non-banks 111,682 1,040,891 68,885 1,131,127

Total loans to non-banks 1,152,573 1,200,012

In accordance with the Bank of Slovenia’s guidelines related 
to the treatment of interest on non-performing loans and 
the cancellation of charging of excluded interest accoun-
ting, the bank's gross carrying amount of non-performing 
loans as at 31 December 2021 decreased by EUR 59.5 million 
and impairment allowances by EUR 12.1 million.

As at year-end 2021, there were EUR 51,625 thousand of eli-
gible loans pledged for TLTROs, compared to EUR 70,699 
thousand as at year-end 2020.
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Structure by sector
thousand EUR

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

General governments 41,956 56,810

Other financial corporations 3,109 3,137

Non-financial corporations 655,559 658,383

Households 451,949 481,683

- private individuals 420,328 446,687

- private individuals engaged in economic activity 1,105 994

- self-employed 29,186 31,823

- non-profit service providers 1,330 2,179

Total loans to non-banks 1,152,573 1,200,012

First-class collateral
First-class collateral as at year-end 2021 by loan risk grade:

thousand EUR

A B C D Total

Bank deposits 2,464 5,532 8,410 32 16,438

Guarantees from the government 41,053 0 0 0 41,053

Total 43,517 5,532 8,410 32 57,491

First-class collateral as at year-end 2020 by loan risk grade: 
thousand EUR

A B C D Skupaj

Bank deposits 11,726 3,590 1,679 24 17,019

Guarantees from the government 55,779 0 0 0 55,779

Total 67,505 3,590 1,679 24 72,798

Eligible collateral – mortgage 
As at 31 December 2021, the bank had EUR 598,235 thou-
sand of loans insured by means of mortgages in its gross 
loan portfolio.

As at 31 December 2020, the bank had EUR 697,625 thou-
sand  of loans insured by means of mortgages in its gross 
loan portfolio.
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Impairment allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost

Movements in impairment allowances in 2021:
thousand EUR

Debt  
securities

Loans and 
advances 

to banks

Loans and 
advances 

to  
customers

Other 
financial 

assets Total 

1 January 0 178 54,722 231 55,132

Share of impairment allowances (%) 0.00 0.01 4.48 0.02 4.51

Formed 59 151 44,384 632 45,226

Released 0 -142 -44,874 -786 -45,802

Writeoffs -13,270 -13,270

Other* 1,703 1,703

31 December 59 187 42,665 77 42,989

Share of impairment allowances (%) 0.01 0.02 3.64 0.01 3.67

*Other refer to FX and other changes

Movements in impairment allowances in 2020:
thousand EUR

 Debt  
securities

Loans and 
advances 

to banks

Loans and 
advances 

to  
customers

Other 
financial 

assets Total 

1 January 0 260 41,628 141 42,029

Share of impairment allowances (%) 0.00 0.02 3.03 0.01 3.06

Formed 0 68 49,112 448 49,627

Released 0 -150 -37,888 -358 -38,396

Writeoffs -775 -775

Other* 2,645 2,645

31 December 0 178 54,722 231 55,132

Share of impairment allowances (%) 0.00 0.01 4.48 0.02 4.51
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Impairment allowances for loans and advances to customers

31. 12. 2021
thousand EUR

Expected credit losses

 Gross car-
rying amount Stage 1 Stage2 Stage 3 POCI Net carrying 

amount

General governments 41,962 -6 0 0 0 41,956

Other financial corporations 3,137 -28 0 0 0 3,109

Non-financial corporations 688,278 -3,549 -9,825 -16,361 -2,984 655,559

Households 461,862 -1,231 -1,180 -7,502 0 451,949

- private individuals 429,453 -1,067 -886 -7,172 0 420,328

- private individuals engaged in economic activity 1,113 -5 -1 -2 0 1,105

- self-employed 29,959 -152 -293 -328 0 29,186

- non-profit service providers 1,337 -7 0 0 0 1,330

Total 1,195,239 -4,814 -11,005 -23,863 -2,984 1,152,573

31. 12. 2020
thousand EUR

Expected credit losses

 Gross carrying 
amount Stage 1 Stage2 Stage 3 POCI Net carrying 

amount

General governments 56,818 -8 0 0 0 56,810

Other financial corporations 3,551 -24 -6 -385 0 3,136

Non-financial corporations 699,442 -7,169 -8,935 -22,700 -2,255 658,383

Households 494,923 -2,631 -1,914 -8,695 0 481,683

- private individuals 458,516 -2,395 -1,712 -7,722 0 446,687

- private individuals engaged in economic activity 1,004 -6 -2 -2 0 994

- self-employed 32,831 -213 -200 -595 0 31,823

- non-profit service providers 2,572 -17 0 -376 0 2,179

Total 1,254,734 -9,832 -10,855 -31,780 -2,255 1,200,012

10.4 Other financial assets
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

 
Gross 

carrying 
amount

Impa-
irment

(Stage 1)

Net 
carrying 
amount

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Impa-
irment 

(Stage 1)

Net 
carrying 
amount

Trade receivables 90 0 90 106 0 106
Receivables of other support activities 593 -62 531 365 -231 134

Other financial assets 652 -15 637 617 0 617

Total 1,335 -77 1,258 1,088 -231 857
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11. Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures
Long-term investments in Group members as at 31 December 2021

thousand EUR

Investment 
amount Share

Voting rights 
share

Subscribed 
capital

Loss of the 
year Total Equity

Privatinvest, d. o. o., Ljubljana 292 100 100 665 -131 292

Long-term investments in Group members as at 31 December 2020
thousand EUR

Investment 
amount Share

Voting rights 
share

Subscribed 
capital

Loss of the 
year Total Equity

Privatinvest, d. o. o., Ljubljana 423 100 100 665 -165 423

In 2021, the bank impaired its long-term investment in the 
Privatinvest subsidiary in an amount of EUR 131 thousand 
(2020: EUR 165 thousand). 

The 2021 and 2020 loss of Privatinvest is mainly explained 
with the additional impairments made due to the revaluati-

Key facts for Privatinvest d.o.o.
thousand EUR

2021 2020

Total assets 1,687 1,901

Total equity 292 423

Investment property 1,396 1,593

Financial and operating income and expenses 29 14

Administrative expenses -64 -70

As at year-end 2021, the subsidiary’s balance sheet total 
was EUR 1,687,024.38 EUR (2020: EUR 1,901,253.49). The 
main activity of Privatinvest is acting as real estate agency / 
intermediary (activity code 68.310).

Due to its insignificance for the bank’s financial position (the 
subsidiary’s balance sheet total representing only 0.1% of 
the bank’s balance sheet total). Privatinvest was excluded 
from consolidation in accordance with Article 56 of Com-
panies Act.

Article 7(5) of the “Regulation on the supervision of banks 
and savings banks on a consolidated basis” allows that 
a subsidiary is excluded from consolidation, provided its 
balance sheet total does not exceed 1% of the bank’s balan-
ce sheet total or EUR 10 million in absolute terms. N banka 
d.d. (formerly Sberbank banka d.d.) informed the Bank of 
Slovenia of exclusion of Privatinvest from consolidation.

The bank meets the IAS 27 criteria regarding the exception 
from consolidation. 

on of owned real estate.

Privatinvest was granted a loan by the bank, which amo-
unted to EUR 1,364 thousand as at year-end 2021 and EUR 
1,435 thousand as at year-end 2020.
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12. Tangible assets, investment property, intangible assets

Movements in property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets in 2021 thousand EUR

  Investment
property

Total  
Investment

property
Land and 
buildings Equipment

Assets
under construction

Leases 
IFRS16

Total Tangible
assets

Intangible
assets

Intangible
assets in 

preparation

Total  
Intangible

assets Grand Total 

Initial cost              

Balance 1 January 2021 501 501 7,596 9,296 185 6,539 23,616 4,517 380 4,897 29,014

Additions 47 47 4 658 570 233 1,465 610 641 1,251 2,763

Disposals -85 -85 -8 -636 -655 0 -1,299 -16 -697 -713 -2,097

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance 31 December 2021 463 463 7,592 9,318 100 6,772 23,782 5,111 324 5,435 29,680

            

Accumulated Depreciation     

Balance 1 January 2021 0 0 2,969 7,158 0 1,433 11,560 3,278 0 3,278 14,838

Accumulated Depreciation 0 0 174 805 0 700 1,679 683 0 683 2,362

Sales 0 0 5 1 0 0 6 0 0 0 6

Disposals 0 0 -8 -636 0 0 -644 -16 0 -16 -660

Balance 31 December 2021 0 0 3,140 7,328 0 2,133 12,601 3,945 0 3,945 16,546

           

Carrying amount      

31 December 2020 501 501 4,627 2,138 185 5,106 12,056 1,239 380 1,619 14,176

31 December 2021 463 463 4,452 1,990 100 4,639 11,181 1,166 324 1,490 13,134

In 2021, the bank used certain 100% amortised intangible assets (with a cost of EUR 1,636 thousand). At year-end 2021, the bank did not have property, plant and equipment assets pledged as collateral.



Movements in property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets in 2020
thousand EUR

 
Investment

property

Total Inve-
stment

property
Land and 
buildings Equipment

Assets
under construction

Leases 
IFRS16

Total Tangible
assets

Intangible
assets

Intangible
assets in 

preparation

Total  
Intangible

assets Grand Total 

Initial cost        

Balance 1 January 2020 969 969 7,581 8,647 263 6,641 23,132 4,132 568 4,700 28,801

Additions 5 5 15 758 742 0 1,515 749 513 1,262 2,782

Disposals -463 -463 0 -109 -820 -102 -1,031 -364 -701 -1,065 -2,559

Revaluation -10 -10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -10

Balance 31 December 2020 501 501 7,596 9,296 185 6,539 23,616 4,517 380 4,897 29,014

            

Accumulated Depreciation     

Balance 1 January 2020 0 0 2,795 6,534 0 721 10,050 2,911 0 2,911 12,961

Accumulated Depreciation 0 0 174 732 0 712 1,618 731 0 731 2,349

Sales 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Disposals 0 0 0 -109 0 0 -109 -364 0 -364 -473

Balance 31 December 2020 0 0 2,969 7,158 0 1,433 11,560 3,278 0 3,278 14,838

           

Carrying amount      

31 December 2019 969 969 4,786 2,113 263 5,920 13,082 1,221 568 1,789 15,840

31 December 2020 501 501 4,627 2,138 185 5,106 12,056 1,239 380 1,619 14,176

In 2020, the bank used certain 100% amortised intangible assets (with a cost of EUR 1,340 thousand). 
At year-end 2020, the bank did not have property, plant and equipment assets pledged as collateral.
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13. Tax assets
        thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

TAX ASSETS 446 1,888

Current tax assets 46 1,512

Deferred tax assets 400 376

Movements in deferred taxes in year 2021 by type of assets and liabilities 
     thousand EUR

1 January 31 December

Deferred tax assets– provisions for pensions 131 129

Deferred tax assets –provisions for anniversary bonuses 15 16

Deferred tax assets – valuation of securities 0 4

Deferred tax assets – impairment of capital investment 226 251

Deferred tax assets – investment relief 4 0

Total long term deferred tax assets 376 400

Deferred tax liabilities – securities 57 0

Total long term deferred tax liabilities 57 0

TOTAL NET DEFERRED TAXES 319 400

Movements in net deferred taxes in 2021 and 2020
thousand EUR

Opening balance
Through profit or 

loss
Through compre-

hensive income Closing balance

31 Dec 2021 319 79 2 400

31 Dec 2020 364 47 -92 319

Deferred tax assets arise from non-deductible provisions 
for employee benefits, deferred taxes on the valuation of 

available-for-sale securities and unused investment relief 
and impairment of capital investment.

Deferred taxes are shown net, as the difference between 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities.
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Deferred taxes from security valuation
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Net deferred taxes                    4 -57

Valuation to fair value 44 -68

Revaluation reserve 4 11

Deferred taxes – shown as changes in comprehensive income 48 -68

14. Other assets
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

 Receivables for advances 130 102

 Inventories 49 56

 Receivables for taxes. contributions and other duties 16 16

 Capitalised deferred expenses and accrued income 581 372

Total 776 546

15. Financial liabilities held for trading
thousand EUR

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Exchange rate-related transactions 1,017 1,225

Interest rate-related transactions 2,543 4,882

Financial liabilities held for trading 3,559 6,107

Financial liabilities held for trading should be considered 
with financial assets held for trading in chapter 15.
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16. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
 
16.1 Deposits from banks and central banks

Structure by type, currency and maturity 
  thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Demand deposits 36,609 22,242

  - EUR 36,609 22,242

Deposits with agreed maturity 0 0

Total 36,609 22,242
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16.2 Deposits from non-bank customers

Structure by type, currency and maturity
thousand EUR

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 202031 Dec 2020

  EUREUR
Foreign Foreign 

currencycurrency TotalTotal EUREUR
Foreign Foreign 

currencycurrency TotalTotal

Demand deposits 833,062 21,718 854,780 727,216 16,140 743,356

General governments 28,385 190 28,575 75,169 186 75,355

Other financial corporations 26,877 15 26,892 26,257 7 26,264

Non-financial corporations 358,568 14,982 373,550 319,675 10,657 330,332

Households 419,232 6,531 425,763 306,115 5,290 311,406

- private individuals 389,405 5,920 395,325 276,796 4,642 281,437

- private individuals engaged in economic activity 1,170 1 1,171 1,475 0 1,475

- self-employed 22,105 183 22,288 18,606 68 18,674

- non-profit service providers 6,552 427 6,979 9,239 580.696 9,819

Deposits with agreed maturity 418,960 181 419,142 596,511 154 596,665

Short-term deposits 113,484 95 113,579 299,693 88 299,781

General government 1,100 1,100 36,239 0 36,239

Other financial corporations 1,260 1,260 9,037 0 9,037

Non-financial corporations 17,670 17,670 128,990 0 128,990

Households 93,454 95 93,549 125,427 88 125,515

- private individuals 92,954 95 93,049 124,970 88 125,058

- private individuals engaged in economic activity 0 0 0 0

- self-employed 0 110 0 110

- non-profit service providers 500 500 347 0 347

Long-term deposits 305,477 86 305,563 296,817 66.482 296,884

General government 31,971 31,971 36,011 0 36,011

Other financial corporations 56,092 56,092 70,614 0 70,614

Non-financial corporations 118,728 118,728 106,831 0 106,831

Households 98,686 86 98,772 83,362 66 83,428

- private individuals 94,766 86 94,852 77,661 66 77,728

- private individuals engaged in economic activity 127 127 127 0 127

- self-employed 126 126 1,158 0 1,158

- non-profit service providers 3,667 3,667 4,415 0 4,415

Total deposits from non-banks 1,252,023 21,899 1,273,925 1,323,727 16,295 1,340,021
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An important source of funding are also long-term loans 
from banks, which stood at EUR 190,617 thousand at year-
-end 2021, of which 93,000 thousand is TLTRO (2020: EUR 
216,974 thousand, of which 93,000 thousand is TLTRO ).

The bank paid EUR 511 thousand of interest in year 2021 on 

long-term loans and EUR 709 thousand in year 2020.

The amount of undrawn credit lines at year-end 2021 was 
EUR 6,207 thousand and EUR 12,414 thousand at year-end 
2020.

16.3 Loans from banks

Structure by type, currency and maturity
          thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Dolgoročni krediti od bank 190,617 216,975

  - v EUR 190,617 216,975

Skupaj 190,617 216,975

The bank paid EUR 1,734 thousand of interest in year 2021 
on its subordinated liabilities and EUR 1,818 thousand in 
year 2020.

As of 31.12.2021 the Bank has not possessed any subordina-
ted debt as existing subordinated debt provided by Sber-
bank Europe AG was in accordance with the contract on 30. 
December 2021 repaid in full.

16.4 Subordinated liabilities

Structure
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Subordinated liabilities to non-residents in EUR 0 52,010

Total 0 52,010
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 16.5 Other financial liabilities
thousand EUR

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Liabilities to suppliers 1,241 1,045

Liabilities from card business 1,081 943

Liabilities for unprocessed payments 3,190 431

Liabilities from salaries. taxes and contributions 1,282 1,286

Accrued expenses and deferred income 1,781 1,909

Liabilities from leases 4,751 5,233

Other financial liabilities 1,018 1,278

Total 14,344 12,125

Liabilities for unprocessed payments increased in 2021 
compared to 2020 due to other liabilities from currency 

conversion in an amount of EUR 2,850 thousand.

Leases recognised in accordance with IFRS 16
thousand EUR

 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Up to one year  785 735

From one to five years 2,883 2,827

More than five years 2,496 2,477

Total future lease payments 6,165 6,039

Amounts of future lease payments are undiscounted values.
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17. Provisions

Structure
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Pending lawsuits 1,330 627

Employee benefits 1,522 1,536

Off-balance sheet liabilities 725 1,898

Total 3,577 4,061

As at 31 December 2021, pending lawsuits in which the bank 
acted as defendant amounted to EUR 7,723 thousand (2020: 
EUR 5,346 thousand). Provisions set aside by the bank for 
this purpose were EUR 1,330 thousand (2020: EUR 627 
thousand). The management board is of the opinion that 

said provisions are sufficient in view of the potential future 
liabilities arising from such lawsuits. 

Off-balance sheet liabilities are additionally disclosed in 
chapters 34. and 34.1..

Movements in 2021
thousand EUR

Off-balance  
sheet liabilities Employee benefits Pending lawsuits Total

1 January 1,898 1,536 627 4,061

Increases 9,476 185 736 10,397

Decreases -10,648 -200 -33 -10,881

31 December 725 1,522 1,330 3,577

Movements in 2020
thousand EUR

Off-balance sheet 
liabilities Employee benefits Pending lawsuits Total

1 January 1,345 1,576 1,081 4,001

Increases 5,016 195 110 5,320

Decreases -4,463 -233 -564 -5,260

31 December 1,898 1,536 627 4,061
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18. Tax liabilities
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

TAX LIABILITIES 2,116 57

Current tax liabilities 2,116 0

Deferred tax liabilities 0 57

Share capital comprised 31,928,152 ordinary shares with a 
nominal value of EUR 4.17.

Current tax liabilities represent the remaining tax liability for 
2021. 

The bank did not have deferred tax liabilities at year-end 
2021.

19. Other liabilities
    thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Other taxes payable 284 341

Deferred income 843 799

Total 1,127 1,140

20. Equity 
      thousand EUR

      31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Share capital 133,140 133,140

Share premium 27,248 27,248

Accumulated other comprehensive income 355 389

Reserves from profit 6 6

Retained earnings 23,676 22,711

Profit for the year 10,257 965

Total equity 194,682 184,459
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Share premium mainly comprise paid-up share premium, 
and also the former general capital revaluation adjustment.

Accumulated other comprehensive income stood at EUR 
355 thousand as at year-end 2021. It relates to fair value 
valuation of financial assets at fair value through other 

BALANCE SHEET PROFIT FOR 2021
thousand EUR

BALANCE SHEET PROFIT 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Profit carried forward from previous years 23,676 22,711

Increase (additional) reserves from Profit of the year 10,257 965

Balance sheet profit 33,933 23,676

EARNINGS PER SHARE
v EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Profit or loss after tax 10,257,026 964,951

Shares outstanding 31,928,152 31,928,152

Average number of shares 31,928,152 31,928,152

Basic earnings per share 0.32 0.03

Diluted earnings per share 0.32 0.03

In 2021, earnings per share were EUR 0.32.

In accordance with the bank's Articles of Association, the 
general meeting decides on the usage of the balance sheet 
profit at the proposal of the management and supervisory 
boards. While this proposal is not binding for the general 
meeting, the approved annual report is. Its resolution on 
usage of the accumulated profit must contain the following 
information: 
• the amount of the balance sheet profit;
• the amount of profit distributed to shareholders;
• the amount of profit allocated to other reserves from 

profit;
• the amount of profit carried forward to the following year; 

comprehensive income, and actuarial gains/losses on 
pension plans previously recognised in retained earnings.

Net profit for the financial year 2021, for which the bank is 
going to propose to the general meeting of shareholders 
that it remains unallocated, was EUR 10,257,025.50.

As at year-end 2021, the book value of a share calculated 
based on the bank’s total equity was EUR 6.10, which was 
EUR 0.32 EUR more than as at 31 December 2020.

and
• the amount of profit appropriated for other purposes 

provided for in the bank's Articles of Association.

The resolution on appropriation of the accumulated profit 
does not change the approved annual report. The general 
meeting cannot decide on matters concerning the bank's 
management, unless if so required by the management 
board.

Other reserves from profit were formed in previous years 
from profit and retained earnings for those years, and 
cannot be distributed to shareholders. They remained 
unchanged in 2021.
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21. Off-balance sheet items
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

- Contingencies arising from guarantees. letters of credit and other contingencies 
and commitments (including assets pledged for clients’ liabilities) 137,010 115,267

- Granted loans. overdrafts. credit lines and other assumed liabilities 242,351 242,371

- Contractual (notional) amounts of spot transactions 1,407 858

- Contractual (notional) amounts of derivative financial instruments 497,134 588,165

Total risky items 877,902 946,661

- Other off-balance sheet items 61,207 67,414

- Collateral received 1,901,303 2,034,748

- Bank’s financial assets pledged for the bank’s liabilities and financial assets in 
the pool of the Bank of Slovenia 115,521 170,843

Total risk-free items 2,078,031 2,273,005

Total off-balance sheet items 2,955,933 3,219,666

As at year-end 2021, the bank had off-balance sheet 
items involving some risk of EUR 877,902 thousand, and 
off-balance sheet items involving no risk of EUR 2,078,031 
thousand. All derivative financial instruments were held for 
trading.

ASSETS PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL

As at year-end 2021, the bank had EUR 43.3 million of first-
-class securities in the pool of the Bank of Slovenia, and 
EUR 51.6 million of loans with first-class insurance. These 
assets are ready to cover any regulatory pledging needs, 

to secure payment transactions and to ensure the bank’s 
secondary liquidity.

As at year-end 2021, there were EUR 12.7 million of eligible 
loans and securities pledged for the ECB’s longer-term 
funding and EUR 93 million of securities pledged with the 
Slovenian Resolution Fund. In addition, EUR 16 million were 
pledged for SEPA payments.

FIDUCIARY TRANSACTIONS
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Fiduciary transactions 26,847 41,817

  Syndicated loans 26,847 41,817

The bank did not have any assets or liabilities arising from 
transactions for third party accounts as at 31 December 
2021 and as 31 December 2020.
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22. Net interest income

Interest by source
thousand EUR

2021 2020

Net interest income 25,877 30,437

Interest income 33,027 38,069

Interest income recognised at effective interest rate 29,571 35,084

Interest income not recognised at effective interest rate 2,520 2,800

Negative interest rates from financial liabilities 936 185

Interest income 33,027 38,069

Financial assets held for trading 1,461 1,310

Loans and deposits 30,622 36,547

Other financial assets 944 213

Interest expenses -7,149 -7,633

Financial liabilities held for trading -1,371 -1,196

Financial liabilities at amortised cost -3,790 -4,433

Financial assets measured at fair value through other other comprehensive income -65 -91

Negative interest rates from financial assets 1,853 1,834

Lease interests -70 -79

Net fees and commissions from investment services and transactions 
thousand EUR

2021 2020

Fee and commission income from investment and ancillary investment services and transactions for 
clients 922 623

Fee and commission expenses from investment and ancillary investment services and transactions for 
clients -1,787 -51

Fee and commission expenses from investment and ancil-
lary investment services and transactions for clients incre-
ased due to fees for QR payment order processing of EUR 
1,609 thousand. Fee and commission income from inve-

stment and ancillary investment services and transactions 
for clients are mostly from bancassurance and investment 
products, which we offer to our clients.

Negative interest under targeted longer-term refinancing 
operations (TLTRO III) amounted to EUR 705 thousand in 
2021 and EUR 60 thousand in 2020.
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Interest by type
thousand EUR

        2021       2020

Income Expenses Income Expenses

Regular 31,210 -7,149 36,268 -7,633

Default 107 0 184 0

Accrued fees similar to interest 1,709 0 1,618 0

Total 33,027 -7,149 38,069 -7,633

23. Dividend income 
thousand EUR

  2021 2020

Dividend income 24 24

Total 24 24
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24. Net fee and commission income
thousand EUR

2021 2020

Net fee and commission income 14,000 11,810

Fee and commission income 16,991 14,270

Auxiliary services to investment services 153 9

Payment transactions 12,555 10,646

Credit transactions 1,999 1,576

Guarantees issued 1,379 1,316

Fee and commission income from fiduciary operations 135 136

Fee and commission income from operations, which are not related to services 770 587

Fee and commission expenses -2,991 -2,460

Stock Exchange and similar organisations -10 -16

Expenses for commissions from the supply of custody services -140 0

Payment transactions -2,598 -2,238

Expenses for commissions from credit operations on the bank's account -26 -42

Expenses for commissions from other institutions on the bank's account -12 -9

Other services -205 -155

25.  Realised gains and losses on financial assets and 
liabilities not measured at fair value through profit 
or loss

thousand EUR

   2021    2020

Net realised gains/losses -14 -19

Realised losses -14 -19

Loans and receivables -4 -6

Financial liabilities at amortised cost -9 -10

Other financial assets and liabilities -1 -3
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26.  Net gains/losses from financial assets  and 
liabilities held for trading 

thousand EUR

2021 2020

Net gains/losses -109 496

  

Trading in foreign exchange and precious metals 841 709

    Companies 693 619

    Households 148 90

  

Derivatives -950 -213

    Forwards 553 75

    Swaps -1,508 -294

    Options 5 7

27.  Net gains/losses from non-trading financial assets 
mandatorily at fair value through profit or losS

        thousand EUR

2021 2020

Net gains/losses from non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through 
profit or loss 2,246        -366

Gains from stocks and shares 72 -366

Gains from financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss 2,173 0
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28. Exchange differences 
thousand EUR

2021 2020

Net gains/losses 819 320

 Foreign exchange gains 4,670 5,260

 Foreign exchange losses -3,851 -4,940

29.  Gains and losses on derecognition of assets other 
then held for sale

thousand EUR

2021 2020

Net gains/losses -8 76

 Gains 23 77

 Losses -31 -1

30. Other operating net income 
thousand EUR

2021 2020

Other net operating gains/losses 308 518

Gains 568 551

    Income for non-banking services 19 17

    Income from investment property leases 0 5

    Other operating income 549 529

Losses -260 -33

   Other operating expenses -260 -33

The majority of gains represent income from previously 
written-off cases.
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ANALYSIS OF INCOME AND EXPENSES BY MARKET
thousand EUR

2021 2020

Total income (gross) 64,646 69,874

Income earned in foreign markets 9,821 9,230

Share of income earned in foreign markets (%) 15.19% 13.21%

Total expenses (gross) 23,278 28,335

Expenses incurred in foreign markets 9,049 13,109

Share of expenses incurred in foreign markets (%) 38.88% 46.26%

The majority of income earned in foreign markets arose 
from transactions with Sberbank Europe AG and Unicredit 
Bank. 

The majority of expenses incurred in foreign markets arose 
from transactions with Sberbank Europe AG and the finan-
cial institution JP Morgan AG.

31. Administrative expenses
thousand EUR

2021 2020

Total administrative expenses 27,387 26,645

Labour costs (31.1.) 17,069 16,738

Costs of material and services 10,318 9,907

Advertising 1,120 1,152

Consulting. Auditing, legal consulting and notarial services 1,690 1,600

Information technology system 4,865 4,267

Rents 55 67

Other services 1,196 1,415

Maintenance, management and protection of PPE assets 153 154

Postal and other communication services 738 715

Insurance 0 0

Business trips 10 14

Seminars and tuition fees 81 52

Material 409 470

Costs related to payments to the Slovenian Resolution Fund and the Deposit 
Guarantee Scheme

                                      
1,731 1,618

Resolution Fund 1,061 956

Deposit Guarantee Scheme 670 663
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31.1. Labour costs
2021 2020

Salaries 13,098 13,000

Social obligatory expense 2,099 2,009

Variable remunerations 317 141

Reservations for severance payments 184 195

Other compensation to personnel 1,371 1,394

Skupaj 17,069 16,738

In 2021 performance bonus was paid out to employees and 
management board in the amount of 279 thousand EUR 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES in 2021
In 2021, the bank had 385.25 employees on average. As at 
year-end 2021, it had 379 employees. In accordance with the 

Klasius classification – classification system of education 
and training, the educational structure of employees is the 
following:

Level of education under the Klasius classification
Number of 

employees per  
31. 12. 2021

Share of employees 
per 31. 12. 2021

Level V –secondary school degree 116 31%

Level VI/1. – high school degree (pre-Bologna) 36 9%

Level VI/2. – first cycle degree (Bologna) 107 28%

Level VII – second cycle degree (Bologna), university degree (pre-Bologna) 106 28%

VIII/1. – master’s and specialist’s degree (pre-Bologna) 13 3%

VIII/2. – third cycle degree (Bologna) 1 0%

Total 379 100 %

Level of education under the Klasius classification
Number of 

employees per  
31. 12. 2020

Share of employees 
per 31. 12. 2020

Level V –secondary school degree 122 31 %

Level VI/1. – high school degree (pre-Bologna) 33 8 %

Level VI/2. – first cycle degree (Bologna) 112 29 %

Level VII – second cycle degree (Bologna), university degree (pre-Bologna) 107 28 %

VIII/1. – master’s and specialist’s degree (pre-Bologna) 14 4%

Total 388 100%

for the year 2021. The bonus pay out was approved by the 
Supervisory board.
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32. Amortisation and depreciation
thousand EUR

2021 2020

Total amortisation/depreciation 2,367 2,349

Depreciation of property. plant and equipment 979 906

Amortisation of intangible assets 683 731

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 706 712

As in 2020, the bank used the proportional  
amortisation/depreciation method also in 2021.

33. Modification gains or losses - net
thousand EUR

2021 2020

Modification gains/losses net 14 -80

Modification gains from loans 246 798

Write-offs -231 -878

34. Impairment and provisions
Impairment and provisions in 2021

thousand EUR

 

Recognition of 
impairment and 

provisions

Derecognition of 
impairment and 

provisions Total

Impairment – loans (34.1.) -45,167 45,802 635

Impairment – long term investments in subsidiaries -131 0 -131

Impairment debt securities–FvOCI -20 16 -4

Impairment debt securities–amortized cost -59 0 -59

Total impairment -45,377 45,818 441

Provisions for off-balance items (note 34.2.) -9,476 10,648 1,172

Provisions for pending lawsuits -736 33 -703

Total provisions -10,212 10,682 470

Total impairment and provisions -55,589 56,499 910

In accordance with its internal policy for the assessment 
of losses arising from credit risk, the bank recognised 
EUR 441 thousand of impairment release, which is EUR 
11,826 thousand less than in the previous year. The main 

reason for the decrease in impairments were sale of part 
of non-performing loans portfolio  and provision mdelling 
updates.
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Impairment and provisions in 2020
thousand EUR

 
Recognition of 

impairment and 
provisions

Derecognition of impa-
irment and provisions Total

Impairment – loans -49,628 38,396 -11,232

Impairment – investment property -10 0 -10

Impairment – long term investments in subsidiaries -165 0 -165

Impairment debt securities-FvOCI -6 28 22

Impairment debt securities-amortized cost 0 0 0

Total impairment -49,809 38,424 -11,385

Provisions for off-balance items -5,015 4,462 -553

Provisions for pending lawsuits 0 0 0

Other provisions -110 564 454

Total provisions -5,125 5,026 -99

Total impairment and provisions -54,934 43,450 -11,484

34.1. Movement of provisions for loans 
Year  2021

thousand EUR

Stage1 Stage2 Stage3 Total

  Gross value ECL Gross value ECL Gross value ECL Gross value ECL

Amount at 1.1.2021 1,033,586 -10,230 176,526 -10,856 67,360 -34,046 1,277,472 -55,132

Increases/Decreases including 
changes in ECL measurement  
model assumptions and estimates 
and other changes

-21,544 7,898 -23,898 -4,294 -17,274 -4,671 -62,716 -1,067

Writeoffs     -13,270 13,270 -13,270 13,270

Transfer to Stage 1 61,118 -3,410 -58,934 2,569 -2,184 841 0 0

Transfer to Stage 2 -52,126 598 52,529 -721 -402 123 0 0

Transfer to Stage 3 -6,493 82 -12,414 2,297 18,908 -2,379 0 0

Amount at 31.12.2021 1,014,541 -5,062 133,808 -11,005 53,137 -26,862 1,201,486 -42,929
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Year 2020
thousand EUR

Stage1 Stage2 Stage3 Total

  Gross value ECL Gross value ECL Gross value ECL Gross value ECL

Amount at 1.1.2020 1,314,467 -8,664 56,722 -4,341 54,453 -29,025 1,425,643 -42,030

Increases/Decreases including 
changes in ECL measurement  
model assumptions and estimates 
and other changes

-115,237 -1,961 -25,623 -5,114 -6,536 -6,803 -147,396 -13,877

Writeoffs     -775 775 -775 775

Transfer to Stage 1 25,353 -937 -24,059 546 -1,294 391 0 0

Transfer to Stage 2 -173,510 1,019 176,908 -2,508 -3,398 1,488 0 0

Transfer to Stage 3 -17,487 312 -7,422 560 24,909 -873 0 0

31.12.2020 1,033,586 -10,230 176,526 -10,856 67,360 -34,046 1,277,472 -55,132

34.2. Movement of provisions for off - balance sheet receivables
Year 2021

thousand EUR

Stage1 Stage2 Stage3 Total

  Gross value ECL Gross value ECL Gross value ECL Gross value ECL

Amount at 1.1.2021 347,687 1,713 9,619 126 331 58 357,637 1,897

Increases/Decreases including 
changes in ECL measurement  
model assumptions and estimates

23,198 -1,062 -1,095 -96 -379 -14 21,724 -1,172

Transfer to Stage 1 5,265 27 -5,265 -27   0 0

Transfer to Stage 2 -3,407 -10 3,562 53 -155 -43 0 0

Transfer to Stage 3 -168  -290 -2 458 2 0 0

Amount at 31.12.2021 372,575 668 6,531 54 255 3 379,361 725
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Year 2020
thousand EUR

Stage1 Stage2 Stage3 Total

  Gross value ECL Gross value ECL Gross value ECL Gross value ECL

Amount at 1.1.2020 375,172 1,179 4,540 22 549 144 380,261 1,345

Increases/Decreases including 
changes in ECL measurement  
model assumptions and estimates

-18,081 561 -4,375 4 -168 -13 -22,624 552

Writeoffs         

Transfer to Stage 1 3,092 10 -3,087 -10 -5  0 0

Transfer to Stage 2 -12,349 -37 12,565 110 -216 -73 0 0

Transfer to Stage 3 -147 0 -24  171  0 0

Amount at 31.12.2020 347,687 1,713 9,619 126 331 58 357,637 1,897

35. Net profit or loss for the current year 

As at year-end 2021, total profit before tax accounted at 
EUR 12,583 thousand. The tax expense related to profit by 
the bank was EUR -2,326 thousand and net profit for 2021 
was EUR 10,257 thousand.

Any differences between the data from two consecutive 
balance sheets and the data from the income statement 
for the period between them were corrected to ensure that 
inflows were as close as possible to receipts and outflows to  
expenses.

36. Notes to the cash flow statement 

The bank prepared the cash flow statement in accordance 
with the indirect method using the income statement and 
balance sheet data. Within cash equivalents, it included 
all financial assets with an original maturity of up to three 
months. Under IAS 7,these are short-term, highly liquid 
assets that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
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Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2021
thousand EUR

Cash and balances with central bank 444,903

Loans to banks and savings banks maturing in 3 months 4,770

    Transaction accounts abroad  493

    Transaction accounts abroad in foreign currency 4,277

    Short-term deposits with banks up to 30 days 2,000

    other short-term investments in banks 4,480

TOTAL 456,153

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2020
thousand EUR

Cash and balances with central bank 457,205

Loans to banks and savings banks maturing in 3 months 21,488

    Transaction accounts abroad  8,103

    Transaction accounts abroad in foreign currency 13,385

TOTAL 478,693

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2019
thousand EUR

Cash and balances with central bank 321,937

Loans to banks and savings banks maturing in 3 months 14,229

    Transaction accounts abroad 4,721

    Transaction accounts abroad in foreign currency 9,508

TOTAL 336,166

Interest and dividends received and paid in 2021 and in 2020
thousand EUR

  2021 2020

Interest received 30,214 38,698

Interest paid 5,856 8,511

Dividends received 24 24
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37. Auditing expenses 

In accordance with a contract to audit the 2021 annual re-
port, the bank paid Ernst & Young d.o.o. the amount of EUR 
54,200 without VAT (2020: EUR 54,200 without VAT).

In accordance with a contract to audit the 2021 related par-
ties transaction report, the bank paid Ernst & Young d.o.o. 
the amount of EUR 4,000 without VAT (2020: EUR 4,000 
without VAT).

In accordance with a contract related to the 2021 Group re-
porting package audit, the bank paid Ernst & Young d.o.o. 
the amount of EUR 10,000 without VAT (2020: EUR 10,000 
without VAT).

In accordance with contracts related to the quarterly repor-
ting, the bank paid Ernst & Young d.o.o. the amount of EUR 
45,000 without VAT for the first three quarters of 2021 (2020: 
EUR 58,000 without VAT).

38. Effective tax rate
   thousand EUR

 2021 2020

Profit or loss from continuing operations before tax 12,583 1,119

Estimated tax liability at the statutory tax rate of 19% 2,391 213

Difference to the actual tax liability -56 -59

Reduced expenses (non-deductible entertainment expenses, donations, employee 
benefits)  125  120

Tax incentives (capital investments), incl, transferred tax incentives -181 -177

Provisions for pension plan in retained earnings (actuarial gains/losses) -9 -2

Other
Income tax in the income statement 2,326 154

Effective tax rate   18.49 % 13.476%

In accordance with a contract to audit the 2021 TLTRO re-
port, the bank paid Ernst & Young d.o.o. the amount of EUR 
5.000 without VAT. ( 2020: EUR 5,000 without VAT).

The total amount spent on auditing in 2021 amounted to 
EUR 118.200 without VAT (2020: EUR 131.200 without VAT).

The audit and other non-audit services were approved by 
the audit committee.
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39. Related parties

On the basis of Article 545 and Article 546 of the Compani-
es Act, the company's management prepared a report on 
relations with the parent company and other subsidiaries 
in the Group, in which it found that Sberbank banka d.d., 
based on the circumstances known to it at that time, did not 
enter into such transactions with the parent company and 
its affiliates or taken or abandoned other actions at their 

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021
            thousand EUR

Management 
board members

Key  
management 

personnel*

Close family 
members of 

management 
board members 

and key 
management 

personnel**
Sberbank of 

Russia
Other related 

parties

Loans to and receivables from 
banks 0 0 0 878 3,418

Loans to and receivables from 
non-banks 0 917 120 0 1,364

Investments in subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 292

Other assets 0 1 0 0 109

Total assets 0 918 120 878 5,183

Financial liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 0 107

Deposits and loans from banks 0 0 0 1,412 35,198

Deposits from non-banks 500 569 296 0 249

Other liabilities 0 3 0 127 2,355

Total liabilities 500 572 296 1,539 37,909

Subordinated debt provided by Sberbank Europe AG was  
in accordance with the contract on 30. December 2021  
repaid in full.

initiative in 2021 that would be to its detriment or result in it 
suffering a loss.
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Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020
                       thousand EUR

Management 
board  

members

Key 
management 

personnel*

Close family 
members of 

management 
board members 

and key 
management 

personnel**
Sberbank of 

Russia
Other related 

parties

Financial assets held for trading 0 0 0 0 0

Loans to and receivables from banks 0 0 0 3,653 25,684

Loans to and receivables from non-banks 25 583 130 0 1,434

Investments in subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 423

Other assets 0 1 0 1 119

Total assets 25 584 130 3,654 27,660

Financial liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 0 0

Deposits and loans from banks 0 0 0 5,035 22,243

Deposits from non-banks 759 587 564 0 285

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 0 52,010

Other liabilities 0 1 0 20 220

Total liabilities 759 588 564 5,055 74,758

*Key managers: procurators and members of senior management.
**Close family members of Management Board members and key managers: parents, children, brothers and sisters.

Income statement for 2021
thousand EUR

Management 
board 

members

Key 
management 

personnel*

Close family 
members of 

management 
board members 

and key 
management 

personnel**

Other 
related 
parties

Net interest income -2 8 1 16 -1,473

Net fee and commission income 0 2 1 -2 422

Gains and losses on financial assets and 
liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 1 -836

Other net operating income 0 7 0 0 11

Administrative costs 0 -13 0 -33 -1,022

Provisions 0 -7 0 0 -142

Release of provisions 0 7 0 2 19

Total -2 4 2 -16 -3,021
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Income statement for 2020

             thousand EUR

Management 
board 

members

Key 
management 

personnel*

Close family 
members of 

management 
board members 

and key 
management 

personnel**
Sberbank of 

Russia

Other 
related 
parties

Net interest income -1 9 0 30 -1,592

Net fee and commission income 0 2 1 -89 343

Gains and losses on financial assets and 
liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 -1,141 -2,396

Other net operating income 0 7 0 0 10

Administrative costs -40 -12 0 -40 -1,024

Provisions 0 -5 0 -5 -248

Release of provisions 0 5 0 8 153

Total -41 6 1 -1,237 -4,754

* Key managers: procurators and members of senior management.
**Close family members of management board members and key managers: parents, children, brothers and sisters.

Terms and conditions and amounts of loans to management board members and key management 
personnel as at 31 December 2021

thousand EUR

Maturity Currency
Interest 

rate

Type of 
interest 

rate Collateral
Loan 

amount
Repayment 

in year 

Key management personnel long-term EUR 1.55 fixed

mortgage, pledge of 
insurance, personal 

securities, insurance 
company

323 46

Key management personnel long-term EUR 1.12 variable

mortgage, pledge of 
insurance, personal 

securities, insurance 
company

273 117

Key management personnel long-term CHF 0.50 variable

mortgage, pledge of 
insurance, personal 

securities, insurance 
company

101 19

Total     697 182

As at year-end 2021, the bank had 2.3 thousand  
provisions or impairments related to these loans.
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Terms and conditions and amounts of loans to management board members and key management 
personnel as at 31 December 2020

thousand EUR

Maturity
Curren-

cy
Interest 

rate

Type of 
interest 

rate Collateral
Loan 

amount
Repayment 

in year 

Key management personnel long-term EUR 2.19 fixed

mortgage, pledge of 
insurance, personal 

securities, insurance 
company

140 39

Key management personnel 
(granted before 1 Jan 2005) long-term EUR 0 variable mortgage, pledge of 

insurance 11 3

Key management personnel long-term EUR 1.17 variable

mortgage, pledge of 
insurance, personal 

securities, insurance 
company

307 79

Key management personnel long-term CHF 0.40 variable

mortgage, pledge of 
insurance, personal 

securities, insurance 
company

113 20

Total  571 140

The terms applicable to the transactions with members of 
the management and supervisory boards and employees 
with individual employment contracts are the same as 
those applicable to other bank employees and their family 
members, i.e. the same as those laid down in the bank’s 
official tariff.

As at year-end 2020, the bank had EUR 1.8 thousand provi-
sions or impairments related to these loans.

Key management personnel includes procurators and 
members of senior management.
The bank does not have internal owners and therefore does 
not disclose their receipts.

Receipts of members of supervisory board in 2021
thousand EUR

Independent members of supervisory Board 2021

Gross receipts – attendance fee 11.0

Reimbursement of expenses 0.0

Total 11.0

In accordance with the remuneration policy only the inde-
pendent supervisory board members are entitled to remu-
neration for performing their tasks.
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Gross receipts of management board members in 2021
thousand EUR

Jana  
Benčina-Henigman*

Aleš 
Zajc**

Damijan 
Dolinar

Elena
Burdakova 

1. 1.-31. 12. 1. 1.-30. 9. 1. 1.-31. 12. 1. 1.-31. 12.

Fix receipts (gross salary) 296 136 221 220

Variable pay (annual bonus) 50 134 78 100

Profit sharing 0 0 0 0

Insurance and pension insurance 0 13.5 2.8 0.5

Costs reimbursment1) 0.7 0 0.3 0

Provisions and other additional 
receipts 

Total 347 284 302 321

* Mrs.Benčina-Henigman start 1/12/2020 

** Mr. Zajc term of office until 30/09/2021 
1) Lunch reimbursement, accommodation & utility costs.

Gross receipts of management board members in 2020

Gašpar 
Ogris-Martič*

Aleš 
Zajc

Damijan 
Dolinar

Elena
Burdakova

Elisabeth 
Gril**

1. 1.-30.11. 1. 1.-31.12. 1. 1.-31.12. 1. 1.-31.12. 1.1.-1.4.

Fix receipts (gross salary) 269 271 222 202 0

Variable pay (annual bonus) 0 0 0 0 0

Profit sharing 0 0 0 0 0

Insurance and pension 
insurance 66 13 3 0.6 0

Costs reimbursment1) 17 1 1 14 0

Provisions and other  
additional receipts 16 9

Total 368 285 226 217 9

*G.Ogris-Martič term of office until 30/11/2020

** E. Grill  term of office until 01/04/2020
1) Lunch reimbursement, accommodation & utility costs.
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Gross receipts of employees with individual employment contracts in 2021
thousand EUR

Employees with individual 
employment contracts

Gross receipts                           1,560

Total 1,560

40. Events after the 
balance sheet date

1.) On 2 February 2022, the National Assembly of the Repu-
blic of Slovenia passed a “Law on limitation and distribution 
of foreign exchange risk between creditors and borrowers 
concerning loan agreements in Swiss francs” (the »CHF 
Law«):

• The law entered into force on the 15th day following its 
publication in the Official Gazette of the Republic of Slo-
venia, i.e. on 26 February 2022.

• The CHF Law requires lenders to restructure consumer 
loans denominated in CHF or containing a currency cla-
use in CHF that were concluded between 28 June 2004 
and 31 December 2010. 

• Lenders are required to retroactively introduce an 
exchange rate cap clause in relation to all such loan agre-
ements concluded in the relevant period. 

• Such an exchange rate cap will be activated when the 
change in the exchange rate causes the actual credit 
balance to differ by more than 10% from the credit balan-
ce calculated based on the exchange rate applicable at 
the date of drawdown, Or the actual instalment to differ 
by more than 10% from the instalment calculated based 
on the exchange rate applicable at the date of drawdown.

• Any overpayment on such loans by borrowers, conside-
ring the exchange rate cap, shall be subject to default 
interest to be paid by the lender.

• Lenders are obliged to deliver new contractual documen-
tation and calculation to borrowers 60 days after the CHF 
Law comes into effect.

The bank is in the process of assessing the financial impact 
of the CHF Law. According to a preliminary assessment, and 
if the contemplated legal remedies fail, the bank expects a 
negative impact of around 3.4 percentage points on the 
total capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2022 com-
pared to 31 December 2021 (CAR ratio as at 31 December 
2021 was 18.73%, with the inclusion of the 2021 profit 19.75%), 
which is well above the regulatory required level (the mini-
mum regulatory requirement as at 31 December 2021 being 
14.20%).

The financial impact is still subject to further detailed 
analysis. 

Several provisions of the CHF Law raise concerns, among 
others, regarding their compliance with the Slovenian Con-
stitution and European rules, as it affects civil law contrac-
tual relationships retroactively. Also, several provisions are 
unclearly drafted and do not allow for a clear interpretation. 
In order to prevent the implementation of the potentially un-
constitutional CHF Law, the majority (9) of Slovenian banks, 
the bank included, within the Bank Association of Slovenia 
filed two separate petitions for the suspension and consti-
tutional review of the CHF Law. Both petitions were filed on 
the first business day following the day the CHF Law came 
into force, i.e. on 28 February 2022. The Bank of Slovenia, 
too, filed a petition for the constitutional review of the CHF 
law on 9 March 2022.  

On 14 March 2022, the Constitutional Court issued a unani-
mous decision on the suspension of the implementation of 
the CHF Law until its final decision on the constitutionality 
of the CHF Law.

As at year-end 2021, the bank had three management board 
members, six supervisory board members, and 22 employe-
es (positions at the first level below the management board) 

with individual employment contracts. The bank also had 
six procurators.
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The bank considers this event as a non-adjusting event 
after the reporting period.

2.) Due to the recent geopolitical situation concerning Ru-
ssia and Ukraine, Sberbank banka d.d. as a subsidiary of 
Sberbank Europe AG faced sanctions imposed by the Office 
of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC, US Treasury) on 24 Febru-
ary 2022.  
This caused a significant deterioration of customers' trust in 
the Sberbank group, resulting also in increased withdrawals 
and transfers of customers' assets.
The Single Resolution Board (SRB) determined on 27 Fe-
bruary 2022 that Sberbank Europe AG in Austria and its 
subsidiary in Slovenia (Sberbank banka d.d.) were failing or 
likely to fail due to a rapid deterioration in their liquidity situ-
ation, confirming the European Central Bank’s assessment. 
The SRB applied suspension of payments, enforcement and 
termination rights, known as a moratorium, to the bank. 

On 1 March 2022, the Bank of Slovenia adopted a resolution 
decision in respect of the sale of 100% of shares issued by 
Sberbank banka d.d. On the same day, the SRB decided 
to transfer all shares of the Slovenian subsidiary Sberbank 
banka d.d. to NLB d.d. 

On 2 March 2022, NLB acquired all the necessary approvals 
and immediately provided material liquidity support, thus 
taking away the uncertainty for Sberbank banka d.d. custo-
mers and strengthening the bank’s stability. 

Sberbank banka d.d. resumed operations after two days of 
closure, on 2 March 2022, continuing serving its clients. The 
changed ownership should cause no disruptions to deposi-
tors or clients. NLB is a well-established, robust and stable 
banking group. 

The remaining exposure of N banka d.d. (formerly Sber-
bank banka d.d.) to the Sberbank Group and Russian coun-
terparties accounts for around 1.5% of the bank’s total bank 
and non-bank loans, and could have an adverse impact on 
its capital adequacy ratio of up to 1.7% in the worst-case 
scenario.

The bank considers this event as a non-adjusting event 
after the reporting period and will remain a going concern 
institution.

3.) On 23 March 2022, N Banka d.d., Ljubljana received the 
Decision on the Preliminary Injunction of the District Court in 
Maribor (hereinafter: the Decision), by which court granted 
the creditor's proposal and secured the creditor's monetary 
claim in the amount of EUR 612,689.44 and ordered against 
the bank:
• attachment of a monetary claim in the bank's transaction 

account;
• pre-notation of a lien upon the debtor's immovable pro-

perty (owned by the bank);
• entry of a lien in the court register on the share of a com-

pany member in a company;
• attachment of movable property and the entry of atta-

chment in the register;
• entry of a lien in the central register of dematerialised 

securities on a dematerialised security. 
 
The Bank lodged an Objection against the Decision and 
proposed to the Court that it annul the Decision in its en-
tirety, suspend the preliminary injunction proceedings and 
annul the actions taken. The Bank further filed a motion to 
limit preliminary injunctions under the Decision, which are 
disproportionate, and the stated reasons for issuing the 
Resolution undoubtedly were not given at all as the Bank's 
proper stability had already been restored.
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F +386 (1) 23 49 392

Gosposka ulica 1
SI-1000 Ljubljana
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F +386 (1) 24 10 192

Kranj
Na skali 6
SI-4000 Kranj
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F +386 (5) 66 34 872
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F +386 (3) 42 87 818
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Tepanje
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